
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Development 
Control Board

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown

Councillor J Burrell
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor S R Jarnell

Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters

Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Thursday 14 February 2019 at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



INTRODUCTION
The function of the Development Control Board is to consider planning applications and also to take 
enforcement action against breaches of planning control and related matters.  

AGENDA LAYOUT
Reports on a planning application describes the application site, the proposed development, any 
relevant planning history, responses from those who have been consulted on the application along with 
any other comments received, and, lastly, a report on the main planning issues relevant to the 
application.  The reports also contain a recommendation to the Board Members, generally either for 
refusal or approval. The recommendation appears at the beginning and at the end of each report. There 
is a narrative by the Planning Officer of his/her consideration and the reason for refusal, or the 
conditions to be attached to an approval, are set out at the end of the report. 

UPDATE
The main agenda is printed some time before the Board meeting. The Update is a document which is 
prepared the day before the meeting and circulated to Members. It provides information about 
applications to be considered at the meeting which has emerged since the agenda was printed. This 
could include further comments from interested parties, recent changes to the application and 
amendments to the recommendation. Copies of the Update are made available to the public.

THE MEETING
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman sit on the dais at the front of the Council Chamber.  Planning Officers 
sit on their right and a legal representative and the Committee Co-ordinator usually sit on their left.  

The Chairman may take agenda items in an order which reflects the degree of public interest.   

The Chairman will propose each item and invite Members to indicate if they would like to discuss. If an 
item is not proposed for discussion, the Chairman will ask Members to vote in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. However, those items where a member of the public has registered to speak 
against the Officer recommendation will be discussed by the Board.  There will be no need for public 
speakers to address the Board if the speaker was going to support the Officer recommendation. 

For items for discussion, the Planning Officer will usually make a presentation, describing the proposal, 
outlining the main planning considerations and concluding with the recommendation.  Where a request 
to speak has been made by 12 noon on the designated date, and granted, the Chairman will invite 
speakers to sit in a designated area equipped with microphones. Where the Officer’s recommendation is 
to allow the application, the objectors will have the opportunity to speak first, followed by any supporter.  
The reverse order will apply in cases where the Officer’s recommendation is that the application be 
refused. Each speaker will be allowed three minutes to make their points.  

Members or Officers may clarify any points with the speaker(s) before Members consider the 
application. Thereafter, no public speaking will be allowed and the speaker(s) will be asked to return to 
the public gallery.

The Chairman has the discretion to curtail or extend speaking in individual cases if it is considered 
appropriate.

SITE MEETINGS
If it becomes apparent during the Board’s deliberations on an application that the Board cannot fully 
appreciate the impact of a proposal without seeing the site first, Members may decide to defer the 
application so that a site meeting can be held.  If agreed, the item will not be discussed further at this 
meeting. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

 AGENDA

Thursday 14 February 2019

Update

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 
January 2019 

(Pages 11 - 14)

4. References from other committees 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there 
are any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

6. 18/01176/FUL 
 North Kent College, Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent. 

(Pages 15 - 66)

Proposal
The demolition of existing buildings, conversion of Blocks K 
(Mansion House), R (The Lodge) and W (Rose Cottage) for 
residential use and the construction of new buildings to provide 
a total of 156 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), and 
provision of associated infrastructure including access roads, 
car parking and open space and landscaping.

Recommendation
Approval, subject to referral to the Secretary of State.

7. 18/01351/FUL 
 North Kent College, Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent. 

(Pages 67 - 82)

Proposal
The demolition of the existing buildings and erection of a college 
building comprising 2,836 square metres of educational floor 
space and the provision of associated infrastructure including 
drainage works, open space, fencing and landscaping.

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PETZ7GBQ00L00
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PGULJZBQMLX00


Recommendation
Approval

8. 18/01584/FUL
 UCC Coffee, Riverside Way, Dartford.  DA1 5BS 

(Pages 83 - 92)

Proposal
The erection of a detached demountable warehouse building for 
a temporary period until 31st December 2019 to replace a fire-
damaged building

Recommendation
Approval

9. 18/01367/OUT 
 Prospect Place, Shellbank Lane, Bean.  DA2 8AX 

(Pages 93 - 106)

Proposal
An outline application for the demolition of the existing dwelling 
and outbuildings, and the erection of two pairs of semi-detached 
dwellings (4 units in total) with associated parking and amenity 
space (consideration of access only).

Recommendation
Approval

10. 18/01288/FUL 
 Mill House, Priory Road , Dartford, Kent. 

(Pages 107 - 118)

Proposal
The replacement of an existing pitched roof with a mansard roof 
to provide 2 self-contained 2-bed apartments within the roof 
space at second storey level and the  reconfiguration of the 
existing curtilage and parking area to provide amenity space, bin 
store, cycle store and 3 additional car parking spaces.

Recommendation
Approval

11. 18/00927/FUL 
 The Willows, 1B Faesten Way, Bexley, Kent.  DA5 2JB 

(Pages 119 - 130)

Proposal
The demolition of an existing detached double garage and the 
construction of a proposed two storey, three bedroom detached 
dwelling, with detached garage.

Recommendation
Approval

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PJBAR7BQ00L00
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PH25RDBQFM300
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PG31WWBQK0900
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PC487DBQKUN00


12. 18/01548/COU  
 Holy Trinity Church, High Street Dartford, Kent.  DA1 1DE 

(Pages 131 - 140)

Proposal
The change of use of 43m2 of land as play space to rear of 
church and erection of timber fence (retrospective application)

Recommendation
Refusal

13. 18/01549/LBC  
 Holy Trinity Church, High Street Dartford, Kent.  DA1 1DE 

(Pages 141 - 146)

Proposal
An application for Listed Building Consent for the change of use 
of 43m2 of land as play space to rear of church and the erection 
of a timber fence (retrospective application).

Recommendation
Refusal

14. 18/01404/FUL 
 172 Birchwood Road, Wilmington, Kent. 

(Pages 147 - 152)

Proposal
The erection of 3 boundary walls comprising brick piers, infill 
metal railings, and close boarded fence panels, and the re-
positioning of an existing vehicle crossover (retrospective 
application).

Recommendation.
Approval

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION IN PUBLIC

15. Development Control Quarterly Performance (Pages 153 - 160)

16. Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers (Pages 161 - 176)

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PIWZBLBQLTK00
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PIWZBNBQLTL00
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PHIKMTBQ09D00




UPDATE
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14th February 2019

Item 6 Land at North Kent College, Oakfield Lane 18/01176/FUL

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

Since the report was written an additional four letters of support have been received in 
relation to this application which raise the following issues: 

- The college provides invaluable educational courses and apprenticeships, which 
provide important further education alternatives from traditional academia. 

- North Kent College provides a major contribution to education in Dartford and helps 
the local economy.

- The college provides invaluable educational courses and apprenticeships, which 
provide important further education alternatives from traditional academia.

- The implementation of the proposed housing development would provide the only 
source of money to allow North Kent College to significantly improve teaching 
facilities at the college. Thus, strengthening the future role of the college in the future 
and allowing them to continue to help the lives of children. 

- The improved new facilities at the college in application reference 18/01351/FUL 
would provide unique Very Special Circumstances for allowing the proposed housing 
development in this application.

- The application would secure the retention / protection of the world famous Bergman 
Osterberg archive collection.

- The proposal would result in the sensitive repair and preservation of Kingsfield 
House, The Lodge and Rose Cottage, which are tangible remains of the nationally 
and internationally famous Physical Education College for women, which pioneered 
the game of netball and established a system for training young women as teachers 
of physical education.

- The preservation and restoration of Kingsfield House is fo the utmost importance, 
and it is great that Kingsfield House is being fully restored with its attractive façade 
maintained.

A petition has also been submitted which has a 122 signatures in support of the proposal on 
the grounds that the proposed residential development would deliver the funds to provide the 
necessary educational building at the college. The petition states that as there are no other 
sources of funding available to the college, the funding provision for the college that would 
be provided by the sale of the application site should be considered to be ‘very special 
circumstances’ for allowing the residential development in the Green Belt. The petition 
highlights that North Kent College contributes greatly to the local community, providing 
sporting facilities for the public and up to 40 local groups to use and provides courses and 
apprenticeships for many local people. The petition also supports the education building.



CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Since the report was written additional consultation responses have been received from 
Historic England and KCC Minerals and Waste, neither of whom wish to make any 
comments in relation to the application. 

COMMENT

With regard to the additional letters of support for the proposal, I consider that the matters 
raised are already addressed in the report before Members. 

KCC contributions

KCC Community Services requested in their consultation response a £7,353.84 contribution 
towards a health and social care hub in Dartford. The Board report stated that KCC 
Community Services advised that all the ‘social care’ financial requirements from the 
proposal could be dealt with via Community Infrastructure Levy contributions. However, this 
is not correct, whilst NHS medical care provisions are included as a CIL project, CIL does 
not cover funding for KCC social care provision, therefore, such a contribution would have to 
be secured by way of a s106 obligation.  Paragraph 89 of the agenda report highlights that 
CIL from this development would help fund a health and wellbeing hub in the town centre, 
the social care contribution requested by KCC Community Services is to support services 
that they intend to provide through the health hub. However, I am advised that KCC 
Community Services have not to date been involved in discussions relating to the said health 
and wellbeing hub, and the issue of providing social care at the said hub has not been 
formally raised. I also have concerns that this contributions may not meet the requirements 
of the CIL regulations as more than 5 developments are likely to be needed to fund such a 
provision via s106. Furthermore, the enabling case and assessment of the costs and values 
of the proposed education development already indicates that the value of the residential 
development is less than the educational building proposed I do not consider it appropriate 
or viable to add more costs on the development. 

Ecology

The agenda report (para 116) advises that the detailed bat survey results were requested by 
KCC ecology so that they could advise on the detailed mitigation required. This information 
has not been able to be fully assessed yet but I am satisfied that as the 3 trees with potential 
for bat roosting (e.g. Holes and ivy covering) have been identified a condition preventing any 
work to the trees prior to the provision of detailed bat surveys can ensure if necessary there 
is adequate mitigation. Condition 9 within the report covers this issue already, and prevents 
work until the bat mitigation strategy with regard to the trees is agreed.

CONDITIONS

Recent legislation now requires the Council to seek approval from applicants with regard to 
pre-commencement conditions prior to a decision being made. The applicant has had an 
opportunity to consider the proposed conditions and has request some minor changes to 
ensure that the conditions work appropriately with the phasing of work, in particular allow the 
removal of the existing buildings on the site.



In relation to condition 6 the applicant requested the condition be revised to allow demolition 
and site preparation works to be carried out before the SUDS scheme for the site has been 
agreed. I consider this to be reasonable. I have also altered the condition to provide for an 
implementation schedule and potential phasing. 

With regard to condition 7, the applicant has already submitted an acceptable phase 1 and 2 
contaminated land assessment, which Environmental health have since confirmed. 
Therefore, this requirement should be removed from condition 7 and the condition should 
require a remediation strategy only.

In relation to condition 8 the applicant requested the condition be revised to allow demolition 
to be carried out before a landscaping scheme and landscaping management plan for the 
site has been agreed. I consider it acceptable to allow certain demolition on site as long as it 
does involve ground clearance. 

The applicant has requested that the condition 26 be altered to allow surface water drainage 
verification reports to be provided for individual phases of the development. I consider that 
the proposed alteration to the condition is acceptable as this relates to verification of 
installed surface water provision.

The applicant has suggested that the internal water rates can be agreed via the Building 
Regulations. But the internal water usage rates of not more than 110 litres per person per 
day as required in Policy DP11, can only be enforced by Building Regulations if a Planning 
Condition has required the evidence to be provided. I have suggested a revised condition 
however, to simply seek compliance.

Finally, the applicant has requested that the car parking provision be phased to allow for 
individual homes to be occupied once they have been provided with the relevant approved 
parking. I consider this is appropriate and have amended the condition to ensure this. 

RECOMMENDATION

The recommendation in the main report remains unchanged but the following conditions are 
substituted for those in the report (the reasons for the conditions remain unchanged):

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: 

1321-D-1100 (Revision B); 1321-D-1200 (Revision B); 1321-D-1201 (Revision H); 1321-D-
1202 (Revision D); 1321-D-1203 (Revision B); 1321-D-1204 (Revision C); 1321-D-1205 
(Revision B); 1321-D-1206; 1321-D-1300 (Revision H); 1321-D-1304 (Revision B); 1321-D-
1305 (Revision B); 1321-D-1350 (Revision A); 1321-D-1351; 1321-D-1352 (Revision A); 
1321-D-1353 (Revision A); 1321-D-1354; 1321-D-1355 (Revision A); 1321-D-1356 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1357; 1321-D-1358; 1321-D-1359; 1321-C-1360; 1321-C-1361; 1321-D-1410 
(Revision B); 1321-D-1411 (Revision B); 1321-D-1412 (Revision B); 1321-D-1413 (Revision 
B); 1321-D-1414 (Revision B); 1321-D-1415 (Revision B); 1321-D-1420 (Revision B); 1321-
D-1421 (Revision B); 1321-D-1422 (Revision B); 1321-D-1423 (Revision B); 1321-D-1424 
(Revision B); 1321-D-1425 (Revision B); 1321-D-1462 (Revision A); 1321-D-1463 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1472 (Revision A); 1321-D-1473 (Revision B); 1321-D-1500; 1321-D-1501 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1502; 1321-D-1503; 1321-D-1504; 1321-D-1505; 1321-D-1506; 1321-
D-1507; 1321-D-1508 (Revision A); 1321-D-1509 (Revision A); 1321-D-1510; 1321-D-1511; 
1321-D-1512; 1321-D-1513; 1322-D-1514 (Revision A); 1321-D-1515 (Revision A); 1321-D-



1516  (Revision A); 1321-D-1517 (Revision A); 1321-D-1518 (Revision A); 1321-D-1519 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1520 (Revision A); 1321-D -1521 (Revision A); 1321-D-1522 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1523 (Revision A); 1321-D-1524 (Revision A); 1321-D-1525 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1526; 1321-D-1527; 1321-D-1528; 1322-D-1529; 1321-D-1561; 1322-D-1562 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1600; 1321-D-1601 (Revision A); 1321-D-1602 (Revision A); 1321-D-
1603 (Revision A); 1321-D-1604 (Revision A); 1321-D-1605 (Revision A); 1321-D-1606 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1607 (Revision A); 1321-D-1608 (Revision A); 1321-D-1609 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1613 (Revision A); 1321-D-1611 (Revision E); 1321-D-1612 (Revision D); 1321-
D-1700 (Revision A); 1322-D-1701 (Revision A); 1321-D-1702 (Revision A); 1321-D-1703 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1704 (Revision A); 1321-D-1705 (Revision A); 1321-D-1706 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1707 (Revision A); 1321-D-1708 (Revision A); 1321-D-1709 (Revision A); 1321-
D-1710 (Revision A); 1321-D-1711 (Revision A); 1321-D-1712 (Revision A); 1322-D-1713 
(Revision A); 1322-D-1723 (Revision A); 1321-D-1714 (Revision A); 1321-D-1715 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1716 (Revision A); 1321-D-1717 (Revision A); 1321-D-1718 (Revision A); 1321-
D-1719 (Revision A); 1321-D-1720 (Revision A); 1321-D-1721 (Revision A); 1321-D-1722 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1723; 1321-D-1730 (Revision A); 1321-D-1731 (Revision A); 1321-D-
1732 (Revision A); 1321-D-1750 (Revision A); 1321-D-1751 (Revision B);  1321-D-1752; 
1321-D-1753;  1321-D-1754; 1321-D-1755; 1321-D-1756; 1321-D-1770 (Revision A); 1321-
D-1771; 1322-D-1772; 1321-D-1801; 1321-D-1802 (Revision A); 1321-D-1803; 1321-D-1804 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1805 (Revision A); 1321-D-1806 (Revision A); 1321-D-1807 (Revision 
A); 1321-D-1808 (Revision B); 1321-D-1809 (Revision A); 1321-D-1810 (Revision A); 1321-
D-1811 (Revision B); 1321-D-1812); 1321-D-1813 (Revision A); 1321-D-1814 (Revision A); 
1321-D-1815 (Revision B); 1321-D-1816 (Revision C); 1321-D-1817; 1321-D-1818; 1321-D-
1850 (Revision A); 1321-D-1851 (Revision B); 1321-D-1852 (Revision B); 1321-D-1853 
(Revision A); 1321-D-1861 (Revision A); 1321-D-1871 (Revision B); Hodkinson / Bellway 
Homes Ltd Energy & Sustainability Statement (dated 20th August 2018); Bellway Homes Ltd 
/ Mayer Brown Travel Plan (August 2018); Bellway Homes Ltd / SJA trees Arboricultural 
Planning Consultants Arboricultural Implications Report (Ref – SJA air 17040-02b / August 
2018); Bellway Homes Ltd / AAE Environmental Ltd Ecological Report (August 2018); 
Bellway Homes Ltd / Mayer Brown Noise Assessment (August 2018); Bellway Homes Ltd / 
Mayer Brown Response To Noise Impact Queries Technical Note (received 21st January 
2019); Bellway Homes Ltd / Savills Historic Landscape Assessment (ref – MQRU1052075 / 
August 2018); Bellway Homes Ltd / Savills Heritage Statement (August 2018); Bellway 
Homes Ltd / CgMs Heritage Archaeological Desk Based Assessment (August 2018); 
Bellway Homes Ltd / Mayer Brown Off Site Mitigation Works Technical Note (received 21st 
January 2019)/ Bellway Homes Ltd / idom merebrook Geo Environmental Assessment (August 
2018)

. 

06 Groundworks (excluding demolition and site preparation works) for the new 
development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, to include an implementation schedule, has been submitted to (and approved in 
writing by) the local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that 
the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up 
to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated 
and disposed of within the curtilage of the site without increase to flood risk on or off-site. 
The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from the site 
use and construction can be adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to 
receiving waters. The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 



approved details which may include phasing prior to first occupation of the development (or 
within an agreed implementation schedule).

07 Before commencement of any building operations on site, a contaminated land 
remediation methodology shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been 
identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate 
remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any remediation details shall 
be implemented as approved.  

08 Prior to commencement of any construction or site clearance works (excluding any 
demolition which wouldn’t result in site clearance works) a landscaping scheme of hard and 
soft landscaping and a landscape management plan, shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

- Details of soft landscaping
- The landscaping scheme shall be designed to provide appropriate habitats and 

movement corridors for amphibians, reptiles, birds, and invertebrates and forage 
opportunities for bats;  

- Details shall be included of the soil substrate of the areas to be landscaped;  
- Details shall include arboricultural management proposals for the existing trees to be 

retained; replacement tree planting and under-storey planting of the retained 
landscaped areas;

- The landscape management plans should include long-term design objectives; long –
term management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped 
areas and habitat; 

- The relationship of the development to the Public Right of Way; 
- Details of hard landscaping, footpaths and street furniture and exercise / play 

equipment.
- Phasing and implementation programme

The landscaping shall be implemented in accordance with the approved programme and 
shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  Such 
landscaping shall thereafter be retained for a period of five years. Any trees, shrubs or 
grassed areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within this 
period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants of similar species and 
size to that approved.

26 No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the 
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining to the 
surface water drainage system for that phase, carried out by a suitably qualified 
professional, has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the 
suitable operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately managed, as 
approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain information and 
evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets and 
control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction including 
subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and topographical 
survey of ‘as constructed’ features.



36 Before occupation the new build dwellings shall comply with regulation 36 (2) of the 
Building Regulations:  measures to achieve internal water usage rates of not more than 110 
litres per person per day. Evidence of compliance shall be notified to the building control 
body appointed for the development in the appropriate Full Plans application or Building 
Notice to enable the building control body to check compliance.

41 The garages, car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the 
approved plans shall be provided prior to occupation of the dwelling they serve in 
accordance with the details hereby approved, those spaces shown to be unallocated or for 
visitor use shall not be conveyed to individual property owners. All parking and garaging  
shall be kept available for such use at all times and no development, whether permitted by 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall 
be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

Item 7 North Kent College, Oakfield Lane 18/01351/FUL

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

1 further letter of support for the proposal has been submitted and the petition with 122 
signatures noted with regard to item 6 above 18/01176/FUL also supports the education 
building proposed.

REFERRAL TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE

The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 requires local 
planning authorities in England to consult the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission for development which includes inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
where the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the 
development is 1,000 square metres or more.  As the proposal for the education building has 
been assessed by officers as being inappropriate development and is over 1,000 square 
meters this application falls to be considered under the above direction. I therefore suggest 
that the recommendation be amended to include the consultation of the Secretary of State 
should Members be minded to approve planning permission. 

CONDITIONS

The applicant has had an opportunity to consider the proposed conditions and has highlighted 
some concerns with a small number of them.  Following discussions with the applicant, I 
propose the following alterations. 

In relation to condition 3 the applicant has requested the condition be revised to allow the 
existing temporary porta cabin building on the site of the proposed educational building (known 
as block T), to be demolished and removed before a programme of building recording has 
been implemented in accordance with details previously agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority. I do not consider that the said relatively modern porta cabin building would contain 



any historic interest and therefore I consider this slight alteration to this condition to be 
reasonable. 

With regard to condition 5, the applicant have already submitted a phase 1 and 2 contaminated 
land assessment which Environmental Health have now confirmed is acceptable. Therefore, 
the requirement for a formal site investigation should be removed from condition 5. The 
proposal would still require a contaminated land remediation methodology to be approved by 
the Council and so I have amended the condition to address this. 

RECOMMENDATION

Planning permission be granted for the reasons set out in the report subject to:

- The reasons set out in the main agenda report and subject to the conditions set 
out in the agenda report as amended by the conditions set out below. 

- A s106 legal agreement being completed within 3 months of the date of this 
meeting in accordance with the heads of terms set out in paragraph 68 of the 
report. 

- Consultation with the Secretary of State and subject to the Council being notified 
that the application will not be called in or the application not being called in and 
the expiration of 21 days from the Secretary of State's receipt of the referral 
documents. 

Amended conditions:

03 No development, including demolition works (with the exception of the existing on site 
porta cabin building – known as block T), shall take place until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
building recording in accordance with a written specification and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be 
implemented as approved.

05 Before commencement of any building operations on site, a contaminated land 
remediation methodology shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously 
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any 
remediation details shall be implemented as approved.  

Item 8 UCC Coffee, Riverside Way 18/01584/FUL

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(15): A consultation response has been received from the Environment Agency stating that 
they have no objection to the proposals but advise that the occupants register with the 
Environment Agency’s ‘Flood Line’ service.



(17): A consultation response has been received from Environmental Health officers raising 
no objection to the proposals provided that there is a condition preventing any external plant, 
vents or louvres from being installed on the building without planning permission.    

RECOMMENDATION

That the recommendation remain as set out in the main agenda but that the following 
informative is added:

02. The occupants are advised to register with the Environment Agency’s ‘Flood Line’ 
service. This can be done by calling 0345 988 1188 to register.

Item 9 Prospect Place, Shellbank Lane 18/01176/FUL

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

Bean Residents Association have submitted a further letter which notes that properties to the 
north and west are bungalows. They reiterate concerns that a two-storey development would 
be out of scale with the existing homes. They consider that land should be require to provide 
a footway and widening of the carriageway.  

Item 11 The Willows, 1B Faesten Way 18/00927/FUL

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The detached garage which was proposed has now been removed from the proposal and as 
such the correct description is as follows: 

The demolition of an existing detached double garage and the construction of a 
proposed two-storey three bedroom detached dwelling

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

Two neighbouring properties to the north on Tile Kiln Lane have submitted additional 
comments. Some of their comments reiterate their concerns raised during the initial 
neighbour consultation period and reported in the main agenda report. 

The additional issues raised relate to:

- The fact that the area is no longer an Area of Special Residential Character 
- The rural and special character that the neighbour considers the area has
- The report’s statement that ‘the principle of infill developments has been established’
- The size of No.1B Faesten Way’s garden 
- Protected trees that have disappeared



- Sewerage and drain capacity concerns (not a material planning consideration)

COMMENTS

In relation to the area’s designation as an Area of Special Residential Character (ASRC) this 
was not carried forward as part of the Development Policies Plan which came into force in 
July 2017 and I note that no consultation responses were received on ASRCs during the 
Issues and Options Consultation on the Local Plan in Dec 2014 to Jan 2015. The application 
site therefore no longer falls within an Area of Special Residential Character. The status of 
the area as an ASRC is not relevant to this application and I can only consider the 
established character of the area at the time the application was made. It is not disputed that 
the area continues to have its own character and I have assessed the established character 
of the area and the relationship of the new dwelling in the agenda report.

Having reviewed aerial mapping once more it does appear that the dwelling on the 
application site, (number 1B) has been in situ since at least the 1940s. The reference to the 
site itself being an infill was reported in error. However, it is still considered that the dwelling 
and its neighbour 1A Faesten Way have an atypical relationship with the highway in that 
their side elevations face the main road. Also, the principle of infill developments has been 
established, not just in the 1980s as mentioned in the neighbour’s comments, but there have 
been infill developments which have taken place nearby in the early 2000s. 

A neighbour has also referenced the report’s statement that that garden of No.1B Faesten 
Way is notably larger than others in the surrounding area. Aerial mapping illustrates that this 
is the case. I would clarify that the reference to the size of the garden is not just the fact that 
it is quite large but also to its siting to the side of the dwelling. It is not thought that similar 
developments as this could be easily replicated as a large side garden is not a common 
feature nearby. Some properties in the area have large gardens however these are mostly 
found to the rear and not positioned to the side as is the case with this site. 

I consider that the report has assessed the impact on the protected trees and fully 
considered the tree situation on site.

Some neighbours have raised concerns in relation to sewerage issues. These neighbours 
have been informed via email that Thames Water have responsibility for ensuring that 
adequate drainage is provided to new developments and if planning permission is granted 
the developer will need to contact Thames Water to ensure this. I note that Thames Water 
have been consulted and raise no objection. This is not a material planning consideration 
therefore.

Item 13 Holy Trinity Church, High Street 18/01549/LBC

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

A further letter of objection has been received from a neighbouring resident, residing at 
Bullace Mews, which raises concerns about the extended play space created below the 



neighbour’s bedroom window. The neighbour states that when they agreed to purchase this 
property last year they were not informed that there was going to be a playground right next 
to their house. The neighbour comments that the development is resulting in noise and 
disturbance. The neighbour also comments that parents standing outside have full view of 
the neighbour’s room, affecting privacy.  The neighbour requests that the gate is removed, 
as well as the bunting which ‘flaps loudly’ in the wind.

These issues are addressed in the main agenda report



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Development Control Board held on Thursday 17 
January 2019 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt JP (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

79. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Burrell, 
Jarnell, Maddison and Reynolds.

The Board noted the appointment of Councillor Garden as a substitute for 
Councillor Jarnell.

80. FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE AND THE ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONSTRAINTS RELATING TO FILMING OR RECORDING OF THE 
MEETING. 

The Clerk to the Board explained the fire evacuation procedure and the 
arrangements and constraints relating to the filming or recording of the 
Meeting.

81. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

82. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13 
DECEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Development Control Board held on 13 December 
2018 be confirmed as a correct record of that meeting.

83. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 17 JANUARY 2019

2

It was reported that there were no matters referred for the Board to consider.

84. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman reported that there were no urgent issues for the Board to 
consider.

85. 18/01002/OUT
 THE ALMA, 26 HIGH STREET, SWANSCOMBE, KENT, DA10 0AB 

The Board received a report on an outline application - for the consideration of 
the access, appearance, layout, and scale only – relating to the erection of a 
three storey building and basement to be used as a 13 bedroomed House in 
Multiple Occupation, together with communal facilities and bicycle store.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated.

The Chairman introduced Mr Kingsley Hughes who spoke in favour of the 
Application. 

Members discussed the Application and the visit to the site which had taken 
place.

RESOLVED

That the Application be approved for the reasons set out in the report, subject 
to the

1. Conditions, Reasons and Informatives set out in the report; and, 

2. The amended and additional Conditions, Reasons and Informatives set 
out in the Update circulated

86. 18/01371/TPO 
 3 ST PAULS CLOSE, SWANSCOMBE, KENT, DA10 OBA. 

The Board received a report on an application to fell a Lime tree which was 
the subject of Tree Preservation Order 3 1991.

The Chairman introduced Mr Dacey who spoke against the Officer 
recommendation to refuse the Application.

RESOLVED

That the application be refused for the reasons set out in the report.

87. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Members received, for information, a report on the decisions taken under 
delegated powers for the period 30 November 2018 to 3 January 2019.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 17 JANUARY 2019

3

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.07 pm

Councillor D E HUNNISETT
CHAIRMAN





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01176/FUL Officer: Sonia Bunn/Matthew Apperley

Location: North Kent College
Oakfield Lane
Dartford
Kent
DA1 2JT

Proposal: Demolition of existing buildings, conversion of Blocks K (Mansion House), R 
(The Lodge) and W (Rose Cottage) for residential use and construction of new 
buildings to provide a total of 156 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), and 
provision of associated infrastructure including access roads, car parking and 
open space and landscaping

Applicant: Bellway Homes Ltd

Agent: Savills/Mr B Thomas

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Princes

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval subject to consultation with the Secretary of State and the completion of a S106 
agreement.

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application site comprises the western section of the North Kent College Dartford 
campus, having an area of approximately 4.3 hectares. Located to the north of Oakfield Lane, 
the site is bounded to the south-west by the A2 which is situated in cutting. Dartford Golf Club 
bounds the north-western edge of the application site.  The site is located approximately 1.43 
km to the south west of Dartford town centre, and lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt. The 
southern side of Oakfield Lane facing onto the application site are residential dwellings. To the 
south of the A2 is open heathland and the continuation of residential development along 
Oakfield Lane forming Wilmington.

(2) The site is accessed from an existing vehicular access serving the car park and nursery 
in the south-west of the site. The site is occupied by a number of buildings, many of which have 
previously been used for teaching or college facilities but have been vacant for some time. I 
have set out the labels below given to them by the College:

Block R (The Lodge); small two-storey building used as security office

Former Nursery- small single storey building (the use has been relocated)

Block K (Kingsfield House) - 18th Century building used by Madame Osterberg and now in a 
dilapidated condition

Block KE: 4 storey extension to Kingsfield House: built as student accommodation early in the 
20th century and unsuitable for teaching or office so is predominantly vacant - part of the ground 
floor is used as the refectory.

Block P: 3 storey extension to Block KE provides some teaching accommodation but poor 
disabled access.



Block L- two storey extension to Kingsfield House, now vacant

Block C- single storey extension to Kingsfield House which still houses the refectory and 
teaching space but North Kent College advise is in a poor condition and has poor disabled 
access.

Block D - eight storey former accommodation building but is now vacant.

Block W (Rose Cottage) -small two storey cottage used for administrative functions

Block G garages - used for storage purposes together with a hardstanding area used for open 
storage.

The site also includes areas of hard standing used for car parking in its southern and northern 
corners.

(3) The western part of the site is still open land comprising an unused cricket pitch with a 
mixture of grassland and wooded areas around its edges. There are a number of mature trees 
located throughout the application site, some of them in amongst and in close proximity to the 
building and others along the boundaries of the site. 

(4) To the east of the site is the remainder of the North Kent College (NKC) campus which 
contains a variety of educational and ancillary buildings which range in height from single storey 
buildings to large three and a half storey high buildings. These buildings are interspersed with 
landscaping and hard surfacing including roads and car parking, with the main car parks being 
located to the east of the college buildings. In the northern section of the campus site is a large 
hard surfaced area which used to accommodate temporary mobile units, which is the site of the 
proposed college building being considered under application reference 18/01351/FUL. The 
eastern section of the campus site contains some wooded areas and large playing fields, which 
provide a variety of sports pitches.  

(5) Public Right of Way DB27 runs along the southern, western and northern boundaries 
of the site. It runs from Oakfield Lane around the edge of the site and emerges on Maple Road.

(6) An Area Tree Preservation Order was served on the North Kent College site in January 
2018. (Tree Preservation No. 5 2017)

PROPOSAL

(7) The proposal is for the demolition of all the buildings on the site (with the exception of 
Kingsfield House, The Lodge and Rose Cottage) and the creation of 156 new homes through 
new build and conversion. The application is submitted as enabling development to fund new 
up-to-date accommodation on the remaining education campus. (The proposed new education 
building is also reported on this agenda under reference 18/01351/FUL). The proposal also 
includes the provision of open space and landscaping. The access to the site would remain in 
its existing location but will be improved through the provision of a pedestrian footway and will 
serve the residential site only (2 access further east will remain to serve the education campus 
as existing).  An emergency vehicular access is to be provided further to the west along Oakfield 
Lane and this will provide an additional pedestrian route into the site.  The application site will 
be separated from the education campus by way of a secure boundary, a 2.4m fence.

(8) The first phase of the proposal would involve the demolition of a number of vacant and 
derelict buildings on the application site, including the removal of the eight storey high tower 
block (block D), the removal of the poor quality refectory and teaching building ) to the north of 
Kingsfield Mansion (block C), and the removal of the single storey nursery buildings in the south 
of the site (block L) and the single storey block of garages and various dilapidated single storey 
storage buildings in the north of the site (block G).  The proposal would also involve the 
demolition of extensions to Kingsfield Mansion, including the vacant two storey extension to the 
south east of the original mansion house (block L) and the large 4 storey extension to the east 



of the original mansion house (s block KE) which the applicant advises is unsuitable to provide 
the required teaching space due to its layout and structure. 

(9) The proposed new dwellings comprise:

- 65 new houses (comprising of 8 x 2 bed houses, 31 x 3 bed houses, 19 x 4 
bed houses and 7 x 5 bed houses);

- 56 new build 1 and 2 bed apartments spread across 7 x separate three-storey 
buildings in the south of the application site and a four-storey high apartment 
block located to the east of Kingsfield House (effectively replacing Block KE 
which the applicant advises is unsuitable for conversion;

- 5 flats over garages (FOGs);
- Conversion and repair of Kingsfield House to provided 28 x 1, 2 and 3 bed 

apartments.
- the conversion of The Lodge in the south eastern section of the site into a 3-

bedroom house
- the conversion of Rose Cottage in the north of the site into a 3 bed house

All of the new houses are proposed to be 2 -2.5 storeys in height and have pitched roof forms 
and gables. All the new houses, apartments and FOGs have been designed to meet Part M 
4(2) building regulations standards for accessible and adaptable dwellings.

(10) The proposed scheme has been designed around a central corridor of open green 
space that seeks to retain the parkland trees in this area that provides open vistas from Oakfield 
Lane in the south to the proposed houses in the northern part of the site. The open space 
provides public open space with a small area of play equipment and is located to retain the 
'parkland' setting for Kingsfield House. The proposal also includes additional pockets of public 
open space and landscaping throughout the site. The tree belts along the western and northern 
boundary are retained and trees along Oakfield lane are to be replaced with new trees. The 
scheme would also provide each house with private amenity space and the new apartments 
with private balconies / terraces.  

(11) A 4m high timber fence will be located in the western part of the site, set back from the 
boundary of the site behind existing trees and will also have a 3m high ivy screen in front of it. 
This is to provide a barrier to noise from the A2. 

(12) The Public Right of Way routing will be unaffected by the development, but the palisade 
fencing along the site boundary which encloses the footpath will be removed and landscaped 
areas will run to its edge.

(13) The application has been supported by detailed drawings and the following documents:

- Planning Statement
- Design and Access Statement
- Energy Strategy
- Flood Risk Assessment
- Heritage Assessment 
- Historic Landscape Assessment
- Geo-Environmental Assessment
- Archaeological Desk Based Assessment
- Pleistocene and Palaeolithic Assessment
- Pleistocene and Palaeolithic Test Pitting Report
- Written Scheme of Investigation for Pleistocene and Palaeolithic Test Pitting
- Internal Daylight Report
- Landscape and Visual Appraisal
- Noise Assessment
- Response to Noise Impact Queries Technical Note
- Air Quality Assessment
- Arboricultural Implications Report
- Ecological Report
- Transport Assessment



- Offsite Mitigation Works Technical Note
- Traffic Distribution Assessment Technical Note
- Travel Plan
- Utilities Statement
- Statement of Community Engagement
- Enabling Case Statement

RELEVANT HISTORY

(14) Kingsfield House is a Victorian mansion house built in 1859, in an Italianate-style, that 
was converted into the Bergman-Österberg Physical Training College by Martina Bergman-
Österberg in 1895. Kingsfield House has been subject to several extensions over the years.

(15) North West College moved to this campus after it was vacated by the University of 
Greenwich. 

(16) 06/01392/FUL - Reorganisation of existing Block H to provide a replacement 
performing arts facility including the replacement of existing front entrance canopy, erection of 
canopy to side and rear, erection of side extension to provide scene dock and other alterations 
including external staircases, the provision of new finishing materials and landscaping

(17) 07/00947/OUT Outline application for the demolition of existing buildings except Block 
K and redevelopment of site to provide teaching and associated administration accommodation, 
a replacement theatre and sports facilities, revised car parking, landscaping and temporary 
teaching accommodation North West Kent College. Granted in November 2007, this permission 
was renewed under reference 10/01177/OUT in December 2010. This permission was only 
part-implemented. Two of the five buildings permitted were built (Block B Reception and Block 
S Sports Centre) and Block H was refurbished to house the Miskin theatre.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

(18) Environmental Health: Advise that following further clarification they are satisfied with 
the air quality assessment that demonstrates that the proposed development will not result in 
the exposure of new residential dwellings to levels of unsatisfactory air quality. The assessment 
states that as the proposed development is unlikely to result in any significant pollution effect it 
is not anticipated that mitigation measures will be required. However environmental heath 
consider that mitigation should be provided to mitigate the impact of the additional vehicles 
generated by the development. Having reviewed the acoustic assessment and revised 
technical note, they confirm that they are satisfied that the majority of amenity space provided 
is compliant with the requirements of BS8233:2014 'Guidance on sound insulation and noise 
reduction for buildings', with the exception of the balconies on Block C, which have significant 
noise exposure from the A2. They confirm that have no other concerns regarding noise 
exposure either externally or internally. This advice is based on the mitigation set out in the 
proposal being provided as set out in the report, primarily the noise barrier. EH also confirm 
that they are satisfied with the findings of the Geo-Environmental assessment but advise that if 
Members are minded to approve this application a condition is imposed requiring a detailed 
remediation strategy be submitted for approval in writing and a further condition requiring the 
submission of a validation report, on completion of all remedial works and soil importation, to 
be approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to first habitation of any dwelling.

(19) Kent Highway Services: Advise that they have no objections following amendments to 
the scheme by the applicant to include the addition of speed tables, increasing the width of 
parking bays adjacent to soft landscaped areas and their agreement to pay for junction 
improvement works at the junction of Princes Road and Lowfield Street which will address the 
impact of the additional traffic generated by the development on this junction. They consider 
the proposal acceptable subject to the above mentioned mitigation measures and the 
imposition of conditions relating to the implementation of accesses, visibility splays, a 
construction management plan, cycle storage and the submission of a travel plan / welcome 
pack to be provided for future residents. They note that the applicant has confirmed that the 
internal layout will remain in private ownership and will not be offered to the highway authority 



for adoption. An independent Stage One Road Safety Audit has been submitted as part of this 
application and they are satisfied that the review does not raise any highway safety issues, with 
the proposed site access on to the publicly maintainable highway of Oakfield Lane. The 
proposed emergency access onto Oakfield Lane has been deemed acceptable by Kent Fire 
and Rescue.

(20) Highways England: No objections as the potential impact from the proposal on the 
strategic road network, particularly the A2 junction would be negligible. 

(21) Thames Water: Advise that with regard to sewerage infrastructure capacity, they would 
not have any objection to the above planning application. On the basis of information provided, 
Thames Water state that with regard to water infrastructure capacity, they would not have any 
objection to the above planning application. They suggest adding informatives upon any 
permission relating to obtaining a groundwater risk management permit and relating to water 
pressure for the future dwellings. 

(22) Environment Agency: Advise that the site is located on a principle aquifer overlain by a 
secondary aquifer and is in a Source protection Zone (SPZ 2). Therefore, in order to ensure 
that the proposal would not result in any contamination, they request that conditions relating to 
contamination, surface water infiltration and piling / penetrative foundation designs, are 
imposed upon any permission. 

(23) KCC SUDS: Advise that they consider the use of 2 deep bore soakaways is acceptable 
but they require more detailed assessment and therefore request the imposition of conditions 
upon any permission relating to the detailed design and maintenance of a sustainable surface 
water drainage scheme.  

(24) KCC Heritage: They state that on the basis of the submitted heritage assessment, they 
do not object to the proposal subject to the imposition of conditions upon any approval.  They 
advise that the site lies on deposits which have potential for early prehistoric remains, especially 
Palaeolithic artefacts and Palaeoenvironmental remains, particularly as the presence of the 
spring nearby could have been a focus for activity. They also note that there have been 
indications of Roman activity nearby. They stress that the historic sports college is potentially 
of national importance due to its influence with regard to women and sport and advise that 
mitigation measures should be proportionate to highlight the importance of this site.  With regard 
to historic landscape and heritage asset significance issues, they strongly recommend that the 
landscape design reflects as much of the Österberg heritage as possible, through layout and 
appearance of streets, embedded heritage, themed open spaces, public art, etc. They have 
suggested a condition with regard to heritage interpretation to inform these designs which 
should be bases on the results of field investigations. KCC Heritage require further investigation 
of the site and recommend conditions relating to documenting the buildings on site, 
geoarchaeological potential, archaeological evaluation works, and a programme of heritage 
interpretation be imposed upon any permission. 

(25) Kent Fire & Rescue Service: Confirm that the proposed means of access is considered 
satisfactory. 

(26) Kent Police: Do not object to the proposal, although they requested that the fences 
adjacent to the public right of way had the addition of trellises, which the applicant has amended 
the plans to show together with deterrent planting between the PROW and the fencing. Kent 
Police also suggest that windows and doors should meet certain levels of security. This is a 
matter for the developer to address but I have suggested an informative regarding their advice. 

(27) KCC Biodiversity: Following the initial ecology report, further bat surveys were 
undertaken. KCC advise that Kingsfield House is a bat roost and therefore the Council need to 
consider whether a European Protected Species Mitigation licence will be granted by Natural 
England. KCC recommend that the information provided demonstrates adequate mitigation can 
be provided. (This is discussed later in the report), In addition they note that the reports identify 
that there are certain trees on the site which have potential for moderate bat roosting and KCC 



recommend that further surveys are carried out with regard to emergence/return and foraging 
activity surveys. The detailed survey data has been requested from the applicant and I hope to 
be able to update Members in the update report with regard to KCC's detailed recommendation 
with regards to bats and the trees.  KCC advise that although the reptile survey undertaken did 
not record any reptile species and therefore indicates a likely absence of reptiles they consider 
that there is some potential for amphibian, small mammals and reptiles to be impacted during 
the removal of vegetation and suggest a condition requiring a method statement with regard to 
these species. They also recommend a condition to ensure that the landscaping is designed 
and maintained to ensure that it provides adequate mitigation for bio-diversity losses.

(28) Sport England: Object to the loss of a playing field / sports pitch which they consider 
has been used in the last 5 years. They do not consider that the proposals accord with any of 
the exceptions within Sport England Playing Fields Policy as it has not been demonstrated that 
the pitch is surplus to requirements; the land is not capable of not forming a sports pitch; it is 
not proposed to replace the lost playing field; and the proposal does not propose a new sporting 
facility to the benefit of the community which would outweigh the loss of the playing field. They 
consider that the areas of woodland and tree belts to be retained within the site maybe under 
more pressure as the areas may be used for recreation. They support the proposal for new 
planting within the site and recommend a condition requiring an Ecological Design Strategy to 
ensure the retention and provision of habitat and wildlife corridors. 

(29) Council Tree Consultant: The Council’s tree consultant has spent some time 
considering the detailed proposals and working with officers to ensure that the maximum 
number and the best trees are retained on the site. He is satisfied that the scheme retains a 
large number of the parkland and quality trees, although expresses regret that some oak trees 
in the northern group are being lost but acknowledges that this is a balanced consideration and 
that new trees are being replanted to replace these. 

(30) KCC Community Services: Advise that the proposal would have an impact on 
community services in the area. However, they consider that the impact on schools and social 
care (including health care provision) could be met with a financial contribution from the CIL 
payment. However, they also request a contribution of £5,923 towards community learning and 
additional IT equipment for the adult education centre and £7490 towards Dartford Library 
bookstock. They also request that developers ensure the new properties are provided with 
access to next generation broadband. 

(31) NHS Clinical Commissioning Group: They state that the proposed residential 
development would place increased pressures on the local health care provision but that they 
are working with the Council to bring forward a new health hub in the town centre and in the 
Greenhithe/Stone area to meet additional demand and would therefore seek the use of CIL 
contributions to support the needs arising from this development. 

(32) KCC Public Rights of Way: Advise that they welcome proposed new pedestrian links 
through the application site, as well as the opening up of and links to the public footpath (DB27) 
located along the western and northern boundaries of the site. However, they object to the 
boundary treatments of plots 74 - 84 being so close to the public footpath as they would 
detrimentally impact on the safety and character of the route. They recommend that this issue 
is addressed by the applicant. (the plans have been amended to address this). They also 
request natural surveillance of the path is maximised and highlight that the public footpath 
should not under any circumstances be blocked up. KCC Public Rights of Way are also seeking 
a financial contribution of £67,390 for necessary resurfacing works to the PROW as a 
consequence of the proposal. 

(33) Wilmington Parish Council: Object to the proposal on the following grounds:

- The proposal would be located on Green Belt the purpose of which is to check 
unrestricted sprawl of built up areas. 

- The proposal would result in the loss of Borough Open Space, sports pitches, 
amenity space and views across the site. 



- Green Belt land has already been lost due to school expansions in Wilmington. 

- The development will place additional pressure on local schools and GP 
surgeries which are already at capacity. 

- The disbenefits of this windfall development outweigh the potential benefits. 
- The 24% affordable housing contribution is below the 30% required by policy. 
- The proposal would place increased and unacceptable pressure on the local 

highway. 
- The Parish Council do not consider that the updating of school facilities to be 

a 'very special circumstance'. 

(34) Bergman Österberg Union (BOU): The BOU was founded by Madame Martina 
Bergman-Österberg for her ex-students. The college at Dartford was the first training college 
for female PE teachers. They advise that one of their main concerns has been to find a way to 
ensure that Madame Bergman-Österberg's mansion, Kingsfield, is preserved and cared for as 
it is not a in a state of disrepair and is deteriorating. They believe the conversion to residential 
is the only way to achieve that. They note that the proposed development respects the heritage 
and setting of the building and retains 'Madame's tree' the Cedar of Lebanon tree. The BOU 
recognise that the college need this project to provide up-to-date student accommodation. The 
BOU has been involved in consultations and have advised the developer of the history of the 
site. NK College has supported BOU by providing accommodation for the collection. The BOU 
advise that Green Belt much of this site is no longer in use and they consider it would be better 
used for something of more value to the college and the community. They give the proposal 
their full support.

REPRESENTATIONS 

(35) A total of 13 letters of objection and 1 letter of support have been received from 13 
addresses. The letters of objection raised in summary the following issues:

- Building on Green Belt land would be unacceptable, with no very special 
circumstances to justify the proposal. 

- The loss of protected (TPO'd) trees within the site would be unacceptable. 
- The proposal would change the character of the area. 
- The proposal would result in the loss of sports pitches and amenity space. 

Green Belt land has recently been lost in the expansion of the Wilmington 
Academy. 

- Local services such as schools and GP surgeries will not be able to cope with 
the additional demand. 

- The proposal would add to congestion in the area at peak periods, when there 
is a lot of traffic from college users, schools and commuters. 

- The suggested trip generation at peak periods is too low. 
- A form of 'filter' approach needs to adopted for the proposed access to ensure 

the free flow of traffic in Oakfield Lane. 
- Increased traffic would also create highway safety issues and increased 

pollution. 
- The proposal does not supply enough parking, which would lead to parking 

issues in the surrounding highway network. 
- Dartford's housing supply is already planned for and no additional housing is 

required. 
- The proposal would harm local wildlife on the site. 
- A smaller residential scheme would be more appropriate on this site. 
- There is insufficient affordable housing being provided. 
- The proposal would not provide the correct ratio of flats to houses. 
- Concerned about the potential congestion and disturbance that may occur as 

a result of construction works. 
- Converting Kingsfield House would provide enough funds for college 

improvements. 
- The impact on the surface water drainage of the adjacent Golf Course. 



- A new protective fence would need to be erected and maintained at the 
expense of the applicant, on parts of the boundary with the golf course to 
protect against golf balls harming property or future residents of the site. 

- Concern about trespass onto the golf course. 
The letter of support raised in summary the following issues:

- The proposal would result in the sensitive repair and preservation of key 
heritage assets (Kingsfield House, The Lodge and Rose Cottage) that are 
tangible remains of the nationally and internationally famous Physical 
Education College for women, which pioneered the game of netball and 
established a system for training young women as teachers of physical 
education. 

- The application would secure the retention / protection of the world famous 
Bergman Osterberg archive collection. 

- The implementation of this housing development would allow North Kent 
College to significantly improve teaching facilities at the college. Thus 
strengthening the future role of the college in the future. 

RELEVANT POLICIES 

(36) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(37) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy 2011

CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS10: Housing Provision
CS11: Housing Delivery
CS13: Green Belt
CS14: Green Space
CS15: Managing Transport Demand
CS17: Design of Homes
CS18: Housing Mix
CS19: Affordable Housing
CS21: Community Services
CS22: Sports, Recreation and Culture Facilities
CS23: Minimising Carbon Emissions
CS24: Flood Risk

(38) Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017

DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations
DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development
DP9: Local Housing Needs
DP12: Historic Environment Strategy and non-designated heritage assets
DP22: Green Belt in the Borough
DP24: Open Space
DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement

(39) Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2012)

(40) Housing Windfall Supplementary Planning Document (2014)

(41) The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a material consideration



(42) The application site is identified as being Green Belt and Borough Open Space.

COMMENT

Key Issues
(43) The key issues with respect to this proposal are the Green Belt policy considerations; 
the educational benefits of North Kent College and whether this can be considered enabling 
development; the transport impacts; the non-designated heritage assets on the site; the loss of 
open space formerly used as a cricket pitch; the impacts of unidentified (windfall) housing 
development in terms of impact on infrastructure and the sustainability of the site; the layout 
and design quality of the development; affordable housing provision; and the Public Right of 
Way.

Green Belt 

(44) The application site is located within the Green Belt, along with the rest of the college 
grounds. Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that the government 'attaches great importance to 
Green Belts' with the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy being to 'prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness 
and their permanence.' The NPPF states in paragraph 134 of the NPPF, that the Green Belt 
has five purposes:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other   
urban land. 

(45) The NPPF advise that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green 
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. The NPPF and Local 
Plan Policies CS13 and DP22 advise that the construction of new buildings should be regarded 
as inappropriate development. Policy DP22 advises that inappropriate development should be 
resisted in accordance with national policy. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF sets out exceptions to 
this, criteria (g) allows for the limited infilling or partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land but only where the proposal would not have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green belt than the existing development or would not cause substantial harm to the 
openness of the Green Belt, where the proposal would re-use previously developed land and 
contribute to an identified affordable housing need. Since the development is not for solely 
affordable housing the latter does not apply. 

(46) The definition of previously developed land (PDL) in the NPPF includes land which is 
occupied by a permanent structure including the curtilage of the developed land (although it 
advises that it should not be assumed the whole curtilage should be developed) and any 
associated fixed infrastructure. As the application sites falls within the curtilage of the North 
Kent College campus and is occupied partially by buildings, I consider that it does fall within the 
definition of previously developed land.  It therefore needs to be considered in terms of its 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt compared to the existing development.

(47) A significant proportion of the college grounds, including approximately 38% of the 
application site have buildings on them, plus there are extensive parking and areas of 
hardstanding which provide little contribution to the openness and quality of the Green Belt. 
The said buildings within the application site range from single storey buildings / extensions, 
such as block C, the nursery buildings and the garages, through to the four storey high 
Kingsfield House, and its large extension (shown as block KE), and culminating in the extremely 
large 8 storey high vacant tower block centrally located within the application site. Therefore, a 
significant proportion of the eastern section of the application site cannot be considered to be 
open. However, the majority of the remainder of the western and northern sections of the 
application site comprise of an open grass field and a variety of wooded areas, which create a 
'parkland' feel that contributes to the openness of the Green Belt. Although these areas are not 



obvious from the wider locality due to the significant vegetation screening around the site, I 
believe they play a role in protecting the openness of the Green Belt.  I do not consider therefore 
that the proposal would comply with the exception test relating to new buildings as set out in 
the NPPF, as the proposed scheme would extend further to the west and north than the current 
buildings on site and would thus have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than 
the existing development. 

(48) Paragraph 146 of the NPPF advises that certain other forms of development are also 
not considered inappropriate and this includes the re-use of buildings provided that the 
buildings are of a permanent and substantial construction. I consider therefore that the 
conversion of Kingsfield House, The Lodge and Rose Cottage fall within this exception and the 
re-use of these properties is not inappropriate development.

(49) However, given the amount of new buildings proposed I am satisfied that the proposal 
should be considered to be inappropriate development within the Green Belt.

(50) Paragraph 144 of the NPPF advises that when considering any planning application 
local planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt, and that 'very special circumstances' will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. 

(51) In order to assess the harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness I have considered 
the proposal against the five purposes of the Green Belt:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
the college campus is located on the edge of the urban Dartford area, and I 
consider that the open areas in the west and north of the application site fulfil 
the Green Belt purpose of checking the unrestricted sprawl of built up areas 
although I note that the A2 adjoins the site to the west which would naturally 
restrict any further development west.

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
To the north of the application site is the golf course, to the east of the 
application site there is the college, to the south is ribbon residential 
development and to the west of the site there is the A2 and heath beyond 
Therefore, given the confined nature of the site and its physical separation from 
neighbouring conurbations, I do not consider that the application site serves 
the Green Belt purpose of preventing neighbouring towns merging.

c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
I believe the proposal will not result in encroachment into the countryside as 
the site is already clearly defined by palisade fencing and boundary treatment 
and as part of the college campus is already separate and distinct from open 
countryside. In addition none of its boundaries are open countryside, with a 
defined and fenced gold club to the north, the A2 trunk road to the west, 
housing to the south and the education campus and more housing to the east. 
The proposal will have no impact on this purpose of the Green Belt in my 
opinion.

d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; 
Whilst the proposals would involve the preservation of the non-designated 
heritage assets on site, including Kingsfield House and thereby provide overall 
heritage benefits as part of the scheme. The nearest residential conurbations 
are not historic and the nearest listed buildings to the site to the north of the A2 
are located a significant distance away (some 650 m) to the south west in the 
Church Hill Wilmington Conservation Area. I do not consider that the 
application site has a role in protecting the setting or character of any historic 
towns or serves this Green belt purpose.



e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 
other urban land.
The proposal has been put forward as enabling development for the college 
and therefore could not be provided on another brownfield site. In addition, the 
Council has granted planning permission for development on the majority of 
those sites in the Borough which are brownfield and identified for development 
and many of these are coming forward or have been built. It is not considered 
that the current proposal would delay these other sites coming forward given 
the demand for housing in the area.

I am satisfied therefore that the harm to the Green Belt in terms of its purpose, will only result 
from the continuation of the built up area to create sprawl. In terms of openness of the Green 
Belt, the concept of “openness” is generally considered to be land free of built development 
(this is distinguished from visual impact of the proposal (considered below)).  I consider it 
important to recognise that art of the application site is already built upon with buildings and 
contains extensive car parking and the proposal will result in rebuilding on this land and the re-
use of three of the existing buildings. Not all of the application site will therefore have an impact 
on the openness. However, as the former cricket pitch and areas of trees are open spaces 
within the site, even though a significant part of this open land will remain as public open space 
part of the proposed residential development will constitute built development where there was 
none and therefore there will be some degree of a loss of openness.  As the aim of Green Belt 
policy is to keep land permanently open I consider that the harm resulting in the loss of open 
land must be given substantial weight, although I consider it important to note that in the 
planning balance this does not relate to the whole application site.  .

(52) Having identified that the definitional harm to the Green Belt would be caused overall 
by the proposed redevelopment of the site in terms of the impact on the loss of openness of 
part of the site and in terms of the potential for urban sprawl, it is necessary to consider whether 
'very special circumstances' exist that will outweigh this harm to the Green Belt, and any other 
potential harms that may be identified in this report. 

(53) The applicants have put forward the proposal as enabling development to provide 
funding which will enable North Kent College to build new facilities and fund the removal and 
conversion of buildings which are a drain on their resources. They submit therefore that the 
educational benefits of the proposal should be considered as a “very special circumstance”. I 
consider the case put forward by the applicants with regard to the enabling development later 
in the report. I also believe that the conversion of Kingsfield House could be considered as very 
special circumstance and address this in more detail in my report. 

(54) With regard to the 'other harms' Policy DP22(3) sets out criteria for assessing these: a) 
the extent of intensification of the use of the site; b) the impact of increased activity and 
disturbance resulting from the development, both on and off site, including traffic movement 
and parking, light pollution and noise; c) the impact on biodiversity and wildlife; d) the impact 
on visual amenity or character taking into account the extent of screening required; and e) 
impacts arising from infrastructure required by the development.

(55) I will assess these issues throughout the report and at the end will consider the planning 
balance to determine whether the harm to the Green Belt and other harms can be outweighed 
by the very special circumstances and other considerations.

(56) However, Members may wish to note a similar case where the proposal was considered 
by the Secretary of State in November 2017 and substantial weight was given to the education 
benefits.  The case also related to a Further Education college in St Albans where the proposal 
was for 348 dwellings and new and refurbished college buildings. The Secretary concluded the 
development to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. However he noted that many 
of the existing college buildings were in a poor state of repair and that running costs had 
escalated, there was no evidence of external funding for replacement buildings and therefore 
attached significant weight to the educational benefits of the proposal and that the delivery of 
significant improvements to the College weighed heavily in favour of the proposal. He also gave 
significant weight to the delivery of housing as the authority did not have a five year housing 



land supply. He also considered that the educational beneficial effect of the college 
development in landscape terms went someway to balance the harm. He concluded that the 
considerations clearly outweighed the harm to the Green Belt and the adverse impacts of the 
development would not outweigh the benefits.

Landscape character and visual amenity

(57) As I will detail later in the report, the south western, western and northern boundaries 
of the site are heavily vegetated and provide significant screening for the site from within the 
surrounding Green Belt and wider locality. However, the 8-storey high vacant tower block 
(known as block D) is highly visible in all directions (a fact supported by The Landscape and 
Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIA) submitted with the application) and I consider that the said tower 
block represents a significant incongruous feature within the landscape which is characterised 
predominantly by housing set in landscaped plots and open heathland as well the gold club and 
college grounds. I consider that this has a deleterious impact on the openness and character 
of the wider Green Belt. I am of the opinion that its demolition as a result of the proposal, would 
be a moderate benefit to the character and appearance of the locality and the visual amenity of 
the Green Belt.

(58) The application site is flanked to the east by large educational buildings, and therefore 
only the south eastern parts of the application site are visible from the public realm in Oakfield 
Lane. The northern side of this section of Oakfield Lane is situated on a slightly elevated level 
than the highway, with properties on the opposite side of Oakfield Lane to the application 
sloping down southwards away from the highway. The majority of the south eastern boundary 
of the site is currently vegetated and screens the buildings within the application site. The only 
views into the site are from the section of the road near the A2, where the intrusive nature of 
the 8 storey former residential block is highly obvious, or from the existing vehicular entrance 
adjacent to The Lodge. This access provides views of the 1960's three storey teaching block 
(known as block P) and glimpses of Kingsfield House. However, I consider it important to note 
that all views within this section of Oakfield Lane are dominated by the very large and modern 
educational buildings immediately to the east of the site, which almost abut the highway. In 
addition the site is enclose by a palisade fence on the all the boundaries that are not part of the 
college campus and this creates a sense of enclosure and lack of openness.

(59) Although hardly visible from the public realm I consider it important to recognise the 
fact that apart from the non-designated heritage asset discussed later in the report, the existing 
buildings within the application site provide little aesthetic contribution to the character and 
appearance of the site. The new buildings proposed as part of the application are smaller in 
scale than those currently on the site but are largely sited on areas which are existing open 
space. 

(60) The conclusion of the LVIA is that there will be only a minor impact on the wider 
landscape character area, and although there will be an initial impact on the character of the 
site this will reduce as the landscaping matures. The LVIA also considers the impact of the 
development on receptors. Overall the LVIA concludes that the proposal will not significantly 
increase the visibility of the application site from the surrounding visual receptors due to the 
proposed height of dwellings and landscape strategy. The landscaping that is retained along 
the southern and western boundary trees will filter views from Dartford Golf Course and Oakfield 
Lane. Once completed, and not withstanding the limited visibility of built form identified from 
some points, the LVIA concludes that there would be a limited change to the perception of 
visual openness created by the application site.

(61) I agree with these conclusions, I consider that the new development will be visible from 
close up viewpoints on Oakfield Lane and the golf club, however, these views will be partially 
screened by existing and proposed landscaping which will improved over time. However 
existing landscaping which screens views to the site from the south which will be reinforced by 
planting and the ivy clad noise barrier will only allow glimpsed views to the site from the 
Wilmington area and from the bridge over the A2. The demolition of the Block D will, however, 
reduce the site’s visual prominence in these views and on longer distance views and roofs of 
the proposed dwellings that may be visible will be read in conjunction with the existing built form 



present around the Application Site during the day and night time. With regard to lighting, part 
of the site already has street lights and the 8 storey block would have been visible at night when 
in use, however, much of the remainder of site is not currently lit. The proposed development 
will result in street lighting and light from the buildings and I consider is therefore likely to be 
more visible at night. However, the A2 trunk road is illuminated at this point, Oakfield Lane 
outside the sight and the bridge over the A2 is also illuminated as is the education campus. I 
consider therefore that the site will be considered in this context and although the area of 
lighting will be increased I consider that the harm on the visual impact will be limited. Since 
there may be some bat foraging along the tree line I would recommend that a condition is 
imposed to approve the details of external lighting so that light spillage is limited and the harm 
can be mitigated. I am of the opinion therefore that the overall impact on the landscape 
character and the visual impact on the area is fairly limited and due to the site’s relative 
containment and the opportunities for retained and improved landscaping in my opinion results 
in results in limited harm to the landscape character.

Educational benefits and Enabling Case

(62) North Kent College is seeking to develop new education facilities at its Dartford 
Campus in order to complete their Accommodation Strategy. They advise that they require new 
teaching accommodation in order to provide appropriate education facilities for existing and 
future students of the college and to ensure the continued provision of high-quality education 
at the College in line with its current reputation. The said new teaching accommodation forms 
the basis of application reference 18/01351/FUL and is proposed to replace the outdated and 
unsuitable educational and amenity facilities, in a number of the buildings in the eastern section 
of the application site. The College advises that the existing buildings in the eastern section of 
the application site are placing a significant and unsustainable financial burden on the college 
in terms of their upkeep and are anticipating the loss of fees from reductions in student numbers 
due to poor quality teaching accommodation. They state that this has serious consequences 
regarding the ability of the college to fund itself at a time when austerity is reducing financial 
support. 

(63) A number of these buildings within the application site are vacant due to the fact that 
they cannot be adapted for use by the college. The 8 storey incongruous 1960's tower block 
(known as block D), was previously used by Greenwich University to provide residential 
accommodation, but has stood vacant for some time as it is unsuitable for conversion to 
teaching accommodation due to its physical construction and configuration. In addition to this 
Kingsfield House and the 1960's two storey extension to Kingsfield House (known as block L) 
and the 1920's and 1930's 4 storey high derelict former residential accommodation extension 
to Kingsfield House (known as block KE) have also been vacant for some time, except for some 
space at ground floor level of block KE being used as overflow for the student refectory. It is 
clear from my visit to the site that none of these buildings are suitable to provide the necessary 
modern teaching and college accommodation due to their physical construction and 
configuration. The 1960's single storey building to the north of Kingsfield House (known as 
block C) currently houses some student facilities, the refectory and some poor quality teaching 
space, and the 1960's three storey block P (as shown) provides poor teaching accommodation 
with poor disabled access. As with the redundant buildings, the College advises that these 
extensions are proving expensive to maintain.

(64) The College advises that they have concluded that the only way to raise necessary 
funding for the new education facility is to dispose of the under-utilised land and redundant and 
poor quality buildings on the Dartford campus for redevelopment purposes. They advise that 
due to the current economic climate and the lack of funding for Further Education institutions 
this is the only viable way to fund the development of the College facilities they require and also 
remove the cost of the upkeep of the existing buildings.

(65)  North Kent College is therefore working in partnership with Bellway (the applicant for 
the application under current consideration) and an Enabling Statement, prepared by Savills on 
behalf of Bellway and NKC, has been submitted with the planning application. This enabling 
statement sets out the need for the residential development, the costs of the educational 
scheme and the costs and profits arising from the residential development, so that the Council 



can understand the need for the level of development proposed. It also provides information 
with regard to the viability of providing additional requirements over and above the Community 
Infrastructure Levy, such as affordable housing and KCC requests for contributions. The 
Council have appointed independent financial consultants to assess the costings set out in the 
Enabling Case and details of their conclusions are set out below.

(66) With regard to the principle of Enabling Development the NPPF provides guidance in 
respect of enabling development at paragraph 202: “Local planning authorities should assess 
whether the benefits of a proposal for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict 
with planning policies but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, 
outweigh the disbenefits of departing from those policies.”  This policy is directed towards 
historic assets; however, the principles have been widely adopted for schemes which have the 
potential to deliver significant community benefits but for which cannot be funded through other 
means and I have summarised the decision on one of these earlier in the report.  The Guidance 
with respect to enabling development is principally defined in the English Heritage publication 
Enabling Development and the Conservation of Significant Places 2012. This document 
provides guidance primarily in respect of the balance between funding conservation and impact 
on heritage assets; however, it does provide useful general principles which are summarised 
in its policy set out below:

Enabling development that would secure the future of a significant place, but contravene 
other planning policy objectives, should be unacceptable unless:
a) it will not materially harm the heritage values of the place or its setting
b) it avoids detrimental fragmentation of management of the place
c) it will secure the long-term future of the place and, where applicable, its continued use 
for a sympathetic purpose
d) it is necessary to resolve problems arising from the inherent needs of the place, rather 
than the circumstances of the present owner, or the purchase price paid
e) sufficient subsidy is not available from any other source 
f) it is demonstrated that the amount of enabling development is the minimum necessary to 
secure the future of the place, and that its form minimises harm to other public interests
g) the public benefit of securing the future significant place through such enabling 
development decisively outweighs the disbenefits of breaching other public policies.

I consider that these principles form a useful guide for considering the principle of enabling 
development with regard to this application

(67) When appointing the consultant’s to carry out an independent financial review, officers 
asked them to comment on whether there might be alternative funding available to the college; 
the accuracy of the costs with regard to the education building; the accuracy of costs and values 
associated with the Bellway residential development; the overall balance and the risk 
associated with delivery. I have summarised the process they undertook and their conclusions 
here.

(68) With regard to the education building this is to be procured by the College and will be 
delivered by Willmot Dixon who has already been selected as the main contractor. The college 
is responsible for funding the works (with funds provided to them by Bellway). The Council’s 
consultants, BPS, considered the funding options open to the College and accept the reasoning 
presented that the only available funding solution is from disposal of land for development. 
Although the College has cash reserves it appears they are needed to cover the Local 
Government Pension deficit and as they also have a significant loan outstanding from the 
delivery of the two new buildings are not in a position to re-finance or obtain grants. BPS also 
acknowledge the need for the College to invest in the proposed building to help safeguard 
student numbers and future revenue, and also offset current liabilities and to improve overall 
education provision. BPS compare the costs of maintenance per student nationally and NKC 
has significantly higher (104%) costs than the Department for Education average.

(69) The Enabling Statement states construction costs are £12,625,470, with the addition 
of enabling costs and professional fees generating a total cost of £14,000,102. The 
construction cost figure was supported by a cost summary dated 1st October 2018. Wilmott 
Dixon have since undertaken a value engineering exercise and a Contract Sum Plan – Stage 
3 was subsequently provided, which includes a contract sum cost of £9.8m, this figure is 



inclusive of professional fees but not enabling works. This document therefore superseded 
the earlier cost summary in the Enabling Statement. BPS appointed a cost consultant, to 
review this Contract Sum Plan, and they conclude: “In our view the construction cost for the 
education building for viability calculations should exclude inflation – this sum is £9,518,781 
before the addition of fees. We have benchmarked the education building and determined an 
average build cost averaging data for Colleges Specialised Teaching blocks and Colleges 
Mixed Facilities. The results give an adjusted benchmark of £3,045/m² that compares to the 
Applicant’s £2,891/m² (before fees and inflation). We are therefore satisfied that the 
Applicants costs for the education building are reasonable.”  On top of these costs additional 
fees and costs need to be added and a full breakdown has also subsequently been provided 
to BPS, the total build cost therefore equates to a figure of £13,662,640. The cost consultant 
has assessed these costs and confirms that they appear reasonable after the removal of 
inflation. On this basis BPS generate a total cost for the educational building of £13,381,422.

(70) With regard to the residential element BPS conclude that the residential full pricing 
schedule set out in the Enabling Statement appears consistent within itself and in line with new-
build market evidence in the area. This shows a private residential Gross Development 
Value(GDV) of £50.5m. The Enabling Statement includes the provision of only 24.36% 
affordable housing provision and all costs are based on shared ownership only provision so 
BPS have evaluated the costs and values on this basis BPS confirm that the valuation of the 
affordable units is reasonable.  The cost consultant, has reviewed the Cost Plan for the 
proposed scheme prepared by Bellway Homes, and concludes that:  “The adjusted BCIS 
benchmark costs of the housing of £34,338,372 exceeds the Applicants prepared costs of 
£28,764,251; we are therefore satisfied that the Applicants housing costs are reasonable”. 
Developer profit has been included at a rate of 20% on costs, equating to 16.67% on GDV. The 
Planning Practice Guidance prepared by central government advises with regard to viability 
that profit targets should be between 17.5% and 20% for private residential GDV, therefore it is 
accepted that this profit target is reasonable. BPS therefore generate a residual value for the 
proposed scheme of £13.08m. This is in fact, approximately £540,000 below Bellway’s agreed 
capital receipt for the land of £13.62m.

(71) In summary therefore BPS have calculated the total costs of the education buildings to 
be with fees £13,663,000.  They calculate a residual value for the proposed residential 
development of £13.08m which is below the cost of the education building.  The Enabling 
Statement advised that Bellway have agreed a capital receipt for the land of £13.62m.  This is 
approximately £540,000 above BPS’s residual value of the proposed scheme. Comparing the 
BPS valuation and the Enabling Statement valuation both lead to a deficit. -£583,000 based on 
the BPS costings and -£43,000 on what Bellway have agreed to pay for the site.  Neither 
scenario would therefore fully fund the cost of the education building. BPS therefore advise that 
on this basis changes could not be made to the number of dwellings, density of development, 
affordable housing provision or tenure split as this would reduce the residual value further 
resulting in less money available to fund the education building.

(72) On the basis of the independent review of the Enabling Statement I am satisfied that 
the only way to fund the new educational facilities is by way of the sale of land and on the basis 
of the costings and values of the development proposed it is clear that the number of dwellings 
could not be reduced any further without the land receipt being reduced to an extent that it 
would not be able to adequately fund the new education facilities. On that basis I give significant 
weight to the need for the education facilities and consider that the housing development is a 
significant benefit in order to fund these facilities.

(73) BPS advise in their conclusion that given there is little new build evidence in the 
immediate area there is some ambiguity about the values the new dwellings could sell. They 
suggest therefore that a late stage review mechanism is imposed in the s106 agreement 
requirement a reassessment of values based on actual sales values. This would then potentially 
enable any excess profit to be used to provide off-site affordable housing. I have some concerns 
about this as the Council has not been successful in the past in achieving any clawback 
payments due to rising values as construction costs usually increase as well and with Brexit on 
the horizon I consider that costs are likely to continue increasing. In addition, the process 
involves additional resources for the Council and any likely clawback sum is unlikely to be 



sufficient to fund fully off-site affordable housing. I have therefore discussed the issue with 
Bellway and raised concerns about the lack of affordable rent housing and they have agreed to 
provide 24% affordable housing comprising 38 units of which 80% intermediate housing and 
20% social rented housing. This is not considered in the enabling statement cost assessment 
and therefore would further reduce the value of the residential site, so is a provision that Bellway 
are absorbing in order to provide a more balanced affordable provision. I consider that this is a 
better scenario than a late stage review as it guarantees the provision of affordable rent on site. 
In addition, I would suggest that if Members are minded to grant planning permission this is 
granted for 2 years only so that the values of housing assessed has less risk of changing and 
if the development is not brought forward in that time a fresh application and a fresh viability 
assessment will have to be made.

(74) Bellway and North Kent College have agreed to enter into a legal agreement which 
requires the contract for the college development to be let before commencement and for the 
college development to be completed before the residential development is completed. Bellway 
advise that they have step in rights to complete the education building should the construction 
run into problems, so the Council can be assured that it will be completed. I have set out more 
details on this within the heads of terms section.  

Heritage Assets

(75) Kingsfield House is a Victorian mansion house built in 1859, that was converted into 
the Bergman-Österberg Physical Training College by Martina Bergman-Österberg in 1895, and 
which continued to be used as a physical training centre for approximately 90 years. Policy 
DP12 and the associated preamble highlight that buildings maybe considered to be non-
designated heritage assets depending on the significance of either their historic, archaeological, 
architectural / artistic or townscape / landscape values. I consider Kingsfield House to be a 
valuable non-designated heritage assets, which have particular representative significance as 
a result of the historical connections of the said buildings and wider site to Martina Bergman-
Österberg herself and the pioneering work she carried out at the site in relation to the 
advancement and evolution of the physical fitness of girls and young women, including the 
creation of the game of netball. I note that the advice from KCC Heritage considers that this 
building and the site may have national importance. In addition, I am of the opinion that the 
architectural design of Kingsfield House (including the 1904 addition) represents a quality, style 
and design which are uncommon with the locality and the Borough, and therefore I also 
consider Kingsfield House to be a significant non designated heritage asset as a result of its 
architectural and artistic merits. 

(76) Policy DP12 (7) and paragraph 197 of the NPPF highlight that the effects of proposals 
on the significance of non-designated heritage assets should be taken into account when 
determining applications.

(77) The teaching of physical education and the training of teachers continued at the site 
until 1986, when the former Thames Polytechnic (now Greenwich University) stopped teacher 
training at the site. North Kent College took over the site in 2002 and used Kingsfield House for 
administration purposes, including archive storage. However, the applicant has stated that the 
layout of the building is no longer conducive to these functions as the form and fabric of the 
building provide accommodation which does not comply with current standards. As a result of 
which the building now stands vacant and derelict. 

(78) Site visits revealed that the condition of the building fabric has deteriorated significantly 
to the point where the applicant has confirmed that it is neither economically viable nor efficient 
for the college to be operated from Kingsfield House. Consequently, Kingsfield House is 
currently in a perilous condition and in urgent need of extensive repair to ensure its future, which 
the college cannot afford to do. The applicant asserts that Kingsfield House is dangerously 
close to losing a considerable portion of its historic fabric due to water ingress, leaks and has 
an overall level of deterioration which I believe must be arrested as soon as possible in order 
to secure it in a stable condition for the future. 



(79) The proposed conversion of Kingsfield House into apartments would ensure the 
survival and preservation of this important non-designated heritage assets plus the conversion 
of the existing Rose Cottage and The Lodge into dwellings will contribute to the historic 
character of the site which has significant social history. I will assess the detailing of the 
conversions of these buildings later in the report. However, I consider that given the importance 
of this site, which KCC advise could be of national importance, and in particular Kingsfield 
House, with regard to social and sporting history I consider that substantial weight should be 
given to the conversion of Kingsfield House to ensure its retention and reuse.

Windfall housing

(80) As the most up-to-date planning policy, Policy DP6 is the starting point now for 
considering windfall sites of 5 units and over. Policy DP6 advises that unplanned windfall 
residential development may be permitted following assessment in accordance with Core 
Strategy Policy CS10:4&5, as well as other development plan policies and material 
considerations. Policy DP6 advises that windfall development should be located on brownfield 
land to ensure that the Core Strategy target of 80% of development on brownfield sites (at 
present that target is being met). Greenfield windfall sites will only be permitted if they are highly 
sustainably located in all respects (Clause b of Policy DP6 clarifies) and if the site is needed to 
rectify a five year housing land supply. The Development Policies Plan defines brownfield land 
as land that has been previously developed as defined in the NPPF.

(81) As stated above I am of the opinion that the site falls within the definition of previously 
developed land (PDL) as set out in the Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and is not therefore considered to be a greenfield site. However, it is partially a green open site, 
and is designated as Green Belt and Borough Open space and therefore this must come into 
the planning balance. The NPPF advises that not all of the curtilage of PDL sites should be 
assumed to be appropriate to build on. I consider therefore that building on part of the open 
areas of the site has negative weight but also note that large areas of open space have been 
retained within the proposed development and there are reasons for the disposition of the 
buildings which precludes a more dense development on the site of the existing buildings. I 
therefore consider that the proposal is partly on land occupied by previously buildings and partly 
on open land within the curtilage of a PDL site. As the site is not defined as greenfield it does 
not fall foul of Policy DP6 but I do consider this there is a medium disbenefit resulting from the 
development of some of the open land on the site. 

(82) Dartford’s Five-Year Deliverable Housing Land Supply was published in December 
2018. Utilising the Local Housing Need standard methodology and Government guidance, 
Dartford has a five year deliverable land supply of 6.4 years.

(83) With regard to the sustainability of the location of the site, Policy DP6(2)(b) advises that 
proposals must be within easy walking of a range of community facilities, including schools, 
shops, leisure and recreation facilities on safe and attractive walking routes; and well-located 
with respect to walking/cycling and public transport. Policy DP6 also requires the proposal to 
be designed to reduce car use and promote alternative transport options.  The preamable to 
Policy DP 6 sets out travel distances to be used for monitoring DP6 (2)(b.

(84) In terms of accessibility to local amenities, Wilmington Primary School is around 750m 
walk away; Oakfield Community Primary school is around 800m away; Wilmington Grammar 
School for Girls is around 550m away; and Wilmington Academy and Wilmington Grammar 
School for Boys are around 900m walk away. I also consider it important to note that North Kent 
College's Campus would immediately abut the site, which as well as providing sixth form and 
further education also has a number of sporting facilities. The Hawley Road / Lowfield Street 
District Centre, which includes two supermarkets, barbers / hairdressers, takeaways, other 
small retail units, a café and 2 public houses, is around 900m walk away. Approximately 420m 
walk away is Oakfield Park, which is a large public open space. The targets in the adopted 
Local Plan advise that 800m is an acceptable walking distance to a community facility (i.e. 
approximately 10 minutes walk). I consider that the site can therefore be considered to be well-
related to existing community facilities. The site will also contain open space for recreational 



use and residents will also be able to access the facilities available to the community in the 
college campus, including I am advised include the nursery and the sporting facilities.

(85) In terms of public transport accessibility, the site is within the Council's 400m target for 
the proximity to bus stops on Oakfield Lane and Maple Road. The Oakfield Lane bus stops are 
served by the number 429 bus service (hourly between Dartford and West Kingsdown. Plus the 
Maple Road bus stops are served by the Dart 1 bus service to Dartford (hourly). Although not 
at the same bus stop, future residents would be able to access buses to Dartford town centre 
at least twice an hour. I also consider it important to note that bus stops in Lowfield Street are 
approximately 900m away from the site (a 10 minute walk) and these bus stops are also 
serviced by the number 477 bus service which also provides services to Dartford and Bluewater 
every half an hour. At officers request KCC public transport have looked into the 429 service 
as apparently it was not stopping regularly in Oakfield Lane as no one was using the stop. I am 
advised that the bus company has been advised that it should now stop at this bus stop and 
consider that new development on the site would increase patronage and therefore ensure that 
the bus does stop. 

(86) Policy DP6(2)(c) requires developments to be able to provide measures/ improvements 
to encourage modal shift away from car usage. I will address the detail of the footpaths later in 
my report, but in relation to sustainability I note that the proposal would make walking from the 
Tree Estate (to the north east of the site) to the various educational facilities in Wilmington 
significantly safer. I consider the existing public footpath which skirts around the northern and 
western boundaries of the site to be unsafe and bordering on impassable in places. The 
proposal would both open up the public footpath and also provide good access through site. 
Thereby significantly improving pedestrian routes in the locality, which I consider to be a 
considerable benefit of this scheme to the wider area. 

(87) The application site will be well connected by pedestrian routes both on street and by 
footpath and Oakfield Lane provides direct access for cyclists to a number of facilities and the 
town centre. The site design will enable direct pedestrian and cycle routes out of the site and 
cycle parking will be provided for each dwelling. I am satisfied therefore that the proposal meets 
the requirements of Policy DP(2)(c) by encouraging the use of other modes than the car. 

(88) Although the application site is located within the Green Belt, it is considered to be a 
previously developed site and the development involves reuse of existing buildings and new 
buildings on sites of previous buildings, although I recognise it also involves the development 
of open space. I am of the opinion that the site is a located sustainably and is within easy 
walking distance of a range of community facilities, including schools, leisure and recreation 
facilities, and shops.  I consider therefore that the proposal complies with Policy DP6 (1) and 
DP6(2). I do not consider that therefore that this can be considered a disbenefit of the scheme 
and therefore give this little weight. I will go on to consider the cumulative impacts of the 
proposal on infrastructure. 

Infrastructure Impact 

(89) With regard to health care provision the Council is working with the NHS to bring 
forward a health and wellbeing hub in the town centre, the site having been identified. This 
improved facility which the NHS are working to bring forward as quickly as possible will provide 
for any additional cumulative impact arising from this development and therefore I consider that 
the impact of the site on healthcare can be mitigated and further Community Infrastructure Levy 
contributions will assist in funding this facility.

(90) As a windfall development, education demand arising from the site has not been taken 
into account by Kent Education in planning new school places. However, Members will be 
aware that a new secondary school at Stone Lodge was recently granted planning consent and 
is due to open in 2020. This will respond to demand from planned development but additionally 
will provide capacity for additional demand arising from the proposed scheme. With regard to 
primary education demand, Kent education have taken forward some school expansion in this 
education catchment and are assessing potential at other local primary schools. These 
expansions will most likely meet demand arising from the proposal. However, the education 



authority have indicated that in the longer term additional capacity, in the way of new provision 
may be required. This situation will be monitored as part of ongoing liaison between the Council 
and Kent Education. KCC advise in their response that additional educational provision could 
be funded through CIL. I am satisfied therefore that the cumulative impact arising from this site 
with regard to education can be mitigated.   KCC also request contributions towards library 
bookstock and IT equipment at the adult education centre. I acknowledge the need for these 
facilities but in terms of mitigating development s106 contributions and obligations should only 
be sought where they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
and I have some concerns that contributions such as these may not comply with the Community 
Infrastructure Levy which limits the number of planning permissions contributing to one 
infrastructure requirement to five developments. Since the enabling case and assessment of 
the costs and values of the development already indicates that the value of the residential 
development is less than the educational building proposed I do not consider it appropriate to 
add more costs on the development to further widen this gap. Since I do not consider that these 
facilities are required to make the development acceptable I have not included these within the 
suggested heads of terms for the s106.

(91) With regard to transport impacts arising from the development, the Transport 
Assessment concludes that these are limited (see later in the report). The applicant has agreed 
to fund off-site highways improvements at the Princes Road to reduce the impact of the 
additional traffic queueing at this junction. The Strategic Transport Programme which seeks to 
bring forward improvement to the identified strategic junctions is funded by CIL and the recent 
improvements schemes for these junction, e.g. Bean junction, include capacity for future growth 
in the area. Highways England have confirmed that the proposal will not result in any harm to 
A2 heath junction and require no mitigation for this junction. I am satisfied therefore that the 
impacts on traffic infrastructure can be mitigated. 

(92) In terms of green infrastructure the matter of playing fields is dealt with further below, 
but the development will facilitate the provision of a large area of public open space in land 
which is currently in private use. In addition, this public open space is well-related to the public 
rights of way network and will result in improvement to the quality and experience of users of 
this PROW network due to the removal of the high palisade fence that currently forms the 
boundary to the site. I am satisfied therefore that the proposal will contribute to the green 
infrastructure in the area which is open and accessible to the public and will improve the quality 
of experience of the public right of way users and therefore consider that the proposal meets 
the requirements of Policy DP6(3). I consider this is a moderate benefit of the scheme.

Open Space and Playing pitch

(93) The western section of the application site is designated as Borough Open Space, 
covering the area formerly used as a cricket pitch and the trees surrounding it and therefore 
part of the proposed development would result in the loss of Borough Open Space.  Policy 
DP24 advises that the proposal should not lead to any significant loss or deterioration in quantity 
and level of open space/recreation provision. It advises at DP24(1)(b) that where development 
will result in significant loss of open space or sports pitches results replacement provision 
should be delivered within accessible walking distance of the site unless it is clearly 
demonstrated that the existing provision is surplus to current and future requirements for sports 
and recreation in the locality and in the Borough, the amenity and health/ well-being of residents 
and / or biodiversity. 

(94) The applicant states that the former cricket pitch and the hardcourt in the western area 
of the site has not been used for any specific or formal sporting use since 2011. The Dartford 
Playing Pitch Study 2016 found that there are 16 cricket pitches in the Borough (including the 
pitch at North Kent College). In terms of demand for pitches the study found in 2015 that there 
was a surplus of at least 6.3 cricket pitches in the Borough and concluded that by 2026 there 
will be a surplus of at least 5.6 pitches. I consider it important to note, however, that the 2016 
study found that the said pitch does not meet Sport England's Active Places criteria and cannot 
therefore be deemed fully fit for purpose. 



(95) Sport England are objecting to the loss of the playing field / cricket pitch, as they argue 
it cannot be demonstrated that the pitch has not been used in the last years (google earth 
indicates that the pitch was mowed in the last 5 years and shows informal placing of football 
nets) and that there is no evidence to suggest that the site is surplus to requirements not just 
for cricket use but for the use by any other sports pitch (any assessment has to be carried out 
in accordance with Sport England guidance), or that the land is not capable of forming a playing 
pitch. 

(96) In response to Sport England's objection the applicants, in liaison with North Kent 
College, have confirmed that the former cricket pitch in question has not been used for any 
sports since the expansion of the sporting facilities in the eastern part of the campus in 2011. 
The eastern part of the campus now provides a large playing field containing two football pitches 
and a training pitch, and the provision of a large new sports hall. The College advise that the 
new sporting facilities made the former cricket pitch and hardcourt on what is the current 
application site, but still part of the education campus, superfluous to requirements. The said 
sports hall has a flexible internal space the size of 8 badminton courts which allows students 
and outside (community) clubs to play up to 18 different sports comprising: boxing, badminton, 
basketball, cricket, curling, football, football, fencing, goal ball, gymnastics, handball, netball, 
softball, table tennis, tennis, trampolining, ultimate Frisbee and volleyball.  I am of the opinion 
therefore that the formal recreation pitch previously provided by the cricket pitch on the 
education campus has been previously replaced as part of the overall scheme of improvements 
at the college that had to stop due to funding. I am satisfied that the level of new facilities 
provided at the college and available to the wider community has provided replacement formal 
playing pitches in accordance with Policy DP24

(97) Furthermore, the applicants have highlighted that the site is not a suitable location for 
a modern day sports pitch. A cross-section drawing of the former cricket pitch shows that the 
topography of the land is inappropriate for sport owing to a greater than 1% fall in gradient in 
both directions (which exceeds the guidance set out by Sport England). Therefore, before the 
pitch could be used, the College would be required to flatten a large area of land at considerable 
expense, which would they cannot afford to do. Sport England also raised the issue that the 
pitch could be used for other sports such as football. The applicant has provided additional 
plans which demonstrate that the area of open space is not large enough to accommodate a 
full-sized football pitch.  Use of the area for a full-sized football pitch would therefore require 
extensive works, probably removal of trees in the area to enlarge the pitch and the need for 
changing facilities. 

(98) Whilst Sport England are maintaining their objection to the proposal on the basis that 
an assessment has not been undertaken which conforms with their standards with regard to 
the playing field being surplus to requirements. Such an assessment requires considerable time 
and resources, I am of the opinion that the applicant has demonstrated that the loss of the 
former cricket pitch would not result in the loss of a useable playing pitch for either cricket, 
football or other outdoor sports. They also contend that the playing pitch has not been used for 
more than five years. Also, in any event the Council's own survey 2016 results show that there 
is a surplus of cricket pitch provision within the Borough and a pitch in this location is not 
required. Finally, the fact that the college has provided significant alternate modern-day sporting 
facilities on the college campus means that the former cricket pitch would likely be surplus to 
requirements for other sporting uses also. Therefore, I do not consider that there will be any 
harm resulting from the loss of the disused cricket pitch, and consider that this is compliance 
with Policy DP24

(99) With regard to general public open space provision, the site is currently not accessible 
to the public, and therefore currently makes no contribution to public open space. However, in 
the context of the Borough Open Space designation it does contribute to the openness of this 
area, and the BOS designation also includes the tree belts around the pitch.  However, the 
proposal would ensure that approximately 25% of the application site area would become 
accessible public open spaces for both existing and future residents to enjoy and the tree belts 
along the westerley and northerly boundaries of the site will be retained together with a 
significant number of other trees in the site. On balance therefore I consider that much of the 
land designated as Borough Open Space is to be retained by the proposal and the value 



contributed by the trees will be maintained and a positive benefit of the scheme is that the open 
space will be opened up to the public for use as a result of the scheme.  I consider that this 
meets the requirements of Policy DP24(1) and retains the open space and in my opinion results 
in a qualitative provision of public open space which continues to act as Borough Open Space.

(100) I consider therefore that the loss of the playing pitch is balanced by the retention of 
much of the open space and trees; the opening up of this area to the public; and the integration 
of the PROW to the public open space through the removal of the palisade fence such that the 
overall impact of the development with regard to open space is neutral. 

(101) However, as the land has (at any time) in the five years before the application is 
received been used by an educational institution as a playing field and where Sport England 
has been consulted and has made representations objecting to the whole or part of the 
development, if Members are minded to grant planning permission the Secretary of State must 
be consulted so he can determine whether the application should be called in. 

On-site community facilities

(102) Until September 2018 one of the buildings on the application site housed a children’s 
nursery, which serves the College but is also I understand available for the wider community. 
In September the nursery was re-located to existing buildings within the education campus just 
to the south of the proposed new educational building. The nursery provides space for about 
60 children, I am advised. As this a commercial use and provides an income for the College 
and has been relocated to new premises within the education campus I am satisfied that the 
development will have no impact on this use and that the nursery will be available to provide 
facilities for the new residents, 

(103) KCC advise that the Bergman-Österberg Union Archive is of international importance 
and the Union itself contributes significantly to the high communal and heritage value ascribed 
to Kingsfield. KCC note that the college have provided alternate more secure accommodation 
to house the archives and to allow researchers and alumni to visit and revisit the Kingsfield 
experience, which they consider to be a significant benefit of the scheme. They suggest that a 
condition should be imposed that the Bergman-Österberg Union shall be provided with suitable 
accommodation within the college campus. 

(104) With regard to the Osterberg Union, this was moved to two offices within M Block on 
the education campus in October 2018. In addition the College has renovated a large room 
central to the site for their exhibition. Final works are about to complete this month, and I am 
advised that they will be able to use this from February 2019 .There is no formal agreement 
between the college and the Union, I understand, but they are satisfied with their new 
accommodation now at the centre of the campus. Since this is no longer within the application 
site and accommodation has been provided by the College it is not required as part of the 
mitigation of this development and it is not within the gift of the developer to comply with such 
a condition. 

(105) I given limited weight to the relocation of these facilities as part of the development as 
they have already been moved, but provision of these facilities as part of the overall 
accommodation strategy for the College site is to be noted and is a minor benefit of the scheme.

Transport

(106) Policies DP 3 and 4 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan advise that development 
will only be permitted where it is appropriately located and minimises and manages transport 
impacts. I have discussed the location of the site earlier in the report. KCC Highways have 
considered the impact of the proposal and the detail of the Transport Assessment submitted.

(107) The trip generation calculations included within the submitted transport assessment 
highlight that the proposed residential development is likely to give rise to 66 vehicle 
movements (17 arrivals and 49 departures) in the morning peak between 8 am and 9 am, and 
57 vehicle movements (37 arrivals and 20 departures) in the evening peak between 5 pm and 



6 pm, producing one additional vehicle movement every minute. KCC Highways have 
confirmed that they agree with the proposed trip generation figures in the submitted transport 
assessment.

(108) KCC Highways do not consider that the proposed trip generation would detrimentally 
affect the operational capacity of Oakfield Lane and would not lead to congestion either at the 
access to the application site or at the nearby accesses to the college which are operating well 
below capacity. In fact the only place KCC Highways do believe that the proposal could cause 
increased delay and congestion is at the traffic light junction of Princes Road and Lowfield 
Street. This junction is currently operating at capacity, and an increase in drivers wanting to 
turn left of Princes Road into Lowfield Street and onwards towards the application site could 
likely create congestion. Following consultation with the Highway Authority the applicant has 
agreed to finance physical mitigation measures to this junction to ensure that the proposal 
would not detrimentally affect the flow of traffic at this junction. The applicant has agreed to pay 
£10,000 to increase the length of the left turn lane from Princes Road into Lowfield Street, which 
can be secured by way of a legal agreement.

(109)  I also consider it important to note that Highways England have not objected to the 
proposal as they do not consider the development would harm the strategic road network.

(110) The submitted transport assessment demonstrates that the access into the site affords 
visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m, which comply with 'manual for streets' guidelines and 
subsequently KCC Highways raise no objections to the safety of the said access into the site, 
provided that the visibility splays are conditioned to be retained free of any obstacles taller than 
600mm. KCC have also requested an emergency access which is provided closer to the A2 
bridge and serves as a pedestrian/cycleway link during normal use.

(111) As the developers are advising that the site will not be adopted I recommend that an 
obligation be provided in a s106 agreement relating to the on-going maintenance of the streets 
and parking areas.

(112) I acknowledge the concerns of neighbouring residents about traffic issues in the 
immediate area, and note how these are related to existing activity connected to the college 
and the local schools. It cannot be a requirement of this application to mitigate the impacts of 
traffic generation of other developments/uses. Traffic related to these uses is also limited to 
specific times of the day and the year. The surveys and Transport Assessment demonstrate 
clearly that with appropriate mitigation the traffic arising from the development can be 
accommodated on the road network. I think it is likely that new residents will also adjust their 
trips where possible to avoid the peak arrival and departures from the College that result in 
traffic build up on Oakfield Lane during these times.

(113) I consider therefore that the proposal complies with Policies DP3 and 4 and would not 
result in harm to the surrounding road network. I consider therefore that the traffic impacts of 
the development are neutral in the planning balance.  

Ecology

(114) Policy DP25 advises that proposals should seek to avoid any significant impact on 
existing biodiversity features and proposals will be expected to preserve and where possible 
enhance existing habitats.
 
(115) Following submission of the initial ecology report, further details have been provided 
with regard to bats and reptiles.  The reported bat surveys confirm that Kingsfield House is a 
bat roost with sitings of a single bat flying into and out of the building. A European protected 
species mitigation (EPSM) licence will therefore be required, from Natural England, to carry out 
the proposed development due to the impacts upon bats. The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 requires the Council, as the competent authority, to have regard to 
the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the exercise of their functions. As such, the Council 
must consider whether it is likely that an EPSM Licence from Natural England will be granted, 



and in so doing must address the three tests when deciding whether to grant planning 
permission for the proposed development. The three tests are that: 

1. Regulation 55(2)(e) states: a licence can be granted for the purposes of 'preserving 
public health or public safety or other imperative reasons of overriding public interest 
including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary 
importance for the environment'. 
2. Regulation 55(9)(a) states: the appropriate authority shall not grant a licence unless 
they are satisfied 'that there is no satisfactory alternative'. 
3. Regulation 55(9)(b) states: the appropriate authority shall not grant a licence unless 
they are satisfied 'that the action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance 
of the population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their 
natural range.' 

KCC ecology advise that, in respect of the bat roost in Kingsfield House, the Addendum Bat 
Report provides sufficient information to demonstrate that appropriate mitigation is available 
and achievable. They therefore advise that, with the implementation of the proposed mitigation, 
the proposal meets the 'third test', in relation to bats roosting in the building(s).  As the mitigation 
will be secured through a Natural England EPSM licence, the Borough Council do not need to 
secure the measures, if planning permission is granted. KCC ecology advise however that the 
implementation of the recommended 'toolbox talk' in relation to works on the other buildings, 
should be secured by condition, if planning permission is granted.

(116) The surveys also indicate that there are three trees on the site which have potential for 
moderate bat roosting. These trees are recommended to be retained. However, KCC consider 
that further information is provided with regard to this so that they can advise fully as 
foraging/commuting routes could be affected.  The detailed original survey data has been 
requested from the applicant and I hope to be able to update Members in the update report with 
regard to KCC's detailed recommendation with regards to bats and the trees. But I have in the 
meantime suggested the imposition of a condition requiring a bat mitigation strategy to deal 
with impacts on foraging which would not be dealt with under separate licence. If necessary I 
will amend this in the update report. 

(117) In addition KCC ecology advise that although the reptile survey undertaken did not 
record any reptile species and therefore indicates a likely absence of reptiles they consider that 
there is some potential for amphibian, small mammals and reptiles to be impacted during the 
removal of vegetation and suggest a condition requiring a method statement with regard to 
these species. I have added the suggested condition should Members be minded to grant 
permission. 

(118) The existing landscaping along the western and northern boundaries of the site will be 
retained, KCC ecology raise concerns that the connectivity of the central wooded area will be 
broken. They are also concerned that the proximity of the proposed housing to the woodland 
will result in its use for recreation. While this is a valuable use, they advise that it will inevitably 
lead to a deterioration in the quality of the woodland and the wildlife it supports. KCC ecology 
advise that appropriate means to mitigate and seek net gains in biodiversity must be sought 
and I agree with this approach. The proposal includes recommendation for the new planting on 
the site to be of native species or known wildlife value and KCC ecology advise that as the 
planting will provide mitigation for impacts to/loss of existing woodland and other vegetation, a 
landscaping/ecological design strategy should be secured by condition to ensure that it 
provides adequate mitigation for biodiversity losses.  The purpose of the condition is to ensure 
the maintenance and protection of existing habitats and the provision of wildlife corridors and 
connectivity through new habitats. I have recommended a condition to deal with this. I consider 
that if the landscaping and new planting is carried out and maintained appropriately the 
biodiversity on this site can be enhanced, particularly if the cricket pitch were to continue to be 
mown and maintained as a sports pitch. I therefore consider that the ecological harm on this 
site is limited and can be satisfactorily mitigated and that enhancements can be achieved which 
would weigh against these harms. I consider that the ecological harms are therefore neutral in 
the planning balance.

Archaeology & Heritage



(119) The importance of Kingsfield House as a significant non-designated heritage asset has 
been addressed previously within the report, and the details of their conversions will be dealt 
with later in the report. 

(120) KCC Heritage have placed particular importance in ensuring that the landscape design 
reflects as much of the arguably nationally important Österberg College heritage as possible, 
through the layout and appearance of streets, embedded heritage, themed open spaces, public 
art, etc. 

(121) Although many of the historic landscape features associated with the tenure of 
Madame Österberg have been lost or degraded by modern development, her legacy in terms 
of health and well-being remain incredibly important.  The applicant has suggested positive 
heritage measures to remember and appreciate the legacy of Madame Österberg and her 
pioneering physical education college, including interpretation panels showing the historic 
development of the Site, as well as including fitness equipment in the grounds and areas for 
running/cycling, for example, drawing on some of the historic elements of the site that were 
formerly used for such outdoor activity within the grounds of Kingsfield when it operated as the 
Bergman Österberg Physical Training College.  KCC heritage have suggest that the previous 
running track put in place by Madame Österberg be incorporated into the landscape design but 
historic plans show that much of this was lost as a result of the A2 construction so I am not 
convinced about the benefit of this.

(122) The site also has potential for early historic remains, KCC heritage advise that although 
the site does not contain designated heritage assets this reflects and unidentified significance. 
As well Kingsfield House the archaeology of the area may be considered to be a non-
designated heritage asset in accordance with Policy DP22 and the NPPF. They have therefore 
requested onsite investigation before any work proceeds in order to ensure that this significance 
can be assessed and the appropriate mitigation undertaken. 

(123) I believe it is important to include positive heritage measures into the development, but 
the heritage interpretation needs to be informed and evidence based, drawing on the results of 
the field investigations required by KCC Heritage. I would suggest that this is required by way 
of a condition before any works commence on site to ensure no valuable artefacts are harmed. 
It should also be conditioned that an agreed heritage interpretation plan/ strategy should be 
agreed before occupation of the dwellings. As set out above I consider that the preservation of 
Kingsfield House is a substantial benefit of the scheme and it is possible that the investigation 
of archaeology on the site also results in benefits in terms of understanding of the area.

Design and layout of development 

(124) The detailed layout of the site has been influenced by the retention of Kingsfield House 
and the provision of a setting for it; the desire to protect as many of the healthy, good quality 
trees as possible; and the noise and air quality constraints created by the A2. Ideally it may 
have been better to locate new development closer to the site of the existing buildings and then 
maintain more of the cricket pitch and the open land closest to the A2, Wilmington and the wider 
Green Belt but this would have resulted in the loss of the trees on the site. I set out below the 
influences on the designs and how the layout, accommodation and detailed designs comply 
with adopted policy.

Conversion of Kingsfield House

(125) I consider that one of the key elements and benefits of this scheme is the restoration, 
conversion and preservation of the impressive but currently somewhat dilapidated Kingsfield 
House. The proposal would see it converted to provide a total of 28 x 1, 2 and 3 bed apartments, 
and together with the large open space in front of it, would act as centrepiece within the new 
site. 

(126) The conversion of Kingsfield House seeks to ensure the retention of the most historic 
parts of the building, through minimised structural intervention wherever possible, and to 
preserve, reinstate and enhance the most attractive parts of the building fabric. The most 



obvious external alterations would be the removal of the insensitive and incongruous looking 
two storey 1960's addition to the south west of Kingsfield House (known as block L), the single 
storey 1960's addition to the north /north east of Kingsfield House (known as block C), and the 
dilapidated and unsympathetic 4 storey high 1920's and 1930's extension (known as block KE). 
The demolition of the existing block L will enable the west elevation to the southwest wing of 
Kingsfield House, which is currently lost behind the insensitive extension, to be reinstated, with 
the provision of a very impressive tall picture window similar in design to both the original which 
would have been in this location and the existing tall picture window in the west elevation to the 
northern wing of Kingsfield House. I consider the removal of block L to be a key benefit of the 
proposal for the character and appearance of Kingsfield House and the site as a whole. In 
addition, the removal of the existing blocks C and KE would also significantly improve the 
appearance of the eastern and northern elevations of the northern wing of Kingsfield House. 
As it would allow Kingsfield House to be viewed in its entirety and not crudely divided and 
enveloped by very visually intrusive extensions.  

(127) The applicant states that all existing windows and doors will be replaced. Other external 
alterations to the building have been kept to a minimum, with some obscured basement doors 
in the western elevation and some simple and sympathetic windows and entrances in the 
eastern façade of the northern wing of Kingsfield House, where the existing extensions are 
currently attached. I consider the simplistic appearance and design of the proposed windows 
and doors in this section of Kingsfield House would be appropriate, as this section of the 
building is the most unadorned and subtle façade on the building. In order to ensure that the 
proposed external alterations are acceptable, details of all exterior materials and replacement 
fenestration shall be agreed by way of a condition.

(128) The proposed conversion would also respect the central internal features such as the 
large entrance lobbies and staircases and would make the most of high ceilings to create open 
and expansive living environments and provide the opportunity to create sympathetic 
mezzanine levels where appropriate. All bar one of the proposed 28 apartment conversions 
would adhere to national space standards. Apartment 16 is slightly below the required space 
provision for a 1 bed flat. However, bearing in mind that this is a conversion of an historic 
building, where space can sometimes be limited, combined with the fact that the internal layout 
of apartment 16 flows well and would still create a pleasant living environment for future 
residents. I am of the opinion that the internal space standards for all the proposed apartments 
would be acceptable in this instance. In terms of outlook and luminance provision, I consider 
that all of the proposed apartments would be afforded acceptable natural lighting and outlook. 
A daylight assessment submitted with the application confirms this. The converted Kingsfield 
House would contain three apartments within the existing basement and in order to ensure that 
the main habitable room windows are provided with natural lighting and some degree of outlook, 
the proposal would provide sunken patio areas for these apartments. I do not consider that 
these patio areas would detrimentally harm the character and appearance of Kingsfield House. 

(129) Given the age of Kingsfield House, I consider it prudent to place a sound insulation 
condition upon any approval in order to ensure that the amenities of all future residents of 
Kingsfield House would be protected, as additional sound insulation above the normal Building 
Regulations requirement may be necessary. 

(130) I consider it is also worth noting that the proposed design of the overall scheme ensures 
that an appropriate and indeed improved setting is retained for Kingsfield House. A large open 
space to the front creates an impressive setting suitable for the quality of the architecture and 
enables the retention of the Cedar tree which is part of the historic and social character of the 
building. The existing tree to the east of the building is also retained creating a green setting for 
this side of the building and for the entrance to the development.  A private car park to the north 
of the building also ensures that the House is set well away from the new dwellings. I consider 
therefore that the satisfactory conversion and improvement to the setting of Kingsfield House 
is a positive benefit of the scheme.

Trees



(131) There are a significant number of both impressive mature individual trees and groups 
of smaller trees which provide greenery and screening throughout the application site. 
Consequently, the application site and a significant proportion of the college campus is subject 
to a recent Area Tree Preservation Order. Abutting the south western and western boundaries 
there are belts of trees which provide screening to the site and make a significant contribution 
to the treescape and general character and appearance of the locality and Oakfield Lane. In 
particular the large belt of trees along the western boundary of the application site which 
includes English Oak, Red Oak, Corsican Pine, Beech, Alder and Poplar specimens are 
particularly impressive. The application site also contains a swathe of large mature English 
Oaks in the centre of the northern part of the site which collectively with some other specimens 
provides a semi-formal arboricultural feature within the centre of the site. There are several 
other impressive English Oak specimens dotted throughout the site, as well as some imposing 
Cedar of Lebanon trees to the east and west of Kingsfield House. Overall the character of the 
site, especially the western and northern parts of the site, is that of a woodland parkland. 

(132) The design and layout of the proposed scheme has evolved around retaining as many 
of the existing impressive trees as possible, and the scheme has been revised several times to 
try and accommodate as many of the existing trees as possible. The scheme will provide a 
central corridor of Green open space from Oakfield Lane in the south to the proposed houses 
along the northern part of the site. In the green informal open space adjacent to block C the 
proposal would retain some impressive Common Limes and an English Oak. Within the central 
proposed Kingsfield Green, the proposal would retain the striking Cedar of Lebanon in front of 
Kingsfield House and an impressive Causican Pine, Turkey Oak and Field Maple. Apart from a 
good Causican Pine tree that would have to be lost to make way for the access road and 
parking, the other trees lost in these areas are not considered exemplar and in fact the proposal 
would increase the number of trees in these areas with substantial parkland and roadside tree 
planting which I consider and the Council’s tree consultant agrees balances this loss. In the 
north of the site some trees would be lost to facilitate the development. Some of these trees 
needed to be removed due to their poor state, and the majority of the rest were not particularly 
good specimen trees, and the Council's tree consultant has not objected to their loss, especially 
as the proposal would plant a number of similar sized street trees within the locality. The 
proposal would however, also result in the loss of a number of English Oak trees in this part of 
the application site, this is a result of not only the proposed housing but also I understand a 
drainage easement. However, the two most northerly green open spaces in the proposed 'green 
central corridor' would retain 13 mature English Oaks, along with other decent sized trees. 
Whilst the loss of some English Oaks is regrettable, I believe a significant number of mature 
trees, including English Oaks would be retained so as to ensure that the site retains its green 
woodland park setting.  

(133) A number of trees fronting or abutting Oakfield Lane would also be removed to facilitate 
the development, however, although prominent within the street scene, the Council's tree 
consultant has confirmed that none of these trees individually are remarkable and has not 
therefore objected to the loss of these trees. The applicant has shown that a number of 
replacement trees will be planted along the boundary with Oakfield Lane with the aim of 
softening the appearance of the development in the street scene. The exact species of the said 
trees can be agreed by way of a condition and I would expect that this replacement provision 
should be semi-mature trees to create an early impact. 

(134) The proposal would retain the majority of the existing trees on abutting the south 
western and western boundaries of the site, thereby ensuring that the site remains screened 
from wider views from the surrounding Green Belt, the A2 and from Oakfield Lane when 
travelling from Wilmington. These screens of vegetation will ensure that a number of good 
quality trees remain untouched. The proposal also includes new tree planting on these 
boundaries where necessary to thicken up these vegetation screens. 

(135) The proposal will also retain a number of individual mature trees worthy of note 
throughout the site, including a number of English Oaks and Cedar of Lebanon's. 

(136) On balance, the proposal ensures the retention and protection of a significant number 
of remarkable individual trees and groups of trees and importantly these are retained within 



public open spaces and managed landscape areas rather than individual gardens, which can 
lead to pressure for removal in the future. This in combination with the opportunities for a the 
planting of a large number of parkland and street, has resulted in a sensitive and high quality 
layout of development which I believe will ensure that the site retains an impressive green 
parkland feel, to the benefit of character, appearance and ecology of the site, the setting of 
Kingsfield House and the wider locality.  I consider that overall the quality of the open space 
and the sylvan character of the site will be retained. The proposed development will also result 
in new tree planting which will ensure succession of trees on the site and will also ensure the 
on-going management of the trees as part of the estate. On balance therefore given the removal 
of some trees but the maintenance of the existing and the new succession planting I consider 
that the weight to be given to trees on the site is neutral.

Noise

(137) The A2 lies to the south west of the application site, and as a consequence the southern 
and south western sections of the site experience significant levels of noise disturbance. This 
fact has played a pivotal role in the evolution of the design and layout of the development. Noise 
levels in the south of the site have precluded having private amenity areas relating to new build 
houses abutting the A2 or Oakfield Lane. Therefore, the southern section of the site is almost 
entirely apartments to enable the buildings to act as a noise barrier. 

(138) The applicant has sought to reduce the degree of noise pollution entering the site from 
the A2 by retaining the belts of trees along the south western and western boundaries of the 
site in the first instance. On the south-western boundary closest to the A2 this will be reinforced 
by locating two-storey flats over garage buildings, which will have a single aspect, and the gaps 
between these buildings at the back of the open parking space will be acoustic fencing.  The 
acoustic fencing needs to be 4m high to adequately reduce noise but these will be faced with 
3m high ivy screens on both sides of the fence in order to minimise the visual impact of the 
fencing inside and outside of the site. As this barrier will also be set behind the existing trees, I 
am satisfied that it should not be prominent in the landscaping once the under-storey planting 
and the ivy matures. Some noise mitigation is also required along Oakfield Lane, since this is 
a road with existing residential dwellings along it and the development is focussed around 
Kingsfield House, I have suggested that a brick wall be erected along this frontage so that is 
has the appearance of an estate boundary to the Mansion House and provides a quality 
appearance on the street scene. This wall needs to be 2.4m high brick wall in order to reduce 
noise levels in the south east section of the site, it has been designed so that it is set back at 
the entrance and at points along its length to reduce its impact and allow tree planting in front 
of the wall.

(139) In addition to the barriers to noise, the applicant has designed the apartments in the 
south of the site so as to ensure minimal noise disturbance to future residents. The flats over 
garages are single aspect and whilst the apartments are dual aspect, the main living 
accommodation widows / openings are located in the northern façades of the buildings. This 
ensures they are screened from the noisy roads to the south / south west and future residents 
would be able to open windows in relative peace and quiet. For this same reason the balconies 
for the apartments in blocks A, B, D, E, F and G are all located on the northern facades of the 
buildings, to ensure that these private amenity spaces are afforded adequate noise protection. 

(140) The Environmental Health officer has expressed concern over the external amenity 
area provision of some of the apartments in block C on the basis of the noise assessment 
results, but has not looked at the detailed design of the apartments. The majority of the 
balconies for the apartments in block C face northwards and the daytime and night time noise 
models show them not exceeding 50db, which is considered to be acceptable and would not 
harm the amenities of future occupiers. However, the southern first floor apartment in this block 
would have two balconies, one to facing to the north and one on the western flank of the 
building. The north facing balcony wouldn't experience any negative noise impacts, whereas 
the western balcony would be located in an area exceeding the 55db and would experience 
some noise issues. I am of the opinion that were this the only amenity space for the said 
apartment, then the amenities of future residents may be detrimentally affected. However, as 



the said apartment has two balconies, one of which complies with noise guidelines, the 
occupants have a choice as to which one to use and therefore the proposal does not result in 
unacceptable impact on amenity and is not in my view contrary to Policy DP5.  I also consider 
it important to note that all the other private amenity areas within the entire development are 
considered to be acceptable by the Environmental Health department. 

(141) The internal noise levels for all the properties within the development would adhere to 
necessary BS standards, to be achieved by using appropriate glazing in the windows and doors. 
The glazing for windows in the south facing elevations of apartments in the south of the site, 
serving secondary bedrooms and non-habitable spaces, would need to have more specialist 
acoustic glazing. Therefore, I consider it appropriate to condition the glazing details for the 
proposed dwellings.  The Environmental Health department are also happy that these 
apartments have purge ventilation, especially as highlighted previously the main living areas 
open out into the site on the north side of the building.  I consider therefore that the noise 
impacts from the A2 can be satisfactorily mitigated and a satisfactory level of noise amenity is 
provided for the occupants of the development and the proposal therefore accords with Policy 
DP5.  There is no harm resulting from the proposal with regard to this and therefore noise is 
neutral in the planning balance.

Air quality

(142) The Council’s Environmental officer has confirmed that there would no detrimental 
impact on the site from poor air quality. However, they advise that NPPF Paragraph 181 states 
that:  “Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with 
relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air 
Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual 
sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, 
such as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and 
enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be considered at the plan-making 
stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be reconsidered when 
determining individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new 
development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local 
air quality action plan.” They recommend therefore that mitigation should be provided to off-set 
any additional emissions arising from traffic generated by the development.

(143) I have already considered the location of the site and concluded that it is within 
reasonable walking distance of a number of facilities and services and therefore complies with 
the adopted Local Plan objectives for new housing development to be located where a car is 
not necessary to access local facilities. The Transport Assessment demonstrates that the 
limited impact from the development can be mitigated in terms of contributing to queue lengths 
and these road improvements will also improve queue lengths at the junction for other users. 
Air quality arising from the development will therefore be directly-related to fossil fuel engines 
in the cars on the site. The most effective way to deal with this is in my opinion to remove the 
emissions as far as possible by encouraging greater use of electrical vehicles. The adopted 
parking SPD requires that residential dwellings with on-plot parking (e.g. Drives and garages) 
should provide electric vehicle charging points on plot which is relevant to many of the houses 
proposed. For those properties with remote parking, in parking courts, I consider that ducting 
should be provided to enable the provision of electric charging points in the future and where 
feasible charging points could be provided in the shared bays.  I have suggested a condition 
be imposed requiring agreement of electric charging capacity on the site. I consider therefore 
that the air quality impact of the proposal is limited and will be impacted by improvements in 
engines and by encouraging the use of electric vehicles. I consider that the weight to be given 
this is therefore neutral.

Housing mix and density

(144) Policy CS18 states that on developments of more than 100 homes, there will be a 
presumption in favour of providing 70% of the dwellings as family houses of 2 bedrooms or 
more and 30% as flats. The proposed scheme is providing 67 houses (which equates to 43% 
of the dwellings) and 89 flats, including the Flats Over Garages (which equates to 57% of the 



dwellings).  However, I consider that there are reasons for the higher percentage of flats firstly, 
due to the conversion of Kingsfield House (which provides 28 apartments) and secondly the 
requirement to provide flatted accommodation in the south of the site, as opposed to houses, 
in order to ensure future residential amenity is protected from noise generated by the A2 and 
Oakfield Lane. The southern section of the site abutting the A2 and Oakfield Lane is not 
conducive for locating houses, due in part to the noise impact that would be had on the private 
amenity areas of any such housing. Allowing an increased percentage of flats within the 
proposal in order to allow the southern non-treed area of the site to be developed, enables trees 
on the remainder of the site to be protected and still maintains the level of dwellings required to 
deliver the value from the site required to fund the necessary North Kent College improvements, 
I therefore consider that there is justification in this instance for this variance from the aims of 
Policy CS18. I also consider it important to note that the majority of the proposed flats would 
have two or more bedrooms and would therefore be suitable for family accommodation.  Policy 
CS18 also requires that apartment where provided have a high standard of accommodation 
and the provision of private amenity space and access to outdoor community space. I am 
satisfied that the proposed development provides good quality private amenity space and 
access to quality open space. I consider therefore that the objectives of Policy CS18 have been 
met.

(145) Policy CS17 highlights that the density guidelines for a site in this location are between 
35 and 55 dwellings per hectare. The proposed scheme has a changing density across the site 
as you move north away from Oakfield Lane. The proposed flatted elements of the scheme in 
the south of the site have higher densities of 53 dwellings per hectare, with the houses to the 
north having much lower densities of between 29 - 36 dwellings per hectare. These densities 
all comply with Policy CS17. The conversion of Kingsfield House and the adjacent replacement 
block of apartments have higher density levels of 77 dwellings per hectare. However, this is a 
relatively small section of the site and the overall density of the application site would be 36.3 
dwellings per hectare which would comply with Policy CS17.  I consider the density mix within 
the proposal to be acceptable as it ensures that the scheme is not overdeveloped, with the 
houses having good quality private gardens, the apartments having access to good quality 
communal space and private balconies in most cases, and the entire site will be well 
landscaped so that the site will not appear or feel over-developed.  I am satisfied therefore that 
the requirements of Policy CS17 have been complied with.

Affordable Housing

(146) Policy CS19 requires the provision of 30% affordable housing on the site, with a mix of 
tenure. The proposed scheme would provide 24% affordable housing comprising 38 units (12 
x 1 and 2 bed apartments in blocks F and G in the south western corner of the development, 
17 x 1 and 2 bed apartments in block H adjacent to Kingsfield House, 2 x 2 bed FOG's, 3 x 2 
bed houses, and 4 x 3 bed houses also in the south west corner of the development). The 
applicants have recently confirmed that these units will be made up of 80% intermediate 
housing (shared ownership) and 20% affordable rented housing, which would comply with the 
tenure proportions set out in Policy CS19.  

(147)  Although the level of provision at 24% does not meet adopted policy the costings for 
the scheme assessed by the Council’s advisor, BPS, confirm that even if a 24% shared 
ownership only scheme it still would not cover the full cost of the education building. Since the 
sole purpose of the residential development is to enable the provision of the new education 
building by funding its costs, it would seem unreasonable to require a greater level of affordable 
housing provision which would lead to a further gap between the value of the residential land 
and the cost of the education building.

(148) An additional consideration with regard to the level of affordable housing provided is 
the government’s incentive, known as Vacant Building Credit. National policy provides an 
incentive for brownfield development on sites containing vacant buildings. Where a vacant 
building is brought back into any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building, 
the government advises that the developer should be offered a financial credit equivalent to the 
existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings when the local planning authority 



calculates any affordable housing contribution which will be sought. Affordable housing 
contributions are then only required for any increase in floorspace. 

(149)  National Planning Policy Guidance advises that “where there is an overall increase in 
floorspace in the proposed development, the local planning authority should calculate the 
amount of affordable housing contributions required from the development as set out in their 
Local Plan. A ‘credit’ should then be applied which is the equivalent of the gross floorspace of 
any relevant vacant buildings being brought back into use or demolished as part of the scheme 
and deducted from the overall affordable housing contribution calculation. This will apply in 
calculating either the number of affordable housing units to be provided within the development 
or where an equivalent financial contribution is being provided. The existing floorspace of a 
vacant building should be credited against the floorspace of the new development. For 
example, where a building with a gross floorspace of 8,000 square metre building is demolished 
as part of a proposed development with a gross floorspace of 10,000 square metres, any 
affordable housing contribution should be a fifth of what would normally be sought.”

(150) The applicant argues that Vacant Building Credit (VBC) is applicable in this instance 
as there are existing buildings that are to be demolished and replaced with new buildings. 
Consequently, they contend that the gross floorspace of the relevant vacant building(s) can be 
used as a 'credit' against any affordable housing contribution. Taking into account the various 
buildings to be demolished, the Vacant Building Credit on this scheme would result in the 
applicant having to provide 38 affordable units, which they are delivering. 

(151) The government’s policy is intended to incentivise brownfield development, including 
the reuse or redevelopment of empty and redundant buildings. The government advises that in 
considering how Vacant Building Credit should be applied Local Planning Authorities should 
have regard to the intention of national policy. Although I acknowledge that this site has some 
vacant buildings which are unlikely to be brought back into use and therefore it is beneficial to 
bring forward an alternative viable use, I am minded that this site falls within the Green Belt and 
is also partially undeveloped open space. I consider that it is not appropriate to use the Vacant 
Building Credit approach in this case. But I do give it some weight however, in that the proposal 
does result in the replacement of a number of vacant buildings which serve no purpose and are 
a financial burden on North Kent College in terms of maintenance and security. The proposal 
would bring forward active use, and remove buildings that have reached the end of their life as 
well as the provision of 38 units of affordable housing.

 (152) I consider it also important to note that the design of the scheme has ensured a high 
quality finish throughout the scheme and as a result I am of the opinion that the development 
is 'tenure blind' and affordable housing dwellings are indistinguishable from private market 
housing.

(153) On balance I consider that the lower provision of affordable housing is necessary to 
ensure adequate funding for the education building but that the provision of 38 affordable 
housing units, 20% of which will be affordable rented (which complies with planning policy), is 
still a benefit of the scheme and although I do not consider the Vacant Building Credit is 
appropriate to apply in this instance the overall scheme does result in the beneficial removal or 
conversion of redundant buildings. I consider that the provision of 24% affordable housing( the 
difference being 9 units from the required 30%) which meets the planning policy tenure mix 
merits some positive weight in the planning balance.

Open spaces 

(154) The Core Strategy requires any site over 2 hectares and below 20 hectares to provide 
20% of its area to be provided as open space which provides a contribution to the Green Grid 
network. The proposed development would provide approximately 25% of the site area as 
public open space and therefore satisfies the Policy CS14 in this regard. The centre of the 
application site will contain a large green public open space (known as Kingsfield Green) that 
would provide an attractive green setting for Kingsfield House and a focal point of the 
development that respects the historic landscape of the site. The scheme has been designed 
around retaining as much green open space and as much of the existing treescape as possible. 



A large green corridor will run through the site from Oakfield Lane in the south right up to the 
houses in the north of the site, and in addition to this: significant areas of open space and 
landscaping will also be retained along the south western and western boundaries of the site. 
All of which would help improve the openness of the site and create green vistas and ecological 
corridors through the development to link to trees and open spaces beyond. All of the proposed 
green spaces would be easily accessible by either existing or proposed footpaths opening up 
these areas of former private open space and linking them to the Green Grid network and the 
adjacent Public Rights of Way.

(155) The significant landscaped green spaces to be situated along the boundaries with the 
A2 and the adjacent Golf Club not only ensure the retention of green open space, but they will 
also act as a buffer and help screen the built development from wider views within the Green 
Belt. 

(156) Within the public open space provision proposed, there will be a small area of formal 
play space provision within Kingsfield Green, and several 'fitness stations' throughout the site, 
with a reference back to the sporting heritage of the site. These facilities will, I consider, benefit 
the amenities of both future residents and existing local residents. The exact details relating to 
play space provision and the 'fitness centres' should be secured, I would suggest through the 
landscaping condition. 

(157) In addition to the above mentioned public open space provision, policies CS17, CS18 
and DP8 all require private amenity space to be provided. CS17 requires 'useable private 
amenity space, usually provided as a garden in family houses'. Whilst policy DP8 states that all 
sites for new dwellings shall provide a range of 'useable size and good quality of private amenity 
spaces (including residential gardens and balconies). The policy advises that development will 
not be permitted where provision is insufficient in these respects; or where garden space for 
storage, access to daylight and direct sunlight, or privacy, overlooking and overshadowing is 
unacceptable'.  I am of the opinion that all of the proposed gardens would be pleasant and 
useable private amenity spaces and would not prejudice the living environment of any future 
occupiers. I also consider that the proposed balconies and patios would be useable pleasant 
amenity spaces. Consequently, I believe that all of the proposed amenity areas are still 
acceptable and meet the objectives of planning policy. 

Layout and design

(158) The layout of this residential development has as explained been influenced by several 
factors, including enhancing the setting of Kingsfield House, providing a central green open 
space within the site, retaining as many trees on site as possible, and responding to the noise 
constraints in the south of the site. The proposed layout that results is best described as having 
several distinct character areas set around Kingsfield House and the green open space 
corridor. 

(159) I consider Kingsfield House and its surrounding setting to be the most influential feature 
on the layout to the south of the site. The ornate formal architecture of Kingsfield House has 
also influenced the style and appearance of all the buildings in the south of the site, as well as 
all of the properties which would face out onto Kingsfield Green. As highlighted previously within 
the report, as a response to noise constraints in the south of the site, the applicant has proposed 
a number of two and a half and three storey blocks of apartments that would run along the 
southern side of the proposed access road. Although differing slightly in their designs, the 
apartment blocks would have a sense of uniformity with their front gable features, brickwork to 
match Kingsfield House, slate roofs, and reconditioned stone work on the window heads and 
cills. The ornate Victorian architectural style of Kingsfield House also acts as an inspiration for 
the ornate design of the balconies on the apartments, particularly on blocks D and F. 

(160) The density of the scheme reduces moving westwards and northwards through the site. 
The two storey houses fronting onto Kingsfield Green are a mixture of detached and terraced 
properties which provide a defined active frontage facing out onto the public open space. The 
design of these houses also reflect the design and appearance of Kingsfield House by 
incorporating front gable features, small front box dormers, brickwork matching Kingsfield 



House, slate roofs, and again reconditioned stone work on the window heads and cills. During 
the evolution of the scheme I have ensured that the facades of both the apartments and houses 
facing towards Kingsfield House and the associated open space would have the same 
reconditioned stone detailing. I consider that the quality and sympathetic design of the 
apartments and houses facing Kingsfield House would ensure that the central and southern 
parts of the site would all be read as a distinct area, thereby creating a sense of space and 
place centred around Kingsfield House and therefore enhancing the setting of this historic 
house. 

(161) The tallest proposed building would be the 4 storey high apartment (proposed block H) 
to the east of Kingsfield House. As with all other buildings in the south of the site, the design of 
this property has been informed by the formal architecture of Kingsfield House. This building 
replaces the existing 4 storey addition to Kingsfield House, which is to be demolished. The new 
building is simple and subtle in its design which, I believe, ensures that it does not compete 
with the historic building and will not detract from the more ornate features of the southern 
section of Kingsfield House (including the main entrance and the former ballroom) but will 
appear sympathetic and secondary to the retained building. Proposed Block H has staggered 
facades which provide articulation to break up the mass of the building. The brickwork will match 
Kingsfield House and together with the use of reconditioned stone work and the ornate 
balconies on the apartments, will I believe make the proposed block H a sympathetic addition 
to the scheme. The area of open space to the east of Kingsfield House, containing the retained 
cedar tree, will provide an attractive setting at the entrance to the site for both Kingsfield House 
and block H and will create a semi private courtyard feel. 

(162) Moving away from the central Kingsfield Green area of the site, properties in the 
northern and western sections of the site are located on more spacious plots, and are generally 
larger detached and semi-detached two storey properties. The more open and spacious feel of 
these properties, is in my opinion, more suitable for this location which neighbours the adjoining 
open spaces of the Golf course. During ongoing discussions with the applicant I have ensured 
that a significant number of mature English Oaks are to be retained in these sections of the 
site, which has led to a more open and fluid configuration of properties in the north of the site 
creating a sylvan setting for these properties. 

(163) The proposal will also contain several semi-private spaces within the scheme, including 
a group of two and two and a half storey properties ,including Rose Cottage, in the north east 
of the site, that will read as a distinct courtyard development. 

(164) The layout of the scheme has been carefully designed and I am satisfied that the 
relationship and degree of separation between all of the properties will ensure that the privacy 
and outlook of the future residents will be protected. The privacy of the ground floor flats and 
houses would be maintained through a combination of planting and the use of 1.1m high metal 
railings.  I consider that the design quality of the scheme, the integration of the landscaping, 
and the creation of a sense of place is a positive benefit of the scheme.

Parking provision 

(165) The proposal will overall provide 293 parking spaces, which breaks down as 138 
parking spaces allocated for the proposed houses (including garages, on-site parking and 
allocated and unallocated courtyard parking), 104 parking spaces for the proposed apartments 
(including allocated and unallocated parking), 5 parking spaces for the proposed FOG's, 31 
visitor parking spaces and 15 van parking spaces which can also be used as visitor spaces. 

(166) I believe that the most appropriate way to assess the parking provision within the site 
is by assessing the usability and suitability of the proposed parking provision within each area 
of the development to ensure that it actually meets the needs of future residents as well 
complying with overall policy.

(167) The courtyard parking area to the south of blocks D - G would provide one allocated 
space for each for the twenty four apartments and four FOG's and a further twelve unallocated 
spaces and two visitor spaces for future residents and visitors to use. Therefore, I believe that 



the parking provision for these apartments would be sufficient. The parking courtyard adjacent 
to blocks A - C would also provide one allocated parking space for each apartment and three 
unallocated spaces, three van spaces and one visitor space for future residents to use. The 
said parking area also provides three van spaces for future residents and visitors to use. In 
addition there are visitor spaces on the street directly opposite the blocks. Therefore, I am of 
the opinion that the parking provision for blocks A - C is acceptable. 

(168) The private parking courtyards / areas for Kingsfield House and block H would break 
down as two parking spaces each for the 2 x 3 bed apartments in Kingsfield House and 1 space 
each for the remaining apartments. The three remaining unallocated spaces would be for use 
by anyone. I consider this to be an acceptable level of parking provision for these buildings 
when considered in the context of the additional visitor spaces provided in the public realm.

(169) With regard to the residential parking provision for the FOG's and houses within the 
development, having assessed the parking strategy plan, I am of the opinion that adequate 
parking provision has been provided for each FOG and house in the form of either on-plot or 
courtyard parking.

(170) The proposal would provide a considerable amount of visitor and van parking provision 
to the south of Kingsfield House and around Kingsfield Green, which I believe would provide 
acceptable visitor parking for Kingsfield House, block H and the houses which surround the 
green. In addition to this I have worked with the applicant to ensure that visitor and van parking 
is spread appropriately throughout the site, and I consider that this scheme achieves this goal. 
I also consider it important to note that additional on-street parking could also be 
accommodated throughout the site without creating any congestion or highway safety issues. 

(171) Therefore, I am of the opinion that the proposed scheme would be able to 
accommodate all the parking demand that would be generated within the application site, and 
would not therefore create any parking or congestion issues in the surrounding area and should 
provide a good level of provision meeting the adopted parking standards. 

Public Rights of Way

(172) I consider that a significant benefit of this development is the opening up of the public 
footpath which skirts around the western and northern boundaries of the site. At present I 
believe that the public footpath (DB27) has an extremely unpleasant character and I consider 
feels unsafe to use. It is enclosed completely between two palisade fences bounding the golf 
course and the College site. It is also significantly overgrown in a number of places and given 
its enclosed nature and the fact that it does not provide a direct or pleasant route I think it is 
unlikely to be used very often. It certainly does not, in my opinion, provide the expected 
characteristics of a route through Green Belt open space and would provide a poor user 
experience for walkers in the Green Belt. The proposal includes the removal of all of the 
palisade fencing along the boundary with the college site, which makes the path instantly more 
user friendly but in addition the public right of way will be edged by the retained landscape for 
most of its route. The exception to this is the northern- most corner of the site, where the new 
dwellings back onto the path. However, in response to comments by the PROW officer, the 
gardens to these houses have been reduced to provide an area of low deterrant landscaping 
adjacent to the PROW to continue to create a landscaped environment to the route. 

(173)  I am satisfied that the proposal would increase the amount of natural surveillance for 
the footpath, thereby increasing the safety of the PROW. The proposed scheme also provides 
a pedestrian link in the northern boundary of the site to the PROW, which would link up with 
pavements/ footpaths within the site, past the open space and then through to Oakfield Lane 
via the proposed pedestrian access. I consider that the proposed development will provide 
walkers a safe and attractive alternate route through the site avoiding the dog leg in the PROW.

(174) The proposal therefore improves the usability and amenity of the public footpath and 
provides an alternative shorter, safe route through the site. In light of these facts I do not 
consider that the development needs to provide any further mitigation with regard to the impacts 
of the scheme. I do not consider that the PROW officer’s request for a financial contribution 



meets the tests for a planning obligation as it is not necessary to make the scheme acceptable. 
Although the re- surfacing of the public footpath may be desirable it is not a need arising from 
the scheme itself.  

Drainage

(175) The site is located within a groundwater source protection zone 2, and as such the 
applicant needs to demonstrate that surface water can be disposed of without creating any 
contamination issues. The Environment Agency advises that the use of infiltration surface water 
drainage (as suggested by the applicant) may be acceptable in parts of the site but they need 
to see more details with regard to design and contamination before they can confirm that this 
is appropriate. They have therefore requested a condition that there is no infiltration of surface 
water drainage into the ground other than with the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
KCC SUDS have not objected to the principal of the proposal subject to a further details being 
provided. I would suggest therefore that a condition is imposed requesting further details of the 
surface water drainage system to be agreed prior to any groundworks and a condition to prevent 
any infiltration of the ground in the future without details being agreed. 

(176) Thames Water do not object to the proposal on either surface water drainage or foul 
water drainage grounds. They advise that if soakaways prove unsuitable in this location, that 
as long as the applicant follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water they 
would have no objection to the scheme. This includes where necessary potentially disposing of 
some surface / ground water into the public sewage infrastructure. Consequently, I believe it to 
be acceptable to condition surface water details to be provided providing these details are 
agreed before any groundworks start. 

Other issues

Impact on adjoining occupiers

(177) The A2 lies to the south west of the site in a cutting, to the north and west of the site 
there is a golf course and to the east of the site there is the North Kent College campus. The 
nearest adjoining residential properties are located to the south of the site on the opposite side 
of Oakfield Lane. The two and a half storey high apartment blocks A and B would be located 
between 26m and 28m away from the nearest properties in Oakfield Lane. The three storey 
high apartment block C would be located 22m away from the nearest residential property in 
Oakfield Lane, but enjoy an oblique relationship with the said house on the opposite side of 
Oakfield Lane so that there would be no direct views, tree planting in this location will further 
screen the new apartment block when this matures.  I consider that the degree of separation 
between the proposed apartments and the properties in Oakfield Lane is substantial and will 
ensure that the proposal would not appear overbearing or affect the privacy or amenities of 
neighbouring residents. 

Golf club

(178) The golf club has raised the issue of golf balls potentially entering the west of the site 
from the golf course. I have raised this with the applicants and Bellway have sought to arrange 
a meeting with the owners of the golf club but advise that they have not been successful.  
Bellway advise that they do not consider that this is a risk for the development. They advise 
that there should already be measures in place to stop balls entering in the college land and 
that it is the responsibility of the golf club to ensure that stray balls are contained within the 
existing site. I agree that the proposed development will not impact on the way the golf course 
is used and therefore there is no change in impact with regard to golf balls that the developer 
should be required to mitigate. With regards to surface water drainage issues raised by the golf 
club the applicant’s drainage engineers have provided a detailed reply but in summary advise 
that investigations have been undertaken of the area and although the area is naturally an area 
with good drainage(sand and chalk) there are pockets of clay that may affect drainage. In order 
to ensure there is no impact on the surrounding area the proposed drainage is deep bore 
soakaways which will ensure infiltration at a deeper level without any impact on adjacent sites. 
 The final drainage details are subject to approval by condition which will be considered by the 



KCC SuDs team, who will consider the impact of the drainage on adjacent sites, and also by 
the Environment Agency. I am satisfied therefore that there will be no harm to the golf club.

Land Contamination

(179) In accordance with Environment Agency and Environmental Health comments, I would 
recommend that conditions related to remediation of any contamination on the land and a 
subsequent verification report be imposed should Members be minded to grant planning 
permission. I am satisfied that should there be any localised contamination arising on the site 
this can be mitigated.

PLANNING OBLIGATION 

(180) Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 provides 
that a planning obligation can only constitute a reason for granting consent if the obligation is:

- necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
- directly related to the development; and
- fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

All applications must clearly demonstrate that any planning obligation that is used to justify the 
grant of consent must meet these three tests.

(181) As well as the Community Infrastructure Levy, if Members are minded to grant planning 
permission I would advise that a section 106 legal agreement is also required to deal with the 
direct impacts of this development.  I consider that the following issues are required to mitigate 
the impacts of the development:

i) Affordable housing: provision of 24% affordable housing (38 dwellings provided 
as 20% affordable rent and 80% shared ownership).

ii) Off-site highways: £10,000 paid to DBC (to be passed onto KCC when work is 
due to start) in order to pay for junction improvement works to be carried out 
by KCC on highways land

iii) Management of roads and public open space in perpetuity in accordance with 
details to be agreed. 

As the proposed residential development has been promoted as enabling development to 
deliver the education building and also the conversion of Kingsfield House, I consider it is also 
important that the legal agreement ensures that the residential development cannot come 
forward without the start on site of the education building and that the education building is 
completed once the residential development has commenced.  Bellway advise that they are 
required by the College to start works on site to remove the vacant buildings and that much of 
this work must be done over the summer period. In addition, Bellway cannot access some of 
the buildings until the college has new replacement facilities to move into. They also advise that 
they have step-in rights to complete the educational building should work stop for any reason, 
which I consider removes the risk that the college building will not be completed once 
development has started. I consider therefore that the following additional heads of terms 
should ensure that the projects come forward together and also meet the requirements of the 
tests set out above:

iv) Development to be dependant upon the education building coming forward:
- Bellway and North Kent College be obligated to start their projects 

simultaneously.
- No more than 75% of the residential development shall be occupied until 

the college building is completed.

v) Completion of conversion of Kingsfield House
- Works for the conversion of Block K shall commence prior to 80% of the 

occupation of the remainder of the development and shall be completed 
and available for occupation prior to the occupation of more than 90% of 
the residential development. 



FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(182) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(183) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of: 
Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development and in this case a chargeable area of £200 per square metres results 
in an approximate CIL liability of £1.7million (the final amount is subject to relief for affordable 
housing being sought) which subject to indexation will be paid on implementation. As Members 
are aware the CIL money achieved from developments goes into a pot and must be used to 
fund infrastructure to support development in the area, this includes new schools, health care 
provision and strategic junction improvements where the money will be paid to the authorities 
responsible for providing these services. I consider that this is a material consideration with 
regard to this proposal, as if the development were to commence, CIL monies received will 
assist in the delivery of infrastructure projects that supports local development.

(184) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(185) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(186) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS

(187) The proposal is considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt which is 
harmful by definition. However, I note that development is constrained to the south-west by the 
A2 and so there is no potential for any further sprawl south-west towards the rural area and the 
village of Wilmington. The south is already built up along the road and the east is the college 
campus so the potential for further sprawl as a result of this development is limited. The 
development would result in a reduction of the openness of the site but I note that not all of the 
site is currently open.  

(188) With regard to the 'other harms': Policy DP22(3) sets out criteria for assessing these: 
a) the extent of intensification of the use of the site; b) the impact of increased activity and 
disturbance resulting from the development, both on and off site, including traffic movement 
and parking, light pollution and noise; c) the impact on biodiversity and wildlife; d) the impact 
on visual amenity or character taking into account the extent of screening required; and e) 
impacts arising from infrastructure required by the development. I have assessed these issues 
and potential for other harms arising as well.

(189) In terms of (a) the extent of intensification of the use of the site, this does not have any 
impact on impact on local amenity but is solely related to the increase in built development and 
the impact on character and visual amenity. With regard to (d) the impact on visual amenity or 



character taking into account the extent of screening required: I have concluded that there 
would be limited harm to the overall impact of the development on the landscape character and 
the visual impact of the proposal is limited. The site is not designated as having any specific 
landscape value in local plan policy and therefore I attribute low weight to the limited harm 
arising to visual amenity and character of the area. This is outweighed by the improvements on 
the long distance views of the site and the character of this part of the Green Belt by the 
moderate weight given to the benefit gained by the removal of the 8-storey block on the long 
distance views across the Green Belt and the overall character and visual appearance of the 
area. I consider therefore in the planning balance this is neutral.

(190) With regard to b) the impact of increased activity and disturbance resulting from the 
development, both on and off site, including traffic movement and parking, light pollution and 
noise;  the proposal will not result in any harm to local amenity in terms of noise and disturbance 
and the assessment of the traffic impacts by the relevant Highways Authorities have concluded 
that the traffic can be accommodated on the local network and that where there is potential for 
traffic to queue this can be mitigated through off-site highway works which the developer has 
agreed to pay for. I am satisfied that there will be no harm arising from the increase activity. 
With regards to lighting, I have assessed this with regard to this impact on visual amenity.

(191) With regard to c) the impact on biodiversity and wildlife; I am satisfied that the potential 
for ecological harm on this site is limited and can be satisfactorily mitigated and that 
enhancements can be achieved which would weigh against these harms. I consider therefore 
that the ecological harms are therefore neutral in the planning balance.

(192) With regard to e) impacts arising from infrastructure required by the development, the 
impacts with regard to health, education and strategic transport infrastructure can be mitigated 
by proposals which are under consideration and which support funding from CIL will assist in 
delivering. I do not consider therefore there is any identifiable harm arising from the proposal 
with regard to infrastructure. With regards to green infrastructure I am satisfied therefore that 
the proposal will contribute to the green infrastructure in the area which is open and accessible 
to the public and will improve the quality of experience of the public right of way users and 
therefore I am satisfied that the proposal meets the requirements of Policy DP6(3). I consider 
this is a moderate benefit of the scheme.

(193) With consideration to other harms and impacts of the development, the proposal is a 
windfall housing site, but my assessment has concluded that the proposal accords with the 
criteria set out Policy DP6 and CS10 of the Local Plan and therefore does not result in harm in 
this regard.  I consider therefore that the loss of land available for use as a the playing pitch is 
balanced by the provision of modern facilities on the education campus which increased 
recreational provision at the site as a result of the first phases of the educational campus 
redevelopment combined with the fact that the need for a cricket pitch is not apparent and 
extensive works would be required to provide just one football pitch and of course the 
maintenance of this area for sporting facilities not required by the students will increase College 
maintenance costs further so is unlikely to be made available for use. In addition I consider that: 
the retention of much of the open space and trees; the opening up of this area to the public; 
and the integration of the PROW to the public open space through the removal of the palisade 
fence are benefits such that the overall impact of the development with regard to open space 
is neutral.

(194) With regard to the loss of some trees on site, I am satisfied that the majority of the trees 
are retained and in particular a significant proportion of the good quality trees are retained and 
on balance therefore given the removal of some trees but the maintenance of the existing and 
the new succession planting I consider that the weight to be given to trees on the site is neutral.

(195) I am satisfied that the layout of the site and design of the buildings is a high quality and 
residents will have a good level of amenity, with the noise impacts mitigated by the design. I 
consider the proposal complies with the Local Plan policies with regard to design, layout and 
amenity.



(196) On balance I consider that the lower provision of affordable housing at 20% is 
necessary to ensure adequate funding for the education building but that the provision of 38 
affordable housing units, 20% of which will be affordable rented (which complies with planning 
policy), is still a benefit of the scheme and although I do not consider the Vacant Building Credit 
is appropriate to apply in this instance the overall scheme does result in the beneficial removal 
or conversion of redundant buildings. I consider that the provision of 24% affordable housing 
which meets the planning policy tenure mix merits some positive weight in the planning balance.

(197) There are two key aspects I consider which weigh heavily in favour of the development. 
Firstly I consider that very substantial weight should be given to the education benefits to North 
Kent College arising from the funds raised by the sale and development of the site for residential 
as proposed by this application.  Assessment of the College finances and the costs of the 
scheme confirm that there is no viable alternative to fund the new education building. I consider 
that North Kent College is an important asset in the Borough providing a choice of sixth form 
and further education for young people in the Borough without requiring them to travel long 
distances and the skills provided by the College contribute to economic benefits in the Borough. 
I consider therefore there is significant public benefit to the provision of these new education 
facilities. In addition the development is partly on that part of the education campus containing 
ageing buildings and the redevelopment of these buildings, which are unlikely to be suitable for 
cost effective re-use, provides further benefit in reducing cost and maintenance, security risk 
and removing the potential for blight in this area due to dereliction.   Secondly I consider that 
given the importance of Kingsfield House with respect to the Country’s sporting and social 
history and the poor condition of this building at present, the reuse and repair of this building, 
when combined with the retention of trees connected to the site’s history and the substantial 
improvements to the setting of Kingsfield House I consider that this also weighs heavily in the 
planning balance.

(198) In conclusion, I consider that the definitional harm to the Green Belt must be given very 
substantial weight in consideration of an application for inappropriate development but the 
effect of this harm, with regards to the application site, in terms of openness and purposes of 
the Green Belt lessen the weight attributed to this matter in my opinion. I consider that the 
improvements to the accessibility of the site and users of the public right of way will improve 
the experience of the Green Belt in this area and should be considered as a benefit of the 
scheme and given moderate weight. Other matters assessed do not result in any harms arising 
and I consider that other planning policies have been complied with so these are neutral in the 
balance.  I consider that the provision of replacement modern education facilities for North Kent 
College and the removal of deteriorating buildings should be given very substantial weight 
which together with the additional substantial weight arising from the benefit of the conversion 
and re-use of Kingsfield House in my opinion outweigh the identified harm to the Green Belt 
and therefore justify the proposal on the basis of very special circumstances.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(199) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is Schedule 2 development. A screening opinion has been 
adopted which concludes that the proposal is not EIA development'.

REFERRAL TO SECRETARY OF STATE

(200) The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 requires local 
planning authorities in England to consult the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission for development which includes inappropriate development in the Green Belt where 
the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the development 
is 1,000 square metres or more and also for playing field development where the land has at 
any time in the five years before the application is received been used by an educational 
institution as a playing field and where Sport England has been consulted and has made 
representations objecting to the whole or part of the development.

(201) Where a local planning authority does not propose to refuse an application for planning 
permission to which this Direction applies, the authority shall consult the Secretary of State. 



Where a local planning authority is required to consult the Secretary of State, they shall not 
grant planning permission on the application until the expiry of a period of 21 days beginning 
with the date which the Secretary of State tells the authority in writing is the date the consultation 
has been received.

RECOMMENDATION:

Planning permission be granted for the reasons set out in the report subject to:

- the following conditions with delegated authority being given to the 
Development Manager to make minor wording changes for clarity.

- a s106 legal agreement being completed within 3 months of the date of 
this meeting in accordance with the heads of terms set out above at 
paragraph 181, points i-v.

- Consultation with the Secretary of State and subject to the Council being 
notified that the application will not be called in or the application not being 
called in and the expiration of 21 days from the Secretary of State's receipt 
of the referral documents

CONDITIONS:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years 
from the date of this permission.

01. In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: 
To be inserted in update report

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 No development, including demolition works, shall take place until the applicant, or 
their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
building recording in accordance with a written specification and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be 
implemented as approved. 

03 To ensure that historic building features are properly examined and recorded in 
accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan. 

04 Prior to the commencement of development the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, will secure and implement:

a) geo-archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification 
and written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority; and 

b) further geo-archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined 
by the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority

04 To ensure that features of geo-archaeological interest are properly examined and 
recorded in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

05 Before commencement of any building operations on site, details of the following 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and implemented 
in accordance with the details approved:



a) Archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable; and

b) any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in situ of important 
archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable.

05. To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any 
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through 
preservation in situ or by record in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

06 Groundworks for the new development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable 
surface water drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in 
writing by) the local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall 
demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall 
durations and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 
year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of the site 
without increase to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme shall also 
demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use and construction can 
be adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters. The 
drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 
to first occupation of the development (or within an agreed implementation schedule).

06 To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 
surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of 
on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required prior to 
the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the proposal, 
the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the 
development. In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of 
the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017) and the protection of Controlled Waters

07 Before commencement of any building operations on site, a contaminated land 
assessment, including a site investigation and remediation methodology (if necessary) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  If during any works 
contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified then the 
additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any remediation details shall be 
implemented as approved.  

07 This detail is needed prior to development to ensure that any remediation is carried 
out before groundworks start and in the interests of safety and amenity in accordance 
with Policy DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017) and the protection of 
Controlled Waters.

08 Prior to commencement of any construction or site clearance works a landscaping 
scheme of hard and soft landscaping and a landscape management plan, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

-  Details of soft landscaping

-  The landscaping scheme shall be designed to provide appropriate 
habitats and movement corridors for amphibians, reptiles, birds, and 
invertebrates and forage opportunities for bats;  

-  Details shall be included of the soil substrate of the areas to be 
landscaped;  

-  Details shall include arboricultural management proposals for the 



existing trees to be retained; replacement tree planting and under-
storey planting of the retained landscaped areas;

-  the landscape management plans should include long-term design 
objectives; long –term management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all landscaped areas and habitat; 

-  The relationship of the development to the Public Right of Way; 

-  Details of hard landscaping, footpaths and street furniture and 
exercise / play equipment.

- phasing and implementation programme

The landscaping shall be implemented in accordance with the approved programme 
and shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  Such 
landscaping shall thereafter be retained for a period of five years. Any trees, shrubs 
or grassed areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
within this period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants of 
similar species and size to that approved. 

08 To safeguard the visual amenities and enhance the biodiversity of the site in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy and Policies DP2 and DP25 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan

09 Before commencement of any building operations on site (including demolition and 
delivery of associated machinery or materials) or removal of trees on site  details of a 
bat mitigation strategy and monitoring scheme (to include a programme of 
implementation) with regard to use of trees by bats shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The mitigation strategy, monitoring scheme and 
programme of implementation shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.

09 To ensure the continued presence of protected species on the site in accordance with 
Policy DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

10 No development shall take place (including any ground works, site or vegetation 
clearance) until a method statement for the precautionary removal of vegetation to 
protect common toads and west European hedgehogs from harm has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The works shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.

10 To ensure the continued presence of protected species on the site in accordance with 
Policy DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

11 Prior to commencement of any construction or site clearance works an ecological 
design strategy (EDS) shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority, addressing: 

1. Retention and protection of existing habitats during construction; 
2. Provision for wildlife corridors and habitat connectivity; 
3. Creation, restoration and enhancement of semi-natural habitats. 

The EDS shall include the following: 
• Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works. 
• Review of site potential and constraints. 
• Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives. 
• Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and 
plans. 
• Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native 
species of local provenance. 



• Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the 
proposed phasing of development. 
• Persons responsible for implementing the works. 
• Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance. 
• Details for monitoring and remedial measures. 

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all 
features shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 

11 To ensure the preservation and satisfactory replacement of habitats on the site in 
accordance with Policy DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

12 Before the development hereby approved reaches slab level, details and samples of 
all materials to be used externally, including windows, doors and balconies shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

12 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing buildings or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 
of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

13 Before the development hereby approved reaches slab level, details of noise 
attenuation glazing required by the Noise Assessment by Mayer Brown, August 2018 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Any such scheme 
shall detail the calculated effects of the proposed attenuation measures to meet the 
levels set out in the approved Noise Assessment. The approved windows and glazing 
shall be implemented prior to occupation of the relevant dwelling hereby approved and 
thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

13 To ensure acceptable noise levels in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local 
Plan.

14 Before commencement of any building operations on site (including demolition and 
delivery of associated machinery or materials) tree protection measures shall be 
erected around all retained/protected trees in accordance with details to be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. At all times until the completion of 
each of the phases of development, such fencing and protection measures shall be 
retained as approved. Within all fenced areas, soil levels shall remain unaltered and 
the land kept free of vehicles, plant, materials and debris.  

14 To prevent damage to the trees in the interest of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

15 Prior to commencement of any building operations on site, details of construction 
methodology for those parts of the development falling within the Root Protection Areas 
of the retained trees shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority 
and such works shall be carried out in full accordance with the details agreed.

15 To prevent damage to the trees in the interest of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

16 No development above the ground shall take place until details of a lighting scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

16 To protect the visual amenity of the area and the ecology in the area in accordance 
with Policies DP2 and DP25.



17 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout 
the construction period. The Statement shall stipulate a scheme for:

-  on site parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicle, site 
personnel and visitors; 
-  routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from the site;
-  timings of deliveries; 
-  loading and unloading of plant and materials;
-  storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
-  the erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
-  measures to control the emission of dust, dirt, noise and vibration during 
construction including wheel washing; 
-  a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works; 
-  delivery times, demolition and construction working hours; 
- Siting of the construction compound and buildings
-  temporary traffic management / signage. 

17 To protect the amenity of local residential occupiers, to prevent pollution and to 
maintain conditions of highway safety in accordance with Policies DP4 and DP5 of 
the Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

18         All site operatives will be given a toolbox talk in relation to the possibility of 
encountering bats during works to the buildings, in accordance with the details 
contained in Section 5.0 and Appendix A of the Addendum Bat Report dated 
November 2018, as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in 
principle with the Local Planning Authority prior to determination.

18 To ensure the continued presence of protected species on the site in accordance with
             Policy DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

19 No construction work shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.

19   To protect the amenities of the residents of nearby dwellings in accordance with
            Policies DP5 and DP20 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

20   Details of any sales offices and associated vehicular accesses and parking required in 
            connection with development hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved by 
            the Local Planning Authority prior to their implementation and shall then be carried out 
            in accordance with the approved details.

20   In the interests of amenity and highway safety in accordance with Policy DP5 of the 
            adopted Dartford Local Plan.

21 Prior to first occupation, the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, will secure 
the implementation and completion of a programme of archaeological post excavation 
and publication work in accordance with a written specification and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

21 To ensure that results of archaeological investigation are properly assessed and 
disseminated in accordance with NPPF (paragraph 141)

22 Prior to first occupation, the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, will secure 
the implementation of a programme of heritage interpretation in accordance with a 
written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the 



Local Planning Authority.

22 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded in 
accordance with NPPF

23 No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the Oakfield Lane access to the 
site has been provided in accordance with Figure 3.1 Rev B within the approved 
Transport Statement showing visibility splays of 2.4m by 43m which shall be 
maintained with no obstruction exceeding 600mm within the splays. 

23 In order to ensure that the development does not prejudice the free flow of traffic and 
condition of safety on the highway nor cause inconvenience to other highway users in 
accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

24 No dwelling shall be occupied until the 4.0m timber fence with ivy clad screen and the 
2.4m brick wall along Oakfield Lane have been implemented in accordance with 
details submitted to and approved by the local planning authority and such boundary 
treatment shall thereafter be maintained in order to provided adequate noise 
attenuation. 

24 To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the enjoyment by 
neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the appearance of the locality in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

25 No building hereby permitted in any phase shall be occupied until an operation and 
maintenance manual for the proposed sustainable drainage scheme is submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The manual at a minimum 
shall include the following details:

• A description of the drainage system and it's key components
• A general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and 
critical features clearly marked
• An approximate timetable for the implementation of the drainage system
• Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS 
component, and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities
• Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, 
including the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the 
sustainable drainage system throughout its lifetime

25 To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality on/off the 
site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after construction), as per 
the requirements of paragraph 165 of the NPPF (July 2018) and the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage

26 No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining 
to the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, 
has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable 
operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately managed, as 
approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain information and 
evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets 
and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction 
including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and 
topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features.

26 To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is 
compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework. 



27 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of bollards or knee 
rails or other appropriate means of enclosure shall be submitted with regard to 
protection of the landscape areas in order to prevent car parking beneath the retained 
trees. Such details shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority and development 
shall be carried out and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details.

27 In order to ensure the protection of the existing and proposed trees and landscaping 
and in the interests of ecology in accordance with Policy DP2 and DP25 of the adopted 
Local Plan

28 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the following windows shall 
be obscure glazed with a minimum obscurity level of 3 as referred to in the Pilkington 
Texture Glass Range leaflet, or nearest equivalent as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

(i) The windows in the flank elevations of block D (except for the ground floor 
bedroom window).

(ii) The windows in the eastern flank elevation of block E. 

(iii) The windows in the western flank elevation of block F (except for the ground 
floor bedroom window). 

(iv) The windows in the eastern flank elevation of block G. 

(v) The windows in the western flank of the building at plot 18. 

(vi) The window in the southern flank of the building at plot 73. 

(vii) The first floor flank windows of the buildings at plots 82 and 83. 

The obscured glazing shall be maintained as such thereafter.

28 To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents in accordance with Policy DP5 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

29 No more than 50 of the dwellings hereby approved shall be occupied until such time as 
the emergency access onto Oakfield Lane is available for use and shall be maintained 
as such in perpetuity.

29 In order to ensure access to and from the development at all times by both general 
vehicles and emergency vehicles.

30      The fencing and boundary enclosures hereby approved shall be implemented prior to 
          the occupation of the dwelling they relate to or in accordance with amended details to 
          have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Such boundary 
          treatments shall thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details

30     To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the enjoyment by 
         neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the appearance of the locality in 
         accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

31         No more than 75% of dwellings hereby approved shall be occupied until the palisade 
             fencing along the boundary of the site has been removed unless otherwise agreed in 
             writing by the local planning authority.

31         In the interests of the character of the area and  the visual amenity of the Public Right 
             of Way.



32 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a Community Travel Plan is 
to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and should provide 
a framework to manage and encourage future residents to travel by sustainable 
means. This shall include: 

-  measures to be taken to encourage walking, cycling, use of public transport 
and reduce car travel by residents / visitors;  
-  welcome pack details;
-  Monitoring and review. 

The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
implementation programme.

32 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policy DP4 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

33 Prior to the occupation of dwellings using the relevant access and parking the visibility 
splays shown on the drawings 3.5 Rev B, 3.6 Rev B, 3.7 Rev B, 3.8 Rev B, 3.9 Rev 
B, 3.10 Rev B, 3.11 Rev B and Figure 3.12 Rev B, 3.13 Rev B, 3.14 Rev B and 3.15 
Rev B within the Transport Statement shall be provided and thereafter maintained 
with no obstructions over 0.6 metres above carriageway level within the splays, 

33 In order to ensure that the development does not prejudice the free flow of traffic and 
condition of safety on the highway nor cause inconvenience to other highway users in 
accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

34 Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, details of electric vehicle 
charging points and passive connections for future provision shall be submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority. Such electric vehicle charging points 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

34 In the order to mitigate air quality in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local 
Plan in accordable with the adopted Parking Standards 2012 SPD.

35 Prior to occupation of each dwelling or block hereby approved, weatherproof storage 
for bicycles shall be provided in accordance with details to have been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority beforehand.  Such facilities shall be 
maintained thereafter.

35 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

36 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until evidence has 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that measures to achieve 
internal water usage rates of not more than 110 litres per person per day have been 
implemented and signed off under Building Regulations 2015 (or any subsequent 
amendments).

36 In accordance with the requirements of Policy DP11 of the adopted Dartford Local 
Plan.

37 Before occupation the new build dwellings shall comply with Building Regulations:  Part 
M4 (2) accessible and adaptable dwellings. Evidence of compliance shall be notified to 
the building control body appointed for the development in the appropriate Full Plans 
application or Building Notice to enable the building control body to check compliance.

37 In accordance with the requirements of Policy DP8 of the adopted Dartford Local 
Plan.

38 Prior to the occupation of any building details shall be submitted and approved in writing 



by the local planning authority for the installation of fixed telecommunication 
infrastructure and High Speed Fibre Optic (minimal internal speed of 100mb) 
connections to multi-point destinations and all buildings. This shall provide sufficient 
capacity, including duct size to cater for all phases of development with sufficient 
flexibility to meet the needs of future residents. The infrastructure shall be laid out in 
accordance with the approved details and shall be available to residents on first 
occupation.

38 To provide telecommunication infrastructure to meet the demands of the future 
residents.

Kingsfield House

39 Prior to the commencement of any works on Kingsfield House hereby approved, 
details of the proposed sound insulation and noise reduction methods proposed 
(between the proposed apartments) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, and the agreed sound insulation and noise reduction 
details shall be implemented and maintained in perpetuity before the apartments are 
first occupied.

39 To safeguard the amenities of future residents, in accordance with Policy DP5 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan. Such details have not yet been provided and need to be 
agreed before works start to ensure acceptable sound proofing is installed within the 
development.

40 Prior to commencement a full specification of works for the conversion of Kingsfield 
House shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Such specification of works shall include but not be exclusive to:

- Retention of historic detailing, including mouldings, staircases, balconies, 
fireplaces (internally and externally), and detail of its repair/replacement ;

- details of doors and window frames including sections through the reveals and 
frames.

The works shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the details agreed.

40 To safeguard the character and appearance of Kingsfield House in accordance with 
Policies DP2 and DP12 of the adopted Local Plan. 

41 The garages, car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the 
approved plans shall be provided prior to occupation of the buildings in accordance 
with the details hereby approved, those spaces shown to be unallocated or for visitor 
use shall not be conveyed to individual property owners. All parking and garaging  
shall be kept available for such use at all times and no development, whether 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access 
thereto.

41 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

42 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no 
extensions, alterations or other form of enlargement to the residential development 
hereby permitted shall take place without the prior written permission of the Local 
Planning Authority.

42 The site falls within the Green Belt and additional development should be assessed by 
the Local Planning Authority to ensure that it does not result in harm in accordance with 
Policy DP2 and DP22 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan. 



43 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no building 
shall be erected in the curtilage of any dwelling hereby approved, with the exception of 
no more than one building of less than 10 cubic metres, without the prior permission of 
the Local Planning Authority.

43 The site falls within the Green Belt and additional development should be assessed by 
the Local Planning Authority to ensure that it does not result in harm in accordance with 
Policy DP2 and DP22 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan. 

44 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no windows 
or other similar openings shall be constructed in the buildings other than as hereby 
approved, without the prior written consent of or on behalf of the Local Planning Authority.

44 The development has been designed specifically to prevent overlooking and loss of 
privacy but the relationship of the houses could result in loss of privacy should additional 
windows be inserted without consideration of the local planning authority in accordance 
with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan

45 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no erection 
or demolition of boundary walls, fences or other means of enclosure shall take place 
unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

45 In the interests of the visual amenity of the development, the setting of the non-
designated Kingsfield House and the openness of the Green Belt and in order to protect 
the amenity of neighbouring residents in accordance with DP2, DP12 and DP22 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

46 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no satellite 
antennae or television aerials shall be erected on any elevation of an apartment block 
hereby permitted unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

46 In the interests of the visual amenity of the development in accordance with Policy DP2 
of the adopted Local Plan.

47      Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted
          other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority which may 
          be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
          resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in 
          accordance with the approved details.

47      To avoid adverse impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone and principal 
          aquifer. through mobilisation of contamination or creation of new pathways and to 
          accord with policy DP5 of the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

INFORMATIVES

01 If planning permission is granted for the development which is the subject of this 
notice, liability for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment is likely to arise.  
Persons with an interest in the land are advised to consult the CIL guide on Dartford 
Council's Website (http://tinyurl.com/DartfordCIL) for information on the charge and 
any exemptions or relief, and to submit the relevant forms (available from 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil) to the Council before commencement to avoid 



additional interest or surcharges.  If liable, a CIL Liability Notice will be sent detailing 
the charges, which will be registered as a local land charge against the relevant land.

02 It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established 
in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority.  
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do 
not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 
'highway land'. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have 'highway rights' over the topsoil.  Information about how to clarify the highway 
boundary can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-
after/highway-land. The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the 
approved plans agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation and 
common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and 
Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

03 The developer is advised to consider the information contained within the 
Environment Agency's letter in respect of piling and risks to groundwater and material 
waste management.

04 Kent County Council recommends that all developers work with a telecommunication 
partner or subcontractor in the early stages of planning for any new development to 
make sure that Next Generation Access Broadband is a fundamental part of the 
project. Access to superfast broadband should be thought of as an essential utility for 
all new homes and businesses and given the same importance as water or power in 
any development design. Please liaise with a telecom provider to decide the 
appropriate solution for this development and the availability of the nearest 
connection point to high speed broadband. We understand that major 
telecommunication providers are now offering Next Generation Access Broadband 
connections free of charge to the developer. For advice on how to proceed with 
providing access to superfast broadband please contact broadband@kent.gov.uk

05 No furniture, fence, barrier or other structure may be erected on or across the Public 
Right of Way without the express consent of the Highway Authority. There must be no 
disturbance of the surface of the Public Right of Way, or obstruction of its use, either 
during or following any approved development without the express consent of the 
Highway Authority. No hedging or shrubs should be planted within 1 metre of the 
edge of the Public Right of Way. Any planning consent given confers no consent or 
right to close or divert any Public Right of Way at any time without the express 
permission of the Highway Authority.

06 No tree or shrub removal or clearance works shall take place between 1st March and 
31st August inclusive in any year unless otherwise agreed in writing the Local 
Planning Authority.

07 The applicant is advised to contact Environmental Health on 01322 343434 for 
technical advice with regards to the submission of noise attenuation measures and a 
contaminated land closure report.

08 New street name(s) and/or property numbers will be required for this development. 
Please apply as soon as possible as this process involves lengthy consultations.   
Please contact the Property Information Officer on: 01322 343434.

09 The developer is advised that it is an offence to intentionally kill, injure or capture 
bats, deliberately disturb bats (whether in roost or not), recklessly disturb roosting 
bats or obstruct access to their roots, damage or destroy bat roosts.

mailto:broadband@kent.gov.uk


10 Kent Police Designing Out Crime Team recommend that the following are 
incorporated into the final design:
 Access control systems for the apartments. 
 Where doorsets and windows are to be replaced in the refurbished buildings, 

they should conform to SBD bronze and Approved Document Q (ADQ) 
specifications where applicable.  Doorsets, windows, patio and balcony doors 
should be certified to PAS24:2016 SBD specifications as detailed in the SBD 
Homes 2016 guide. 

 Where internal garage doorsets are installed, these should conform to SBD 
specifications. 

 Vulnerable windows, which can be easily reached e.g. above flat roof porches, 
should also be certified to PAS24:2016. 

They recommend the developer meet them to discuss the detail and any formal 
applications e.g. SBD and the SBD National Building Approval Scheme.

11 Thames Water advise that they will aim to provide customers with a minimum 
pressure of 10m head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres / minute at the point 
where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this 
minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.

12 The applicant is advised that this permission is granted subject to the requirements 
and contributions as set out in the accompanying completed Section 106 agreement.

13 For the avoidance of doubt the following documents have been taken into account 
when considering this application as well as those forming part of the approved 
documents:
To be completed in update report.



North West Kent College

Golf Course

A 2

Hulseleigh

35.4m

35.7m
Jodrell

Games Courts

Squirrels Court

CR

Villa Rosa

Westpoint

Highview

Allotment Gardens

A 2

@ A4° 1:2,500

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01176/FUL

Address : North Kent College Oakfield Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2JT

Date: 31 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01351/FUL Officer: Matthew Apperley

Location: North Kent College
Oakfield Lane
Dartford
Kent
DA1 2JT

Proposal: Demolition of the existing buildings and erection of a college building 
comprising 2,836 sqm of educational floor space and the provision of 
associated infrastructure including drainage works, open space, fencing and 
landscaping

Applicant: Mr Lawrence Jenkins

Agent: Savills/Ben Thomas

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Princes

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application site occupies an area of approximately 9 hectares and occupies the 
majority of the larger North Kent College Dartford campus. The application site is located 
approximately 1.43 km to the south west of Dartford town centre, within the Green Belt. The 
site where the proposed education building is to be located is situated in the northern section 
of the campus and currently contains a large hard surfaced area and a temporary single storey 
teaching accommodation building. The said hard surfaced area also contained until about 3 - 4 
years ago a collection of single storey temporary teaching buildings. Within the confines of the 
College there is an attenuation pond immediately to the north of the proposed building, a very 
large two and a half storey high sports hall and educational building (block S) to the west, a 
large hard surfaced car park area to the east, and a part one / part two storey high tri-modular 
building which now houses Bright Beginnings Nursery. The Nursery moved to its current 
location from buildings in the western section of the college campus (within the application site 
of application reference 18/01176/FUL), in September 2018. 

(2) The remainder of the application site contains a variety of educational and other college 
buildings ranging in height from single storey up to three stories in height, including the two 
storey high Miskin Theatre building to the south west of the proposed building location, and the 
large 'L-shaped' three storey high block B which fronts Oakfield Lane. The campus also 
contains large areas of car parking, a very large sports pitch in the eastern section of the site 
(containing two football pitches and a training pitch) and landscaping (including a protected 
wooded area to the south east of the proposed building location). 

(3) To the west of the application site is the remainder of the existing North Kent College 
campus, which forms the site for application reference 18/01176/FUL and contains a variety of 
vacant and semi vacant dilapidated buildings, which include Kingsfield House and an eight 
storey high former education block. The western section of the college site also includes an 
unused cricket pitch and a mixture of grassland and wooded areas. 



(4) The application site is enclosed by an eclectic mix of residential properties to the north 
east, east and south. To the north of the application site is Dartford Golf Club, and to the west 
is the proposed residential site and beyond that the golf course. 

THE PROPOSAL

(5) North Kent College is seeking to develop a new academic building on its campus in 
order to provide a much needed up to date and bespoke training space for students studying 
the performing arts and digital design. The new building would be financed solely via the 
proceeds of the land disposal of the western section of the existing campus to Bellway Homes 
should planning permission be granted for this. The planning application for the residential 
development is also currently being determined by the Council under application reference 
18/00716/FUL. 

(6) The proposed two and a half storey high educational building would be 68.22m wide 
and 21.87m deep. It would have a flat roof height of 10.8m above ground level, with the north 
western corner of the building increasing in height to 13.36m above ground level to 
accommodate a plant room. The proposed educational building would accommodate 3 dance 
studios, a musical theatre, a new refectory and kitchen, changing rooms, toilets, staff room and 
storage at ground floor level, and 5 music rooms, a rehearsal room, a venue space, 6 large 
graphic design / animation rooms, offices, toilets and storage rooms at first floor level. 

(7) The proposal would also create newly contoured landscaped areas around the building 
consisting of natural grasses and lawn. The building would also have a small hard landscaped 
seating area / veranda leading off the rectory. 

(8) It is not proposed that the accommodation would provide for any more students, as 
these new facilities are to provide modern accommodation to replace existing out-dated and 
deteriorating accommodation already on the site.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(9) North Kent College's Dartford campus contains an eclectic mix of properties with a 
variety of ages. Educational facilities first started at the site with Madame Osterberg Physical 
Training College in the 19th Century operating from Kingsfield House. This Victorian mansion 
was subject to some early twentieth century additions, but a number of further buildings were 
added to the site during the 1960's by Greenwich University, including the eight storey tower 
block (block D) and a number of two and three storey high buildings throughout the centre of 
the campus. There were some later additions to the site in the 1990's including the building 
which now houses the Miskin Theatre. 

(10) The tri-modular part one / part two storey building located to the south of the proposed 
building was approved in 1999 under application reference 99/00196/FUL. As highlighted 
previously in the report this building now houses the day nursery.  

(11) In November 2007 permission was granted for the complete redevelopment of the 
college incorporating the demolition of the existing buildings on site except for Block K and the 
erection of a number of large buildings to provide teaching and associated administration 
accommodation, a replacement theatre and sports facilities, revised car parking, landscaping 
and temporary teaching accommodation (application reference 07/00947/OUT). This 
permission was renewed in December 2010 under application reference 10/01177/OUT. 
However, due to cuts to Government funding the college was not able to build out the entire 
development. Although they did manage to build the large two and a half storey high sport 
centre building (known as block S or the Osterberg Sports Centre) and the large three storey 
high 'L-shaped' block fronting Oakfield Lane (known as block B). The football pitches and 
training pitch in the eastern side of the site, were also approved under this permission. 



CONSULTATION RESPONSES

(12) Environmental Health: No objections subject to the imposition of a condition requiring 
a phased contaminated land investigation be placed upon any permission. 

(13) KCC PROW: No objections. 

(14) KCC Minerals and Waste: No comments. 

(15) Kent Highway Services: Have required confirmation that there are no additional 
students. [The applicants have advised this as part of the application but KCC would like this 
addressed in the transport statement.] I will report their final comments in the update report.

(16) Thames Water: Advise that with regard to sewerage infrastructure capacity, they would 
not have any objection to the above planning application on the basis of information provided, 
Thames Water state that with regard to water infrastructure capacity, they would not have any 
objection to the above planning application. They suggest adding an informative relating to the 
responsibilities of building near mains water pipes. 

(17) Environment Agency: No objections subject to the imposition of conditions relating to 
contamination, surface water infiltration and piling / penetrative foundation designs  upon any 
permission. 

(18) KCC SUDS: No objections as they consider the proposed development to be a low risk 
as it will decrease the impermeable area on site and would connect to the existing drainage 
network. 

(19) KCC Heritage:  Advise that the site of the new building is not in an area which was part 
of the original Osterberg College but does have some potential to contain early pre-historic 
remains. Whilst they recognise that the proposed building lies in an area which has been 
developed recently and there is a large attenuation pond immediately adjacent to the site, they 
request conditions relating to archaeological field evaluations and building recording are 
imposed upon any permission.

(20) KCC Biodiversity: No objections subject to the imposition of a condition requiring 
ecological enhancements and an informative relating to breeding birds are included within any 
permission. 

(21) Council's Tree Consultant: No objections to the proposal as there are no trees on either 
the footprint of the proposed building or the extent of the proposed works. He advises that a 
construction management plan condition is imposed upon any permission, which should ensure 
that all the activities, materials and plant are restrained within the building site and do not harm 
any other trees within the North Kent College grounds. 

(22) Wilmington Parish Council: Object to the proposal on the following grounds:

- The proposal would be located on Green Belt the purpose of which is to check 
unrestricted sprawl of built up areas. 

- The proposal would result in the loss of open space and views across the site. 

- The proposal would cause an intensification of the site. 
- Green Belt land has already been lost due to school expansions in Wilmington. 

- The proposal would place increased and unacceptable pressure on the local 
highway. 



REPRESENTATIONS 

(23) A total of 2 letters of objection and 1 letter of support have been received. The letters 
of objection raise in summary the following issues:

- Dartford's housing supply is already planned for on brownfield sites, and 
therefore building houses on the Green Belt to pay for a college addition would 
be unacceptable. 

- The proposal would add to congestion in the area at peak periods, when there 
is a lot of traffic from college users, schools and commuters.  

The letter of support raises in summary the following issues:

- The implementation of the proposed housing development in the west of the 
college campus would allow North Kent College to significantly improve 
teaching facilities at the college. Thus, strengthening the future role of the 
college in the future and allowing them to continue to help the lives of children. 

- The improved new facilities at the college would provide unique Very Special 
Circumstances for allowing the proposed housing development in application 
18/01176/FUL. 

RELEVANT POLICIES 

(24) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(25) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy 2011

CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS9: Skills and Training
CS13: Green Belt
CS15: Managing Transport Demand
CS22: Community Services
CS23: Minimising Carbon Emissions

(26) Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017

DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection
DP21: Community Facilities
DP22: Green Belt in the Borough
DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement

(27) Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2012)

(28) The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a material consideration



COMMENT

Key Issues

(29) The key issues in relation to the determination of this application are:  the principle of 
development with regard to Green Belt, the education need, the character and visual impact of 
the proposal, the impact on the amenities of the adjoining occupiers; and parking and highway 
safety issues. 

Green Belt 

(30) The application site is located within the Green Belt, along with the rest of the college 
grounds. Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that the government "attaches great importance to 
Green Belts" with the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy being to "prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness 
and their permanence." 

(31) The NPPF and Local Plan Policies CS13 and DP22 recognise that the construction of 
new buildings is generally inappropriate within the Green Belt. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF 
highlights that there are some exceptions to this, which include limited infilling or the partial 
redevelopment of previously developed land, subject to the proposed works not having a 
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development. Although the 
application site would be considered to be previously developed land (as per the definition in 
the NPPF glossary) I do not consider that the proposal would comply with any of the exception 
tests as set out in the NPPF, as the proposed building would be larger than the existing single 
storey building on the development site, and would thus have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt than the existing development. Therefore, I am of the opinion that the proposal 
should be considered to be inappropriate development within the Green Belt. 

(32) Paragraph 143 of the NPPF confirms that "inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances." 
Paragraph 144 advises further that substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green 
Belt, and that 'very special circumstances' will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green 
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. 

(33) As highlighted previously in the report, the main characteristics of the Green Belt are 
its openness and its permanence. In addition, as set out in paragraph 134 of the NPPF, the 
Green Belt has five purposes:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land. 

(34) Whilst the development site may be located within the Green Belt, I consider it 
important to note that the new building would be an infill development and would be seen in the 
context of a number of equally sized buildings. Given the development sites location in the 
centre of the college campus, surrounded by educational development, I do not consider that 
this particular section of Green Belt fulfils any of the above-mentioned purposes. 

(35) A significant proportion of the college grounds, including the location of the proposed 
educational building have been built upon, and provide little contribution to the openness and 
quality of the Green Belt.  I assess the impact of the proposal on the character and appearance 
of the Green Belt later in the report. 



(36) Having identified that the definitional harm to the Green Belt would be limited in terms 
of  the impact on openness and the purposes of the Green Belt, it is necessary to consider 
whether 'very special circumstances' exist that will outweigh this harm to the Green Belt, and 
any other potential harms that may be identified in this report.

(37) The educational need for the buildings is, I consider, a very special circumstance 
relevant to this application and I consider this more below. It is important that this application is 
considered on its merits regardless of the consideration of the development for residential use, 
as this is a separate application and in consideration of the educational building the finance to 
construct is not material to the consideration. The issue of financing construction has been put 
forward as a material consideration with regard to justifying the residential development.

(38) With regard to the "other harms" Policy DP22(3) sets out criteria for assessing these: 
a) the extent of intensification of the use of the site; b) the impact of increased activity and 
disturbance resulting from the development, both on and off site, including traffic movement 
and parking, light pollution and noise; c) the impact on biodiversity and wildlife; the impact on 
visual amenity or character taking into account the extent of screening required; impacts arising 
from infrastructure required by the development.

(39) I will assess these issues throughout the report and at the end will consider the planning 
balance to determine whether the harm to the Green Belt and other harms can be outweighed 
by the very special circumstances and other considerations.

Educational Need for the Accommodation

(40) The applicant has stated that North Kent College requires new teaching 
accommodation in order to provide appropriate education facilities for existing and future 
students of the college and to ensure the continued provision of high-quality education at the 
College in line with its current reputation. The said new teaching accommodation would replace 
the outdated and unsuitable educational and amenity facilities having to be maintained currently 
at significant expense, in a number of the buildings in the western section of the campus. The 
applicant has stated that the said buildings in the western section of the application site are 
placing a significant and unsustainable financial burden on the college in terms of their upkeep 
and in the loss of fees from reductions in student numbers due to poor quality teaching 
accommodation. This is very significant as it has serious consequences regarding the ability of 
the college to fund itself at a time when austerity is reducing financial support. The College also 
advise that they need a high standard of accommodation in order to attract students, as they 
are competing with other further education colleges outside of the area but also sixth forms at 
schools in the area.

(41) I consider that it is worth remembering that the college provide an education service to 
the Borough, and much of it provides sixth form facilities which reduces the pressure to expand 
existing schools in the area. North Kent College is the main provider of further education in the 
district and the quality of the educational offer at the College is acknowledged. Many of the 
existing buildings, which this facility seeks to replace on the campus are of poor quality and in 
my opinion are unsuited to the provision of a high standard of education and are unlikely to 
meet the expectations of prospective students. 

(42) The college advise that they cannot afford the upkeep of a number of dilapidated and 
vacant buildings in the western section of the campus. They advise that a 'do nothing' scenario 
is really an unacceptable option as the state of these buildings is getting worse and will continue 
to do so with no investment to either maintain them or demolish them. Any essential works 
would mean taking money away from necessary education provision, which is not acceptable.  
I consider that without the necessary new education facilities provided by the proposal, students 
may choose to study elsewhere which will significantly affect the viability of the college and 
harm a valuable community facility within the Borough. 

(43) I consider therefore that significant weight should be attributed to the educational needs 
of the college. Since the facilities provided in the new facility are to replace facilities on the 



Dartford campus and to meet the needs of courses run from this campus, I am satisfied that 
there could be no alternative location for the provision of such facilities. 

(44) The NPPF advises at paragraph 94 that "local planning authorities should take a 
proactive, positive and collaborative approach…. to development that will widen choice in 
education". Policy CS9 advises that the Council will work with partners to provide training in the 
skills required for future growth sectors. 

(45) Therefore, I consider that the provision of improved further education facilities in the 
Borough is important to meet the demands for community infrastructure in the Borough and 
provide a broad range of education. I consider therefore that the educational need to provide 
further an acceptable standard of teaching space and facilities is 'very special circumstance' 
that I attach substantial weight to. 

Impact on visual amenity and character

(46) Any physical development within the Green Belt, whether obvious or not, would have 
some impact on the openness. Whether that impact is either acceptable or unacceptable is a 
matter of fact or degree based on the specifics of each case.  

(47) The applicant advises that the siting and orientation of the new college building has 
been carefully considered so as to minimise its impact on the openness of the Green Belt. As 
detailed above, the proposed building would be predominately located on an area of 
hardstanding, enclosed by existing academy / college buildings to the west and south. The 
building would therefore be viewed against the backdrop of the existing college buildings, set 
within a space that is enclosed by existing buildings and large areas of car parking. Further, as 
can be seen from the site plans, the footprint of the building would not extend beyond the 
building line of the college further to the north, south or west into the open areas of the site. 

(48) The applicant has submitted a views assessment considering the impact of the 
proposed building on longer distance views to the site, based on guidance from officers. The 
most sensitive views of the site are from the north western (from the golf course) and the eastern 
boundary of the site. The views from the west and south of the site are screened by the existing 
college buildings. From the Golf course there would not be a clear view of the new college 
building. The view would be partially obscured by a line of Pine Trees and an existing raised 
landscaped bund which assists to screen the new building. From the north east namely the 
view from rear gardens of Maple Road, it would be possible to view the new building. However 
there are trees and a landscaped bund located within the site that obscure the view. 
Furthermore, behind the new building would be the existing college campus and therefore the 
building would sit against a backdrop of the other buildings. From the views from the eastern 
boundary, the new building would be visible from the rear gardens of Maple Road. However 
many of the properties have screening in the form of trees and fencing that act as a boundary 
to the college. There are also areas of woodland located on the site that act as a visual barrier. 
However, behind the proposed location of the building would be the existing Sports Building 
and again the building would sit against this backdrop. I have considered the plans, sections 
and photomontages submitted and am satisfied that the proposed building would not have a 
negative impact on views into or out of the site and will not have a visual impact on the character 
and openness of the Green Belt.

(49) As such, I am satisfied that the siting of the development is the most appropriate 
location within the site in terms of limiting the impact of the proposed college building on the 
openness of the Green Belt. I consider this fact to be a significant benefit of the proposal. 

(50) I consider that the sympathetic scale and height of the proposed building, relative to 
the other buildings on the college campus, would ensure that it would not appear intrusive or 
incongruous within its immediate setting. The proposed building will form part of a cluster of 
college buildings and will be viewed in the context of the large sports hall building and other 
similar sized buildings on site such as the Miskin Theatre and the three storey high block B. 
Therefore, I consider that the building will sit comfortably within the existing height perimeters 
of the college. 



(51) I am of the opinion that the simple pallet of just a few materials combined with the 
neutral light tones of the metal cladding that would cover the majority of the building (including 
the view from the golf course) would ensure that the building would blend in with the surrounding 
buildings, which would further help to reduce its impact within the Green Belt. The small 
sections of darker coloured material (such as the cladding on the south west corner of the 
building) would not appear intrusive as they would face into the college site and provide a sense 
of interest. The applicant has only provided some material details and therefore I believe a 
materials condition should be placed upon any approval (Condition 08). 

(52) The proposal would also increase the amount of soft landscaping on the site, and I 
consider that this would help to soften the appearance of the building. The exact landscaping 
details should be secured by way of a condition upon any approval (Condition 11).

(53) In my view, the proposed layout, design, scale and appearance of the building 
represents the option which strikes the best balance between minimising intrusion into the 
Green Belt and providing sufficient accommodation and facilities to enable the college to deliver 
its educational model and operate successfully.

(54) I am satisfied that the proposed building will not result in any harm on visual impact or 
the character and appearance of the area.

Impact on adjoining residents

(55) The proposed building would be located at least 90m away from the nearest residential 
garden in Maple Road to the north east and approximately 120m away from the properties in 
Maple Road. The nearest residential properties in Oakfield Lane are located equally far away, 
and there would be a significant wooded area in between the Oakfield Lane residents and the 
proposed building. In addition, it is important to note that the uses located in the eastern section 
of the building, nearest the residential properties, are relatively quiet activities, with the music 
rooms located further away. Therefore, given the design and scale of the proposed building, 
combined with the significant degrees of separation between the educational building and the 
nearest residential neighbours I am of the opinion that the proposal would not harm any 
residential amenity and would not result in any impact with regard to noise and activity.

Impact on light pollution 

(56) The proposed building is sited within the college campus surrounded by other buildings 
and car parking and existing lighting. I am satisfied therefore it will not result in any additional 
impact with regard to light pollution.

Intensification of the use of the site and impact on traffic movements

(57) The applicant has confirmed that the proposed educational building would be replacing 
outdated facilities that are currently located in a number of buildings which are proposed to be 
demolished. Whilst the proposed buildings to be demolished in the western section of the site 
are of poor quality, hence the need for the new building, the proposal would actually represent 
a decrease in available D1 floor space on the college site. This fact combined with the 
assurance of the applicant that the proposal would not result in an increase in pupil or staff 
numbers, would I believe ensure that the proposal would not lead to a intensification of the use 
of the site.  

(58) The proposal would not result in increased demand for parking on site, and in any event 
the college has a number of underused parking areas such as the car park / hard surfaced area 
to the north east of the proposed building. Therefore, I do not consider that the proposal would 
result in any increased on street parking demand and would not result in increased congestion 
within the surrounding highway network. 



Impact on biodiversity and wildlife

(59) This particular part of the college campus contains little biodiversity of note, given the 
fact that it has been previously built on and is hard surfaced. However, I consider that the 
proposal does provide opportunities to improve the ecology of the area, which is a significant 
benefit of the proposal. KCC Biodiversity suggest that such things as bird boxes and 
hibernacular could all be incorporated within the scheme to boost biodiversity. Details of 
ecological enhancements I would suggest should be secured by way of a condition attached to 
any approval (Condition 12).

(60) There are no trees currently located where the proposed building and its associated 
landscaping is to be situated. There are protected trees on the college campus and in order to 
ensure that they are not damaged in any way during the construction process (i.e. via material 
being stored near them), I suggest that a construction methodology condition is placed upon 
any approval (Condition 06). Therefore, subject to the imposition of the above mentioned 
condition, I do not consider that the proposal would have any detrimental impact upon trees. 

Any Other Issues 

Archaeology

(61) The proposed building would be located within an area of the college campus which 
was not originally part of the Osterberg College and therefore potential for significant heritage 
assets in relation to Madam Osterberg and the physical education college are small. Therefore, 
I do not consider that the proposal would affect the heritage of the important and historic 
Bergman Osterberg Physical Training College.
 
(62) As previously highlighted within the report the proposed location of the building has 
already been built over and that in association with the surrounding works that have occurred 
over the years (including the adjacent attenuation pond) would likely mean that the site has 
likely been disturbed to some degree. However, KCC Heritage suggest that there may still be 
potential for early prehistoric and later remains and therefore recommend that conditions are 
added to any approval ensuring any archaeology is protected (Conditions 03 and 04).

Drainage

(63) The site is located within groundwater source protection zone 2, and as such the 
applicant would have to demonstrate that surface water can be disposed of without creating 
any contamination issues. The Environment Agency has stated that no infiltration of surface 
water drainage into the ground should be permitted other than with the prior consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. The applicant has assessed the site and is proposing to connect into 
an existing soakaway on site. KCC SUDS have not objected to the proposal as a result of the 
scheme reducing the amount of hard surfacing and the fact that the building will connect into 
the existing drainage network on site whilst also increasing the amount of landscaping on the 
site.  I would suggest that a condition is imposed as requested by the EA to ensure no further 
infiltration of the ground (Condition 15).

(64) Thames Water do not object to the proposal on either surface water drainage or foul 
water drainage grounds. If soakaways prove unsuitable in this location, then Thames Water 
have indicated that as long as the applicant follows the sequential approach to the disposal of 
surface water they would have no objection to the scheme. 

Energy Sustainability

(65) The applicant has stated that they have undertaken pre-assessment in relation to 
BREEAM criteria. However, a formal pre-assessment was not submitted as part of the 



application. I understand that the scheme may not achieve all the BREEAM 'very good' criteria 
but will implement many of the requirements of that standard.

PLANNING OBLIGATION 

(66) Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 provides 
that a planning obligation can only constitute a reason for granting consent if the obligation is:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

(67) All applications finally determined after the 6th April must clearly demonstrate that any 
planning obligation that is used to justify the grant of consent must meet the three tests.

(68) In this case the applicants have agreed that the planning permission can be directly 
linked to the residential development, to ensure that the housing does not come forward without 
the work going ahead on the education building due to the need for the residential development 
(18/01176/FUL) to provide enabling development. It is recommended therefore that if planning 
permission be granted it is subject to a section 106 agreement to link this application directly to 
the housing development proposed in application reference 18/01176/FUL as that would be an 
enabling development for the proposed education college building.  

(69) The applicant has agreed to all of the above obligations.  I am satisfied that they will all 
meet the three tests set out above.

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(70) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application. As this application is for an educational building, the 
Community Infrastructure levy is zero rate. As such I am satisfied  that the proposal would not 
generate any financial benefits.  

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(71) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(72) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSION AND REASONS FOR DECISION

(73) The proposed development is I consider inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
due to the scale of the building proposed as infill development. However, I identified that the 
definitional harm to the Green Belt would be limited in terms of the impact on openness and the 
purposes of the Green Belt. In considering additional harms against the criteria set out in DP22 
I am satisfied that the proposed building will not result in any harm on visual impact or the 
character and appearance of the area. I do not believe that there would be any adverse impact 
on neighbouring properties or the surrounding area and the proposal will not result in any harm 
with regard to noise or light pollution or biodiversity. Furthermore, I am of the opinion that as 



the proposed new educational building would not lead to increased pupil numbers, it would not 
result in any harm arising due to increased parking demands or traffic generation. I am satisfied 
that there are no other harms arising from the development. 
(74) I consider that significant weight should be attributed to the educational needs of the 
college. Since the facilities provided in the new facility are to replace poor quality facilities on 
the Dartford campus and to meet the needs of courses run from this campus,

(75)  I consider that the delivery of improvements to the college has significant weight in 
favour of the proposal, since there are no other harms arising and the harm to the purpose and 
openness of the Green belt is limited. I consider that the significant benefit of the development 
outweighs the harm to the Green Belt.  I recommend that planning permission is granted

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval for the reasons set out in the report and subject to a s106 as set out in the report 
and the following conditions:

Conditions

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents:

NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-L-1001 (Revision P04); NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-L-1003 (Revision 
P06); NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-L-1004 (Revision P06); NKC-BBA-Z0-GF-DR-A-2001 
(Revision P15); NKC-BBA-Z0-01-DR-A-2001 (Revision P15); NKC-BBA-Z0-RF-DR-A-
2001 (Revision P06) ; NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-3001 (Revision P18); NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-
DR-A-3002 (Revision P14); NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-4101 (Revision P08); NKC-BBA-
Z0-ZZ-DR-A-4102 (Revision P08); NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-A-4103 (Revision P07); NKC-
BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-L-6021 (Revision P01); NKC-BBA-Z0-GF-DR-A-6305 (Revision P05); 
NKC-BBA-Z0-01-DR-A-6305 (Revision P05); NKC-BBA-Z0-RF-DR-A-6305 (Revision 
P04); NKC-BBA-Z0-ZZ-DR-L-6306 (Revision P02), and the Eckersley O’Callaghan 
Drainage Straetgy & Flood Risk Assessment (dated 31st August 2018). 

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 No development, including demolition works, shall take place until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of building 
recording in accordance with a written specification and timetable which has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be 
implemented as approved.

03 To ensure that historic building features are properly examined and recorded in 
accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 Before commencement of any building operations on site, details of the following shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and implemented in 
accordance with the details approved:

1. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable; and

2. any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in situ of important 
archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable.



04 To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any 
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through 
preservation in situ or by record in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford 
Local Plan.

05 Before commencement of any building operations on site, a contaminated land 
assessment, including a site investigation and remediation methodology (if necessary) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  If during any works 
contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified then the additional 
contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority.  Any remediation details shall be implemented as 
approved.

05 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

06 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The Statement shall stipulate a scheme for:

-  on site parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicle, site 
personnel and visitors; 

-  routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from the site;
-  loading and unloading of plant and materials;
-  storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
-  the erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
-  measures to control the emission of dust, dirt, noise and vibration during 

construction including wheel washing; 
-  delivery times, demolition and construction working hours; 

06 To protect the amenity of local residential occupiers, to prevent pollution and to maintain 
conditions of highway safety in accordance with Policies DP4 and DP5 of the Dartford 
Development Policies Plan (2017).

07 If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been 
identified, then no further development shall be carried out (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) until the developer has submitted and received 
approval of an assessment of this unsuspected contamination together with an 
appropriate remediation scheme that is implemented as approved.

07 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

08 Before the development hereby approved reaches slab level, details and samples of all 
materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

08 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing buildings or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of 
the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

09 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a contaminated land closure 
report shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  This shall include photographic evidence.  Details of any post 
remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up 
criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.)



09 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

10 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, details of any proposed 
external lighting to be attached to the buildings or erected within the application site shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include 
siting, angles, levels of illumination and any shields.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

10 To protect the amenities of the area and in the interests of road safety in accordance with 
Policies DP2 and DP5 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan.

11 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a landscaping scheme 
including both hard and soft landscaping, shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to first occupation (unless this 
falls outside of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first 
opportunity during the following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  
Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  Any trees, 
shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased within this period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants 
of similar species and size to that approved.

11 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

12 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved bird and bat boxes shall be 
fixed to the building and log piles / hibernacula's erected in the development site in 
accordance with details to have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority beforehand. The boxes shall be maintained in accordance with the approved 
details.

12 In order to provide enhancement to biodiversity on the site in accordance with Policy 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan (2017).

13 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, on site facilities shall be 
provided within the curtilage of the site for the secure and weatherproof storage of 
bicycles in accordance with details to have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority beforehand.  Such facilities shall be maintained thereafter.

13 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

14 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority which may 
be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

14 To avoid adverse impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone and principal 
aquifer. through mobilisation of contamination or creation of new pathways and to accord 
with policy DP5 of the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

15 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

15 To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by 



mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

INFORMATIVES

01 The applicant is advised to contact Environmental Health on 01322 343434 for technical 
advice with regards to the submission of a contaminated land assessment and a 
contaminated land closure report.

02 Thames Water advise they will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 
10m head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres / minute at the point where it leaves 
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in 
the design of the proposed development.

03 The developer is advised to consider the information contained within the Environment 
Agency's letter in respect of piling and risks to groundwater and material waste 
management.

04 The applicant is advised that this permission is granted subject to the requirements and 
contributions as set out in the accompanying completed Section 106 agreement.



Allotment Gardens

31.7m

30.1m

31.8m

31.5m

35.7m

30.5m

30.2m

35.4m

32.3m

34.0m

29.5m

61.5m

29.6m

33.24m

Jodrell

Lodge

Games Courts

Kingsnorth

Wilmington Lodge

Westbrook House

Villa Rosa

Bracknell

Little G
ransden

Westpoint

Path (um)

Allotment Gardens

Allotment Gardens

30.2m

@ A4° 1:2,500

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01351/FUL

Address : North Kent College Oakfield Lane Dartford Kent DA1 2JT

Date: 1 February 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01584/FUL Officer: Steve Fraser-Lim

Location: UCC Coffee
Riverside Way
Dartford
Kent
DA1 5BS

Proposal: Erection of 1 No. detached demountable warehouse building for a temporary 
period until 31st December 2019 to replace fire-damaged building

Applicant: UCC Coffee UK

Agent: Planning And Design/Mr H Rathbone

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Joyce Green

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The site comprises an industrial building and roastery for the processing and roasting 
of coffee, surrounded by an associated hard surfaced car park, loading and servicing space. 
The site is accessed from Riverside Way and is bounded by an existing 2.4m high galvanised 
steel fence. The proposed temporary warehouse building is located on the site of a former 
warehouse building which was recently destroyed by fire, to the south of the main industrial 
building. The site is situated on the eastern fringe of the Riverside Industrial Estate and is 
adjoined by other one and two storey buildings within industrial use to the north, and on the 
opposite side of Riverside Way to the west and south. Two storey terraced houses and a three 
storey block of flats, as part of a recent large scale residential development on the GSK East 
site, are situated on the opposite side of Central Avenue to the east.

(2) The wider surrounding area is mixed in character and forms part of the Northern 
Gateway Opportunity Area, a short distance to the north of Dartford Town Centre. The area is 
undergoing significant change with new residential development under construction to the south 
and east, and new industrial development taking place further to the north. The site is within 
Flood Zone 3 and is also within an Area of Archaeological Potential and groundwater aquifer 
and source protection zone. 

THE PROPOSAL

(3) The proposals comprise the retention of a temporary warehouse building to re-provide 
storage capacity on site following the loss from fire damage of an existing warehouse building 
in October 2018. The proposed building is located to the south of the main coffee roaster 
building, and is to be sited on the concrete slab foundations of the building which was destroyed 
by fire. It would operate in a similar manner to the building which existed previously on site, 
providing storage for coffee products before and after roasting, prior to their transportation off 
site. 

(4) The application seeks retention of this temporary building on site for 1 year, up to 31st 
December 2019 to allow the business to continue to operate whilst proposals for a permanent 
replacement building are developed in further detail and planning permission gained for this. 



(5) It is noted that works have commenced on the construction of temporary buildings prior 
to determination of this application. This is regrettable, but is due to the applicant's urgent 
requirement for storage space on site, so that they can continue to operate following the fire. 
This application has been considered on the basis of material planning considerations, and no 
weight in the assessment has been given to the fact that the works have already commenced. 

(6) The temporary building which is the subject of this application is of simple industrial 
appearance with light grey profiled metal facades and pitched translucent UPVC roof. The 
building will be 7.5m in height to ridge level, 30m width, 30m in depth (900sqm floorspace) and 
set back 8.5m from the boundary of the site with Central Road. The building is smaller in 
footprint, and is set approximately 2m further in to the site from the eastern boundary than the 
previous building. However the proposed building is approximately 1m higher at ridge level than 
the building which it replaces.  

RELEVANT HISTORY

(7) Planning permission granted in November 2017 for installation of 1000KVA 
Transformer within a 6m by 4m fenced compound  to north-eastern corner of site with access 
gates from Central Road (ref: 17/01995/FUL)

(8) Planning permission granted June 2017 for Replacement of section of existing roof with 
a new roof 2.54m higher than existing for an area of 18m by 19.1m to accommodate new roaster 
and provision of new flues and relocation of existing compressor from east to north elevation 
(ref: 17/01996/FUL)

(9) Planning permission granted in March 2000 for erection of a second floor extension to 
offices (ref: 00/00059/FUL).

(10) Planning permission granted in November 1994 for erection of a two storey extension 
to provide offices and toilet facilities (ref: 94/00540/FUL).

(11) Planning permission granted in September 1994 for erection of a loading bay linking 
existing units (94/00495/FUL).

(12) Planning permission granted in January 1994 for erection of 2.4M High Metal Palisade 
Security Fencing and Gates (ref: 93/00562/FLA1).

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(13) Kent County Council Highways: The proposals replace an existing building which was 
destroyed by fire. Access and parking arrangements remain unchanged. Therefore no objection 
is raised in relation to the proposals. An informative is proposed with regard to establishment 
of the highway boundary.  

(14) Kent County Council Rights of Way: No objection but recommend an informative 
advising that there should be no stopping up, blocking, diversion or obstruction of the public 
highway.  

(15) Environment Agency: The Committee will be updated when comments are received. 

(16) Kent County Council Archaeology: No comments received at the time of writing this 
report.

(17) Environmental Health: No objection subject to conditions preventing installation of 
external plant/machinery/flues or vents without consent. 



NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(18) 40 neighbouring properties have been consulted.  8 responses have been received to 
date of which 7 are objections, raising the following issues: 

- Two fire incidents in 3 months points to negligence. The second fire occurred 
because waste was allowed to build up and was not cleared. 

- There has been no communication on the fires, which is surprising specifically 
considering the severity of the first incident. 

- The first fire was life threatening and residents were forced to evacuate, and 
could not return for some time due to smoke and odour. Residents live in fear 
that a fire could happen again.   

- The building has been constructed prior to residents being notified of the 
planning application. 

- The coffee factory causes noise and air pollution and is kept in an untidy 
condition. It should not be allowed to rebuild and should be used for local 
amenities.

(19) One letter comments that industry is required and will benefit the local economy. 
However it advises that businesses should take care with regard to fire safety and pollution.   

(20) Further comments will be reported in the update report as the deadline for response 
had not expired at the time of writing the report.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(21) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(22) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1: Spatial pattern of development
CS3: Northern gateway strategic site
CS7: Employment land and jobs
CS8: Economic change
CS23: Minimising carbon emissions
CS24: Flood risk

(23) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport impacts of development
DP4: Transport access and design
DP5: Environmental and amenity protection
DP11: Sustainability and construction
DP12: Historic environment strategy
DP20: Identified Employment Areas
DP25: Nature conservation and enhancement

(24) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(25) Northern Gateway Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(26) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  Sections: 2 (achieving sustainable 
development); 4 (decision making); 6 (building a strong competitive economy); 11 (making 
effective use of land); 12 (achieving well designed places); and 14 (climate change, flooding 
and coastal change) are all of relevance to the application. 



COMMENTS

Key Issues

(27) I consider that the key issues to be considered are: the principle of development; the 
impact on the character of the area; amenity of neighbours; building design, amenity of the area 
and flood risk.

Principle of proposed industrial development

(28) The site is situated within the Riverside Industrial Estate which itself is part of the 
designated Northern Gateway area priority area for development. Core Strategy Policy CS3 
identifies the Northern Gateway as suitable of accommodating 240 new homes and 1200 jobs 
in B1, B2 and B8 uses. Policy CS3(5) and policy CS7(1a)  notes that employment uses 
successfully operating on the site including at Riverside Industrial Estate will be protected whilst 
the demand for them exists. This is reiterated within the Northern Gateway SPD at paragraph 
4.8. As such there is broad policy support for continued employment use at the site.

(29) In addition the proposed building will replace a building which previously existed on site 
until destroyed by fire in October 2018. As such the proposals will not result in an increase in 
an expansion or increase in the intensity of the business operation from the site. The new 
building will allow the business to continue to operate in the same manner as was previously 
the case prior to the fire. As such the construction of a temporary industrial building at this site 
would be broadly in accordance with the aforementioned policies.     

Impact upon the appearance of the surrounding area

(30) Policy DP2 requires that design should respond to, reinforce and enhance positive 
aspects of the locality. Policy CS3(1k) promotes "development that reflects and interprets the 
riparian and industrial heritage associated with the area". The Northern Gateway SPD provides 
further guidance on the indicative heights of new development within the Northern Gateway 
Area. The SPD is silent on scale within the Riverside Industrial Estate but states that 
development of up to 3 storeys would be appropriate on the opposite side of Central Road to 
the east.   

(31) The proposed building at 7.5m in height to ridge height is approximately 1m greater in 
height than the previous building that was destroyed by fire, and is similar in height to the 
majority of the existing UCC coffee building which adjoins to the north, although the section of 
this building which accommodates the coffee roaster is greater in height. The height of the 
proposed building is also similar in height to 2/3 storey dwellings situated on the opposite side 
of Central Road to the east, and is also set back a significant distance from the eastern 
boundary of the site which will reduce its visual prominence. 

(32) The scale of the proposed building would therefore be broadly similar to the scale of 
development in the surrounding area and in accordance with the guidance within the Northern 
Gateway SPD. The appearance of the proposed building is of simple industrial character, with 
light grey profiled metal facades and translucent UPVC roof. As such the appearance of the 
proposed building, would be similar to many other industrial buildings within the industrial area, 
in accordance with the above policies.  

Impact upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers 

(33) Due to the set back of the proposed building from Central Road, it would not interject a 
25degree line taken from the ground floor windows of dwellings on the opposite side of Central 
Road to the east. As such the proposals would comply with this first stage method of 
assessment within the Building Research Establishment (BRE) Site Layout Planning for 
Daylight and Sunlight, a good practice guide (2011) and would not result in any undue loss of 
daylight or sunlight to neighbouring properties.  In addition the proposed building is smaller in 
footprint and set back further from the eastern boundary of the site, but is slightly greater in 
height than the fire damaged building which it replaces. As such any daylight / sunlight or 



outlook impacts would be less than that caused by the previous building on the site. The 
proposals would therefore not detract unduly upon daylight / sunlight or outlook of neighbouring 
property.   

Noise and odour

(34) Concerns have been raised by residents with regard to noise and odour caused by the 
existing business. However the proposed building will be used for storage and distribution 
purposes. It will not include any new plant or machinery which would result in an increase in 
noise or odour at the site. The proposals will not facilitate any significant expansion or 
intensification of the business, but simply allow the business to continue to operate in its current 
form. Any disturbance from the existing operation is not something which can be considered or 
controlled as part of this application, as this relates to the existing use, which has planning 
permission to operate in this manner. Although Members will recall that they granted planning 
permission in June 2018 for a new roaster at the site which the Council's environmental health 
officer considered would reduce the odour arising from the site. In addition, as part of that 
application the applicant undertook to relocate compressors on the site away from Central Road 
in order to reduce noise.

(35) In addition the building has been constructed with lightweight pre-fabricated steel 
frame, wall panels and roof, fixed the existing concrete slab of the previous building. As such 
the proposed construction would not require any noise generating construction activity such as 
excavations, ground works or cement mixing. This would ensure that noise levels generated 
during the construction phase will not be significant.  As such the pollution impacts of the 
proposal are considered acceptable, in accordance with policy DP4.  

Transport

(36) The proposed development would provide temporary storage facilities for the existing 
coffee roasting business and would allow it to operate in a similar manner to the situation before 
the previous warehouse building was destroyed by fire. Vehicle access and parking 
arrangements would remain as existing. As such the proposals would not result in any new 
vehicle movements or transport impacts in comparison to the previous situation prior to the fire. 

(37) The fire and loss of the warehouse storage on site, has resulted in a short term increase 
in delivery and servicing vehicle movements as goods have to be transported to off-site storage 
immediately after processing. The temporary storage facilities proposed as part of this 
application will allow vehicle movements to return to a similar level as previously occurred at 
the site, which would be an improvement over the current short term conditions. Kent County 
Council Highways officers do not raise any objections in relation to the application. As such I 
consider the proposals are in accordance with policy CS3 and DP4. 

Building Sustainability 

(38) The proposed building is temporary and will be retained on site for approximately 1 
year. As such given its temporary character it would not be feasible for it to be built to the same 
standards of energy efficiency as permanent buildings. However this is not a significant concern 
as the proposed building does not include any heating or cooling, and as such its temporary 
building fabric would not result in any increased energy wastage through heat loss / gain. The 
translucent roof will increase natural daylighting and reduce the need for artificial electric 
lighting. As such given the above considerations the proposals would be broadly in accordance 
with policy DP11.      

Flood risk

(39) The site is located within Flood Zone 3 and as such is at risk of flooding. Comments 
from the Environment Agency are still awaited. However the application is for a temporary 
building which will replace a previous warehouse building on the site. The proposed use is 
considered within the NPPF to be within the "less vulnerable" category, which is appropriate in 



principle within flood zone 3. As such the Sequential Test and, Exception Tests within the NPPF 
do not apply in this case. Given the above factors, it is considered that there is a low risk that 
the proposals would increase flood risk. However I will update Members in the update report 
once the consultation responses from the Environment Agency are received.

Archaeology

(40) The site is located within an area of Archaeological Potential. However no excavations 
or breaking out of the existing concrete base of the previous building is proposed, with only 
fixings proposed to fix the building on the concrete base. As such there will be no disturbance 
of archaeological deposits as a result of the proposals, in accordance with policy DP13. I do 
not consider therefore that any conditions need to be imposed with regard to archaeology.

Other matters 

(41) A number of concerns have been raised by residents, with regard to risk of fire from 
the site, given the recent history of fire, as well as lack of communication with adjoining 
residents as to the causes of the fires. These concerns are entirely understandable, particularly 
given the serious nature of the fire in October. However they are not material planning 
considerations for the purpose of this application. The temporary building will be required to 
comply with Building Regulations with regard to resistance to fire. In addition the applicants 
have been encouraged to engage in communications with neighbouring residents to explain 
the situation at the site, as well as giving residents an opportunity to comment on proposals for 
any permanent building at the pre-application stage.   

(42) Concerns that the works have commenced on the construction of temporary buildings 
prior to determination of this application are also noted. This is regrettable, but due to the 
applicant's urgent requirement for storage space on site, so that they can continue to operate 
following the fire. Retrospective applications are permitted within the planning system. This 
application has been considered on the basis all material planning considerations, and no 
weight in the assessment has been given to the fact that the works have already commenced. 

FINANCIAL BENEFITS
 
(43) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(44) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of:
Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development. However when the floorspace of the previous building is taken into 
account this would result in a chargeable area of 0.0 square metres, with a CIL liability of £0.0.  

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(45) The application has been considered in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(46) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.



ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(47) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017):

(i) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not considered   
necessary to require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(48) The proposed development would be inappropriate within this Identified Employment 
Area, would not result in undue impacts upon the amenity of neighbouring properties, transport 
impacts and would not detract from the appearance of the area and I consider is in accordance 
with adopted planning policy. 

RECOMMENDATION:

Grant planning permission

01 This permission shall be for a limited period, expiring on 31st December 2019. When the 
building and works carried out under this permission removed and the land reinstated to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

01 The building is of a temporary construction and to enable the Local Planning Authority to 
review the circumstances under which this permission was granted in accordance with 
Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents:
Existing Location Plan PDS/18/31/LOC1
Proposed Location Plan PDS/18/31/LOC2
Proposed plans and elevation PDS/18/31/1
Flood Risk Assessment for UCC Coffee  RAB:2140B dated 24-01-19

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 No structure, plant, equipment or machinery shall be placed, erected or installed on or 
above the roof or on external walls without the prior approval being given in writing by or 
on behalf of the Local Planning Authority.

03 In order not to prejudice the visual appearance of the building in accordance with Policy 
DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 All loading/unloading of goods and servicing to the premises shall take place within the 
curtilage of the site.

04 In the interests of highway safety and Policies DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford 
Local Plan.



INFORMATIVES

01 Kent County Council highways advise that it is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure 
before the development is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and 
consents where required are obtained and that the limits of the highway boundary are 
clearly established, in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the highway 
authority.   Across the County there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens 
that do not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 
'highway land'. Some of this land is owned by Kent County Council, while some are 
owned by third party owners. Irrespective of ownership, this land may have 'highways 
rights' over the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highways boundary can be 
found at: https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-
land/highway-boundary-enquiries



Riverside Industrial Estate

Works

5.1m

4.1m

4.4m

4.6m

4.7m

Path

BM 5.19m

C
EN

TR
AL R

O
A

D

RIVERSIDE WAY

A1

A4

LBs

11

to

1

Chy

Tanks

G4

G1

C
1 to C

2

H
1 to H

3
El Sub Sta

Tank

TCB

Tk

I1

I4

4.1m

Tanks

Chy

Tanks

Tanks

C
EN

TR
AL

 R
O

A
D Tank

TCB

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01584/FUL

Address : UCC Coffee Riverside Way Dartford Kent DA1 5BS

Date: 29 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01367/OUT Officer: Mrs Emma Eisinger

Location: Prospect Place 
Shellbank Lane
Bean
DA2 8AX

Proposal: Outline application for the demolition of the existing dwelling and outbuildings, 
and the erection of 2 pairs of semi-detached dwellings (4 units in total) with 
associated parking and amenity space (consideration of access only)

Applicant: Urban Enhance Ltd

Agent: TaDPlanning Ltd/Mrs Tracey Dixon

Parish / Ward: Bean Parish Council / Bean & Darenth

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of Outline Permission.

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application site lies within the village of Bean and is accessed via a narrow section 
of a rural lane - Shellbank Lane.  The site is surrounded to the north, south and west by mainly 
2 storey residential properties.  The site area totals 880 sq. m, is rectangular in shape and is 
relatively flat.  The boundaries of the site consist of 1.8m high close boarded fencing and mature 
vegetation to the rear and approx. 1.3m/1.7m high walls to the front of the site.  The existing 
dwelling to be demolished is 2 storey with a pitched roof and an approximate height of 9m.  
There are a number of single storey outbuildings to the rear/side of the site all of which would 
be demolished.  

THE PROPOSAL

(2) This application seeks outline planning permission for the demolition of an existing two 
storey dwelling and outbuildings (one of which has a lawful B1 use) and the erection of four 
dwellings.  An illustrative plan shows that the properties would be arranged as two pairs of 
semi-detached properties.  Each dwelling would be provided with parking at the front and a 
garden to the rear.  Access is taken from Shellbank Lane.  

(3) The proposal includes a very small section of land outside of the applicant's ownership. 
That land appears to be unregistered and left over from the housing development to the south 
and west but forms a critical link between an existing footway and a proposed new footway to 
the front of the application site.  The applicant has signed the correct ownership certificate to 
declare that some of the land falls outside of their ownership and advertised the application 
accordingly. 

(4) This application follows an outline planning approval for the development of this site for 
two dwellings under 17/01969/OUT.  The applicant is now seeking to maximise the use of the 
land and considers that four dwellings can be accommodated on the site.  



RELEVANT HISTORY

(5) 17/01969/OUT - Outline application for the demolition of the existing dwelling and 
outbuildings, and the erection of 2 x new detached dwellings with associated parking and 
amenity space.  Approved.

(6) 93/00520/FUL - Continued use of redundant agricultural building for B1 use and 
provision of associated parking and manoeuvring space. Approved.

(7) 88/00005/FUL - erection of a single storey side extension and provision of external 
cladding to existing building. Approved.

(8) 49/00168/FULA4 - Erection of a precast concrete barn.  Approved.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(9) The Environment Agency note that there is some risk of contamination at the site and 
they have no objection to the proposal subject to a condition to ensure that if contamination is 
found during construction, a remediation strategy is submitted and implemented.  

(10) KCC Highways have not provided specific comments on this application due to it's 
small scale.  However, for the 2017 application, they noted that they do not normally comment 
on a proposal of this scale but on being asked to consider the provision of a new footway link 
from the development to the existing footway to the south of the site, they requested that it had 
a minimum width of 1.5m but advised it could be 1.2m at the pinch point.  The footway will need 
to be provided within the applicant's land but should go through the KCC highways Section 278 
process so that it can become adoptable highway. 

(11) Thames Water note that the site lies within 15 metres of a pumping station.  They 
advise that they would object to a proposal that results in habitable rooms within 15 metres of 
a pumping station because of the potential for odour, light, vibration and/or noise.  They 
recommend a suitably worded informative should the application be approved. They note that 
any discharge of surface water to public sewers requires a permit and that there is sufficient 
capacity within the water network to serve the development. 

(12) Natural England have no comments on the proposal.

(13) KCC Biodiversity consider that sufficient information has been provided to consider the 
ecological impacts of the development. They advise that there is the potential for a low number 
of bats within the on-site building and therefore further emergence surveys are required which 
can be secured by condition.  In terms of reptiles, no further survey work is required due to the 
low potential for reptiles at this site.  However, they recommend a condition to secure a reptile 
mitigation strategy.  They also recommend that ecological enhancements are secured by 
condition. 

(14) Kent Fire and Rescue have no objection.  

(15) Bean Parish Council neither object nor support the application but comment that the 
road is narrow outside the property and there is a lack of passing places.  This would make the 
access to the property dangerous. 

(16) Environmental Health have no objection subject to requiring: an intrusive investigation 
into contaminated land, the restriction of the hours of construction, measures to prevent dust 
during construction, details of any lighting within the development and to require electric car 
charging points.   They also highlight the need to address the safe removal of asbestos from 
the site.



NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(17) Bean Residents Association consider that a two storey development would be 
unacceptable at this site.  They suggest that the footway is extended but consider that a 'kink' 
should be avoided by widening the road into the site.  They also consider that an existing 
hatched area is extended to provide a longer passing place.  They do not consider that the site 
is suitable for 4 dwellings, suggesting 3 are provided instead.

(18) Fourteen letters of objection have been received.  A summary of their comments is as 
follows:

- The dwellings should not exceed 1.5 storeys;
- Impact on natural lighting and privacy;
- Concern about buildings close to existing structures;
- Will there be sufficient turning space within the site?;
- The site is too small for the proposed development;
- There is no on-street parking available to support this development;
- There will be likely to be accidents on this narrow road which is often used as 

a 'rat-run';
- There is no continuous footway from the site to the High Street;
- Concern that the development might result in encroachment onto adjacent 

land;
- There is insufficient parking provided for the scale of development;
- The development would result in an increase in road congestion;
- The access is not safe;
- Traffic congestion during construction;
- There is no need for these additional dwellings given Dartford's strong 5 year 

housing land supply;
- Public transport opportunities from the application site are limited;
- Disturbance during construction.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(19) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(20) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS7: Employment Land and Jobs
CS10: Housing Provision
CS17: Design of Homes
CS18: Housing Mix
CS19: Affordable Housing 
CS23: Minimising Carbon Emissions
CS24: Flood Risk
CS25: Water Management

(21) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity
DP9: Local Housing Need
DP11: Sustainable Technology and Construction
DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement



(22) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(23) Housing Windfall Supplementary Planning Document 2014

(24) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  Paragraph 63 is of particular relevance to 
this application as it referred to the provision of affordable housing and notes that it should not 
be sought for non-major residential development other than in designated rural areas (where 
policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer).  Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states 
that existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted 
or made prior to the publication of the Framework.  Due weight should be given to them, 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework (the closer the policies in the plan 
to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(25) I consider the key issues to be the principle of the development (including windfall 
assessment), the impact on visual amenities, the impact on residential amenities (existing 
surrounding and future occupants), the impact on highway safety and amenity and the impact 
on ecology and biodiversity as well as other matters such as water efficiency, affordable 
housing, surface water drainage and contaminated land.

Principle of development

(26) The application site lies within the village of Bean and is outside of the Green Belt 
designation.  The provision of new dwellings on land that has not be identified for such 
development within the adopted Local Plan should be carefully considered against policies 
CS10, DP6 and DP7.  In addition, the Housing Windfall SPD is a material consideration.
 
(27) As the most up-to-date planning policy, Policy DP6 is the starting point now for 
considering windfall sites. Policy DP6 advises that unplanned windfall residential development 
may be permitted following assessment in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS10:4&5, as 
well as other development plan policies and material considerations.  CS10 4 directs 
assessments of windfall site to consider the sustainability of the site for housing development, 
whether the benefits outweigh the disbenefits of the scheme and the capacity of the 
infrastructure to serve the development.  CS10 5 identifies the need to monitor infrastructure 
and put measures in place to address concerns. Policy DP6 responds to this latter criterion to 
some extent.  

(28) It should also be noted that Policy DP6 directs new housing developments of 5 or more 
units to previously developed/brownfield land.  This is to ensure that the Core Strategy target 
of 80% of development on brownfield sites.  Although this proposal is only for 3 additional 
dwellings, directing development towards brownfield land is still preferable noting the wording 
at paragraph 9.21 in the supporting text to Policy DP6 - residential development of unplanned 
greenfield sites must only be exceptional.  Coupled with this is Policy DP7 which seeks to 
maintain garden land (classed as greenfield in built-up areas such as this).  I have carefully 
considered the history of this site and note that the large garage structure to the side of the 
existing dwelling has an established B1 use (93/00520/FUL).  This element of the application 
site is therefore considered to be previously developed/brownfield land as well as the existing 
dwelling.  The garage building occupies a very large area of the application site and would 
almost match the footprint of two of the proposed new dwellings.  As such, I give this factor 
significant weight in the assessment of this site for a new house. 

(29) The Council published a windfall sites supplementary planning document (SPD) in 
October 2014 which clarifies how Policy CS10 is to be assessed.  It seeks to ensure that windfall 
sites are considered against the same assessment criteria as the identified sites for the SHLAA. 



(30) In assessing the development against policies DP6 and CS10, I note that the 
supporting text to Policy DP6 recognises that the consideration to the needs for social, 
community and green infrastructure as required will relate to the scale of the development 
proposed. Whilst this is a relevant consideration for major sites this is difficult to consider on 
smaller sites such as this. I am of the opinion therefore that the main consideration with regard 
to the sustainability for this small site development is its location and access to services and 
facilities. 

(31) The applicant's agent has submitted a windfall assessment in support of this 
application.  I have already noted the brownfield status of part of the site (B1 outbuilding and 
existing dwelling) above.  The table submitted notes that the site is within easy walking distance 
(600m or less) to a local primary school, convenience store, GP surgery and children's play 
area.  The site is also within 400m and 850m of bus stops that provide regular services to a 
number of destinations. These distances have been verified by planning officers. The proposal 
would also provide an additional footway linking to the existing footway to the south of the site.  
This will provide safe and direct pedestrian access to the High Street (via the Fallowfield 
development) from the application site.  It is also possible that in the future, a further connection 
could be secured across the property to the north improving the accessibility of the site further 
and benefiting the Fallowfield residents also. 

(32) From the above windfall assessment, I consider that the site is sustainably located and 
provides additional footway along a narrow section of the rural lane.  This is a notable benefit 
weighing in favour of the development.    

(33) In terms of an overall assessment of the benefits vs the disbenefits of the proposal, I 
consider the disbenefits to be the cumulative impact of additional pressure from new unplanned 
housing development on local amenities and infrastructure but have not identified any more 
local disbenefits in terms of impacts on the surrounding residents, character and visual 
amenities as will be discussed in more detail below.  The benefit of providing additional 
dwellings is of course given some weight, although this will be very limited given the very small 
contribution to the supply of housing as well as the fact that DBC are in a very strong position 
in respect of its housing land supply and has a good record of housing delivery.  However, I 
consider that the disbenefits are significantly reduced by the sustainable location of the site with 
the benefit of the new footway and the small scale of the proposal.  I am also mindful that of the 
recent approval for the development of the site for 2 dwellings under 17/01969/OUT which 
accepted additional residential development on this site.  Overall, I consider that the 
development is an acceptable windfall scheme.  

(34) In terms of the loss of an existing B1 use, I note that Policy CS7 seeks to protect existing 
employment land.  However, the B1 unit is of such a small scale that any negative impact on 
local employment/economy would be very limited.  Its future use would be limited by the close 
proximity to the existing dwelling and shared parking and amenity space.  I therefore consider 
that the principle of an additional dwelling and loss of the B1 use at this site would be 
acceptable.

Visual amenities

(35) Details of the appearance, siting and scale of the dwellings, hard and soft landscaping 
are reserved for consideration under the detailed application which will need to follow on if 
outline planning permission is granted.  As such, a detailed assessment of the impact on visual 
amenities will take place at that stage.  However, given the mix of house types and designs in 
the area, I am confident that the site will be able to achieve a good quality design appropriate 
to the character of the area.  

(36) I note the concern from local residents in respect of the potential for 2 storey dwellings 
on this site.  The acceptability of a 2 storey development will be considered carefully at the 
reserved matters stage with the plans provided with the current outline application being 
illustrative only.  



(37) The illustrative plans show that there would be a large area of parking to the front of 
the site.  The parking arrangement will need to be carefully considered at the reserved matters 
stage to ensure that it does not lead to a large swath of unrelieved hardstanding.  However, I 
consider that there are opportunities for integral parking and the incorporation of soft 
landscaping to the front of the site which could be designed into the scheme at the reserved 
matters stage.  

Residential amenities

(38) The layout of the proposed dwellings is not being considered at this stage.  However, 
an indicative block plan has been provided which demonstrates that the site can accommodate 
four dwellings whilst maintaining good separation distances with existing properties.  

(39) The indicative block plan also demonstrates that a good quality amenity space for future 
residents can be achieved.  It is also likely that the internal space within the dwellings will be 
able to meet Nationally Described space Standards.    A full assessment of the impact on 
residential amenities will take place at the reserved matters stage.

Highway safety/amenity

(40) I have applied the guidance contained within the KCC Vehicle Crossing: - Guidance 
and Self-Assessment.  The proposal would be able to provide adequate footway visibility.  In 
terms of carriageway visibility (2 m x 90m), the proposal would be likely to meet the required 
visibility to the south but not to the north as there is a large hedge within the front garden of the 
property to the north.  This obstructs visibility and is outside of the applicant's control.  However, 
given the fact that there is already an access to the application site and that this serves both 
the dwelling and B1 use, I do not consider that the use of the access would notably increase as 
a consequence of the proposal.  I also note that the proposal would result in visibility being 
improved to the south as a consequence of the creation of the footway and the resulting 
demolition of part of the front boundary wall.  A section of existing wall to the north of the access 
would also be demolished to accommodate the footway and as such would improve visibility in 
this respect.   I also note that Kent Highways have not objected.  I therefore consider that the 
proposal would have no undue impact on highway safety and amenity in terms of visibility from 
the access.  

(41) The indicative site layout shows that 2 parking spaces would be provided for each of 
the dwellings i.e. 8 spaces in total.  The Parking Standards SPD bases its parking requirement 
on the number of bedrooms with the dwellings.  As this is an outline scheme, the number of 
bedrooms is not known at this stage. However, a 3 or more bedroom dwelling is required to 
have a minimum of 2 parking space.  The scheme would also require at least 2 visitor parking 
space.  I am of the view that there is likely to be sufficient room within the site to meet the 
requirements of the Parking Standards SPD.  Although the illustrative plans appear to show no 
visitor spaces, there are opportunities for integral parking and/or a different parking 
arrangement that can be considered in more detail at the reserved matters stage.   I have 
suggest that an informative be added clarifying that the current layout is only indicative with 
regard to siting, and car parking provision.

(42) I note the concerns about the narrowness of Shellbank Lane at this point but have 
considered the safety of the vehicular access to the site and have concluded that the 
development would be acceptable in this respect.  Any increase in vehicles using this part of 
the land as a result of the proposed development would, in my view, have a minimal impact 
when compared to the existing levels of traffic using this road.  

(43) With regards to the provision of the new footway, Kent Highways have previously 
advised that this should be a minimum width of 1.5m.  The submitted plans show a footway at 
a width of 1.5m and to incorporate a small area of land that is just to the south of the application 
site.  This provides a critical link between the proposed and existing footway.  At present, this 
is an unregistered piece of land that consists of a low brick retaining wall adjacent to the breeze 
block wall of the application site.  I recommend a Grampian style condition to ensure that the 
footway is provided prior to commencement to account for the uncertainty about the 



unregistered land.  Although Kent Highways have recommended that the applicant enter into a 
section 278 agreement with them so that they can adopt the footway, given that the footway is 
outside of highway land, I do not consider that we can force the applicant to enter into a section 
278 agreement through a condition.  We can however, seek engineering details of the proposed 
footway (with which we would consult Kent Highways) and ensure that it is maintained for public 
pedestrian access in perpetuity.  This will hopefully encourage the applicant to secure a Section 
278 agreement resulting in adoption by Kent Highways.  I have recommended an informative 
to encourage this approach also. 

Ecology/Biodiversity:

(44) The applicant has submitted a Preliminary Ecology Appraisal.  This identifies that slow 
worms might be present on a small section of the site and recommends precautionary mitigation 
measures such as careful site clearance and trapping to take place between March and 
October.  Bats are identified as potentially being present on the site.  The Appraisal 
recommends that a further bat survey is carried out between May and August.   The Appraisal 
recommends a number of ecological enhancements such as bat-friendly planting and log piles.  
I have recommended conditions in line with the comments from KCC Biodiversity to secure the 
appropriate mitigation measures.    

Other issues:

(45) Policy CS19 requires the provision of 50% affordable housing in rural areas where there 
is a net gain of 2 or more dwellings.  Since this Policy was adopted, the NPPF has changed 
such that affordable housing should not be sought on sites of fewer than 10 homes or smaller 
than 0.5 hectares unless it is within a designated rural area.  Dartford does not have any 
designated rural areas under the Housing Act 1985 so, in respect of affordable housing in the 
rural area, policy CS19 no longer complies with national planning policy.  In view of this, it is 
considered that national planning policy is a material consideration which carries significant 
weight and could justify non-compliance with policy CS19 in this case.  This is in accordance 
with paragraph 213 of the NPPF. Affordable housing is not therefore required as part of this 
development. 

(46) I have recommended a condition to ensure that the development achieves water 
efficiency levels of 110 litres per person per day in accordance with Policy DP11.

(47) I note the comments from EH and have recommended the conditions in respect of 
contaminated land, hours of construction and prevention of dust and I have recommended 
these below.  I have recommended a condition to secure the provision of electric car charging 
points as part of this development.  Although this was not a requirement for the previous 2 
dwelling scheme (net gain of 1 dwelling), I consider that the addition of 3 dwellings at this site 
would tip the balance terms of justifying such provision owing to the cumulative impact of new 
development on general levels of air pollution in the Borough. I have not recommended a 
condition to control lighting because of the small scale of the development and its residential 
use.  

(48) In acknowledgement of the narrowness of the lane and proximity to surrounding 
properties, I have recommended a condition to secure a construction management plan. 

(49) I have recommended a condition removing PD rights for extensions and additions to 
the dwellings in acknowledgement of the close proximity of the site to a number of existing 
dwellings and the likely impact of unrestricted extensions on neighbours in terms of overlooking, 
overshadowing and overbearing impacts.

(50) Thames Water have raised concerns about the potential proximity of habitable rooms 
to a nearby pumping station.  To address this, I have recommended an informative to alert the 
developer to the issue and anticipate that this can be more fully considered at the reserved 
matters stage. 



FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(51) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(52) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of:
Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development. As the application is in outline the final floorspace is not known yet so 
the CIL will be charged at the reserved matters stage. As Members are aware the CIL money 
achieved from developments goes into a pot and must be used to fund infrastructure to support 
development in the area, this includes new schools and strategic junction improvements where 
the money will be paid to the authorities responsible for providing these services.  In addition 
15 % of the CIL payment will be passed to Bean Parish Council in accordance with CIL 
Regulations. I consider that this is a material consideration with regard to this proposal, as if 
the development were to commence, CIL monies received will assist in the delivery of  
infrastructure projects that supports local development.

(53) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(54) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(55) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(56) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017)

(i) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not considered to 
require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(57) Having considered the proposal against the relevant Development Plan Policies, 
Consultee comments and representations, I consider that the proposal would be acceptable in 
principle and that there would be no detriment to highway safety and amenity.  Consideration 
of the impact on visual and residential amenities will be given at the reserved matters stage 
however, the indicative plans provided do not raised any overriding concerns.  Matters of 
ecology, water efficiency, contaminated land and drainage have all been covered by the 
conditions suggested below.  Affordable housing is not required for this development given the 
position set out within the NPPF.  I therefore consider that the development should be approved. 



RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of Outline Permission.

01 Approval of details of the layout, scale and appearance of the building(s), and the 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from 
the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced.  
Application for approval of the reserved matter(s) shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  The 
development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

01 In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: Site Location Plan A1391-01 and Proposed Site Plan A1391-06 rev. P2 rev 
(in respect of the access and footway only).

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 No development shall take place until the footway as shown on drawing number A1391-
06 rev. P2 rev, has been provided in accordance with engineering details, to be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The footway shall thereafter be 
maintained in a manner that allows public pedestrian access in perpetuity.

03 In the interests of securing a continuous footway from the site to the existing footway 
network and encouraging sustainable modes of transport to and from the development 
in accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of the surface 
water drainage system for the development (including storage facilities where necessary) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The details shall be 
implemented as approved prior to first occupation of the development.

04 Adequate information has not been submitted with the application and ensuring 
satisfactory means of surface water drainage is fundamental to the construction of the 
development in accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan and 
Policy CS24 of the Core Strategy

05 Prior to the commencement of development, bat emergence surveys shall be carried out 
as recommended within the submitted ecological report (Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal; KB Ecology; Feb18) and shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. If bats are found, a bat mitigation strategy along with measures 
to enhance the sites for bats shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved mitigation and enhancement measures shall be 
implemented as agreed.

05 In the interests of protecting and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance with 
Policy DP25 of the adopted Local Plan.

06 Prior to works commencing on site a reptile mitigation strategy must be submitted for 
approval by the LPA. It must include the following information: 

- Walk over survey 
- Details of mitigation required 
-  Methodology to implement the mitigation. 
-  Relevant maps/plans 
-  Timing of the proposed works. 



The works must be implemented as agreed within the strategy
06 In the interests of protecting and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance with 

Policy DP25 of the adopted Local Plan.

07 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by details of 
existing and proposed levels of the land and building(s), including a contoured site plan.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

07 In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the sloping nature 
of the site and the amenities of neighbouring occupants in accordance with Policies DP2 
and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

08 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by details of 
water efficiency demonstrating how the development will achieve water efficiency of 111 
litres per person per day.

08 In the interest of securing a sustainable form of development in accordance with Policy 
DP11 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

09 Prior to the commencement of any building operations on site, a contaminated land 
assessment, including a site investigation and remediation methodology (if necessary) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  If during 
any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified then 
the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any remediation details shall be 
implemented as approved.

09 Such details have not been submitted and are necessary in the interests of safety and 
amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan and/or the 
protection of Controlled Waters.

10 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by details of on-
site facilities for the secure and weatherproof storage of bicycles.  Such facilities shall be 
maintained thereafter.

10 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

11 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by details of car 
parking spaces within the curtilage of the site.  The approved spaces shall be provided, 
maintained and kept available for such use at all times and no development, whether 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access 
thereto.

11 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP4 and DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

12 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by details and 
samples of all materials to be used externally. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

12 To ensure that the development does not harm the visual amenity of the locality in 
accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

13 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by details of 
facilities for the storage and collection of waste and refuse within the curtilage of the site. 
Development shall be carried out and thereafter maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.



13 To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the enjoyment by 
neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the appearance of the locality, and that 
adequate access can be gained by collection vehicles in accordance with Policies DP2 
and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

14 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by a scheme of 
hard and soft landscaping and a programme for its management, including details of 
boundary treatments, which shall be implemented prior to first occupation (unless this 
falls outside of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first 
opportunity during the following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  
Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  Any trees, 
shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased within this period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants 
of similar species and size to that approved.

14 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

15 Prior to commencement of development on site, a Construction Management Plan shall 
be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority covering the following 
issues:

(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to/from the site
(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 

personnel
(c) Timing of deliveries
(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities
(e) Temporary traffic management/signage
(f) Dust suppression
(g) Hours of construction

The construction works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

15 Such detail has not been provided and as it relates to the construction process is required 
prior to commencement in order to protect the interests of highway safety and 
environmental amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Dartford 
Development Policies Plan (2017).

16 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a contaminated land closure 
report shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  This shall include photographic evidence.  Details of any post 
remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up 
criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

16 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

17 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a visibility splay of 2 metres by 
90 metres shall be provided to the south of the access and thereafter there shall be no 
obstruction exceeding 600mm within the splays. There shall also be no obstructions 
exceeding 600mm to the north of the access, within the application site.

17 In order to ensure that the development does not prejudice the free flow of traffic and 
condition of safety on the highway nor cause inconvenience to other highway users in 
accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.



18 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, details of how the 
development will enhance biodiversity within the site shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall include the installation of bat and 
bird nesting boxes along with provision of generous native planting where possible. The 
approved details will be implemented and thereafter retained.

18 In the interests of protecting and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance with 
Policy DP25 of the adopted Local Plan.

19 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, a minimum of 2 electric 
vehicle (EV) charging points shall be provided and made available for use by residents 
of the development as well as cabling laid for the future provision of EV charging points 
for all of the car parking spaces within the application site.

19 To secure a form of sustainable development that contributes towards addressing air 
quality impacts from development in the Borough in accordance with Policy DP5 of the 
adopted Local Plan.

20 Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D and E of Schedule 2, Part 1 of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) no extensions, alterations or other form of 
enlargement to the residential development hereby permitted, nor erection of porches or 
outbuildings, shall take place without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority.

20 The proximity of the application site to surrounding properties would result in harm to 
residential amenities by way of unrestricted enlargements and additions to the dwellings 
hereby approved and to enable the Local Planning Authority to consider any further 
development on its merits, having regard to the amount of development already 
permitted on the site and in accordance with Policies DP2, DP5 and DP7 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 Planning permission does not convey any approval for construction of the required 
vehicular crossing, or any other works within the highway for which a statutory licence 
must be obtained. Applicants should contact Kent County Council - Highways and 
Transportation (web: www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport.aspx or telephone: 03000 
418181) in order to obtain the necessary Application Pack.

02 It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in 
order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. Across the 
county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look like 
roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 'highway land'. Some 
of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third 
party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have 'highway rights' over the 
topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-
boundary-enquiries The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the 
approved plans agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation and 
common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and 
Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

03 The applicant is encouraged to enter into a Section 278 agreement with the Local 
Highway Authority in respect of the proposed footway.



04 The applicant is advised that the Proposed Site Plan A1391-06 rev. P2 rev is taken to be 
indicative only in respect of the siting and scale of the proposed dwellings and the parking 
provision.

05 The applicant is advised to contact Environmental Health on 01322 343434 for technical 
advice with regards to the submission of a contaminated land assessment / a 
contaminated land closure report.

06 It appears that this development involves work close to a boundary, which may come 
under the terms of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.  If it does, you will need to serve notice 
on your neighbour before undertaking any work.  It would therefore be advisable for you 
to ensure that you meet any requirements of the Act before starting any work.

07 New street name(s) and/or property numbers will be required for this development. 
Please apply as soon as possible as this process involves lengthy consultations.   Please 
contact the Property Information Officer on: 01322 343434.

08 The applicant is advised that it is an offence to intentionally kill, injure or capture bats, 
deliberately disturb bats (whether in roost or not), recklessly disturb roosting bats or 
obstruct access to their roots, damage or destroy bat roosts.

09 If planning permission is granted for the development which is the subject of this notice, 
liability for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment is likely to arise.  Persons with 
an interest in the land are advised to consult the CIL guide on Dartford Council's Website 
(http://tinyurl.com/DartfordCIL) for information on the charge and any exemptions or 
relief, and to submit the relevant forms (available from www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil)  to 
the Council before commencement to avoid additional interest or surcharges.  If liable, a 
CIL Liability Notice will be sent detailing the charges, which will be registered as a local 
land charge against the relevant land.

10 Any contaminated soil that is, or must be, disposed of is waste. Therefore, its handling, 
transport, treatment and disposal are subject to waste management legislation, which 
includes: 

-   Duty of Care Regulations 1991 
-  Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005 
-  Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 
-  The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 

11 Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised 
both chemically and physically in line with British Standard BS EN 14899:2005 
'Characterization of Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - Framework for the 
Preparation and Application of a Sampling Plan' and that the permitting status of any 
proposed treatment or disposal activity is clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency 
should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid any delays.

12 The proposed development is located within 15m of a Thames Water Sewage Pumping Station 
and this is contrary to best practice set out in Sewers for Adoption (7th edition). Future occupiers 
of the development should be made aware that they could periodically experience adverse 
amenity impacts from the pumping station in the form of odour; light; vibration and/or noise.

13 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for discharging 
groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and 
may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We would 
expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will undertake to minimise groundwater 
discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk 
Management Team by telephoning 02035779483 or by emailing 
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. 

mailto:wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk


Cottages

Ashwood Place

Black Horse

The

New

LB

71.4m

69.1m

68.7m

BM
 72.16m

Playing Field

Youth Club

FALLOWFIELD

Prospect

FO
XW

O
O

D
 R

O
AD

Lesle
igh

Old

HIG
H STREET

SH
EL

LB
AN

K

Place

LA
N

E
Cottage

TU
RNER R

OAD

Ivy Cottage

Bean Cottage

Lyn-Cot

Kiln Cot

Mercia
 Cot

Ann
ie

Havelock

Clisha

(PH)

Shellbank

Rotterdam

Hazelwood

1

7

11

10

28a

2

35

36
6

30

28b

8

15

29

18

16

22

14

28

13

9

40

4

1
Black Horse

Bean Cottage

1

1

11

1

6

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01367/OUT

Address : Prospect Place Shellbank Lane Bean DA2 8AX 

Date: 28 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01288/FUL Officer: Richard Elder

Location: Mill House
Priory Road
Dartford
Kent

Proposal: Replacement of existing pitched roof with a mansard roof to provide 2 self-
contained 2-bed apartments within the roof space at second storey level and 
reconfiguration of existing curtilage and parking area to provide amenity space, 
bin store, cycle store and 3 additional car parking spaces

Applicant: MHDL/Millhouse Property Developments Ltd

Agent: Altered Nation Design/Mr Steve Clark

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Town

RECOMMENDATION:

Approve subject to conditions

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) Mill House is an early twentieth century, 2 storey office building that has been granted 
prior approval for conversion to 12 duplex apartments. The building is sited in mainly hard 
landscaped grounds on the east side of Priory Road, close to Dartford town centre. 

(2) The building was built as offices for the former riverside paper mills. It is an important 
survivor of the historic townscape that included industrial areas to the north, east and south 
east of the building, which have made way for recent development including Riverside Wharf 
and Creek Mill Way. The building includes some unsympathetic flat-roofed extensions at its 
north end. The main roof to the original building comprises a hipped roof over the southern 
element, continuing in an L shape along the western edge and a second hipped roof covering 
the eastern side of the building set behind the parapet and are not visible from street level.

(3) Its otherwise simple form, elegant classical proportions, tall storeys, decorative 
brickwork, white-painted sash windows and prominent cornice contribute positively to the 
grandeur of Mill House in the Priory Road street scene and in the surrounding area. The historic 
character and appearance of the appeal building provides a tangible link to the area's industrial 
past, which is important to local character and the sense of place. 

(4) Whilst most of the surrounding mainly residential development is 2-storeys, the 
Riverside Wharf development includes 3-storey and 4-storey plus basement elements that are 
mainly close to the river, and in Creek Mill Way further to the south east there are 4-storey flats. 
The mixed age development in Priory Road includes mostly 2-storey pitched-roofed dwellings, 
and although some have attic rooms lit by front facing dormers, most are set back from the 
road.

THE PROPOSAL

(5) The application is for the replacement of the existing pitched roof with a mansard roof 
to provide 2 self-contained 2-bed apartments within the roof space at second storey level and 
reconfiguration of the existing curtilage and parking area to provide amenity space, bin store, 
cycle store and 3 additional car parking spaces.



(6) The building has been granted prior approval (which is essentially a deemed consent 
where the Council is only able to consider limited issues) for conversion into 12 duplex -flats 
which has been completed. The current proposal will increase the number of flats within the 
building from 12 to 14.

(7) The roof extension would be set in from the decorative roof parapet by 2 metres at the 
front to the south, by 0.8 metres to the west side adjacent to Priory Road, 0.5 metres to the east 
side and directly behind the parapet to the north side.   

(8) It would be constructed with a zinc standing seam cladding set at angle of 10 degrees 
above parapet height incorporating a flat roof.   

(9) The new flats would be accessed via an internal staircase extending from the existing 
staircase at first floor level. Flat 13 would be accessed via the internal staircase lobby and flat 
14 would be accessed externally via a covered walkway from the staircase lobby, designed to 
blend in with the external design of the structure. 

(10) A private central amenity space is proposed between the flats for each flat and an 
additional lobby area is proposed next to the staircase/lobby incorporating an external door 
providing access to the roof for maintenance only. A 130sqm amenity area would also be 
provided to the south east corner of the car park for shared use.

(11) The car park would reconfigured to provide an additional 3 parking spaces to provide 
18 parking spaces in total together with bin and cycle storage facilities to the north east corner 
of the site. 

RELEVANT HISTORY

(12) 16/01905/FUL Raising height of roof to create a mansard roof to provide four self-
contained one-bedroom residential apartments at second storey level with amenity space, car 
parking and cycle storage. 25.01.2017 REFUSED. Appeal DISMISSED 22.05.2017. The 
Inspector considered that the parking and amenity space provided for this scheme was 
acceptable but considered that the roof extension proposed (larger than the current scheme) 
would harm the character and appearance of the surrounding area. 

(13) 15/01893/P3O Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class O of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required 
for change of use from office (Class B1A) to residential (Class C3) comprising 4 no.2 bed and 
8 no. 1 bed apartments. 12.02.2016 GRANTED

(14) 15/01098/P3O Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class O of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required 
for change of use from office (Class B1A) to residential (Class C3) comprising 8 No. 2 bed 
maisonettes. 11.09.2015 GRANTED

(15) 02/00032/FUL Erection of a mansard roof to incorporate a second floor to provide 
additional office accommodation. 07.03.2002 REFUSED. Appeal ALLOWED 15.11.2002.

(16) 01/00303/FUL Provision of a mansard roof to incorporate a second floor to provide 
additional office accommodation. 11.12.2001 APPROVED.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(17) KCC Highways: No comment

(18) Kent Fire & Rescue: - No objection

(19) Environmental Health: No objection subject to a condition requiring full details of refuse 
storage and provision.



NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(20) Three letters of objection have been received and are summarised as follows:

- Out of keeping with the existing attractive historical building.
- Will be an eyesore.
- Space for bin store will inhibit cars turning the corner and impossible for 

delivery vans.
- The additional parking spaces will also restrict vehicles entering the car park 

in a similar way.
- Three bins are not enough for 14 flats.
- Car park floods with heavy rain.
- Don't want to be overlooked.
- Dartford is awash with new housing in this area.

(21) A large extent of the objections relate to construction and contractor disturbance within 
the existing building conversion and ongoing maintenance, freeholder conduct, existing 
drainage and sewage issues. These are not planning related issues relevant to the proposed 
development.    

RELEVANT POLICIES

(22) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(23) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1 (Spatial Pattern of Delivery)
CS10 (Housing Provision)
CS11 (Housing Delivery
CS15 (Managing Transport Demand
CS17 (Design of Homes)
CS18 (Housing Mix)
CS25 (Water Management)
CS26 (Delivery and Implementation);

(24) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3 (Transport impacts of Development)
DP5 (Environmental and Amenity protection)
DP6 (Sustainable Residential Locations)
DP7 (Housing Stock and Residential Amenity)
DP8 (Residential Space and Design in New Development)
DP9 (Local Housing Needs)
DP11 (Sustainable Technology and Construction)
DP12 (Historic Environment Strategy)

(25) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(26) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  



COMMENTS

Key Issues

- The main issues relevant in the determination of this application are the effect that the 
proposal would have on the principle of development; the character and appearance of the 
building and surrounding area; the living conditions of the future occupiers; the impact on 
surrounding residential amenity; and parking and highway considerations

Principle of development

(27) This Council is in a strong position in respect of its 5 year housing land supply and all 
policies within the adopted Plan are considered to be up to date. As the site is unidentified 
housing development on an unallocated site, the proposal is considered to be windfall 
development and should be considered against the same criteria as other identified 
development (Policy CS10: 4 &5), the criteria set out in Policy DP6 and the Housing Windfall 
SPD adopted October 2014 which provides more guidance on how such sites should be 
assessed.

(28) The policies of the Local Plan seek to manage the changes, maximise sustainable 
regeneration and offset the potential negative effects. The windfall policy has been developed 
to ensure that unplanned development coming forward does not undermine the approach to 
development as set out in the Core Strategy taking both site specific and cumulative 
sustainability issues into account. 

(29) Policy CS10 requires windfall developments to be sustainably located, for the benefits 
of the scheme to outweigh the disbenefits and for careful consideration to be given to the impact 
on infrastructure. The supporting text to Policy DP6 notes that the SHLAA derived sites are the 
focus of the Core Strategy Policy CS10 and housing land supply. The focus for housing 
development within the Borough is therefore strongly in favour of planned sites including all 
sites of one to four dwellings. The supporting text to Policy DP6 also notes that the aggregate 
impact of sites of five and over has particular potential to hinder the achievement of key 
sustainability objectives of the Core Strategy. 

(30) Primarily windfall development should be located on brownfield land. The proposal 
must be sustainably located close to a range of community facilities and public transport. The 
accessibility of the site to public transport and local facilities/employment is also a key 
consideration. 

(31) Policy DP6 of the Dartford Development Policies Local Plan 2017 relating to 
Sustainable Residential Locations is to be considered alongside Policy CS10 of the Core 
Strategy (Housing Provision). The accessibility of the site to public transport and local facilities/ 
employment is a key consideration in assessing proposed windfalls of five units and over. This 
underpins criteria b) and c) of DP6:2.

(32) The application site is a brownfield site located in a built up residential area, close to a 
number of community facilities and the town centre. The site is within walking distance of the 
town centre and railway station and where there are regular bus services and, thus, would 
accord with Policies DP6 of the Dartford Development Policies Local Plan 2017 and Policy S10 
of the Dartford Core Strategy 2012.

(33) The principle of a roof extension has also been accepted previously at this building. 
Planning permission was granted in December 2001 for the provision of a mansard roof to 
incorporate a second floor to provide additional office accommodation, although later 
applications were refuses in 2002 and 2017 the reasons for refusal were based on the detailed 
design rather than the principle of the extension. It is clear from the Inspector's report, that 
subject to careful consideration of the scale, bulk and massing of the proposed roof extension 
to prevent it from over dominating the existing building and Priory Road and harming its historic 
and architectural interest, that the principle of development was considered acceptable.



Design, Scale, Mass and Bulk

(34) Policy DP2 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 states that development 
will only be permitted where it satisfies the locally specific criteria for good design in the Borough 
responding to, reinforcing and enhancing positive aspects of the locality and ensuring 
appropriate regard is had to heritage assets. Consideration will be made of the height, mass, 
form, scale, orientation, siting setbacks, landscaping and access.

(35) Policy DP12 states that development proposals affecting non-designated heritage 
assets should conserve or enhance those aspects that have been identified as significant and, 
where possible, should seek to better reveal an asset's significance. A balanced judgement will 
be taken having regard to the significance of the heritage asset and the scale of any harm or 
loss of significance. Development resulting in a total loss of significance will not normally be 
permitted.

(36) The applicants Planning Statement states that in order to maintain and not detract from 
the grand presence of Mill house, the design of the proposed extension is steered by several 
key design strategies that lessen its impact. The additional accommodation makes use of the 
previously unused pitched roof volume. The roof height increases marginally with a maximum 
increase of 673mm along the length, and only 298mm to the dominant southern façade. The 
design incorporates measures to avoid the inhabitation of the roof boundary, and therefore 
visual impact, through provision of 1100mm high rails within the apertures of the mansard. The 
change in ground surface materials from timber decking to the amenity areas to 
tarmac/asphalt/gravel on the inaccessible parts of the roof also establishes the intrinsic 
separation of space as off limits.

(37) The design deliberately maintains the look of a continual mansard roof with all external 
edges pitched and the ridge line unbroken when also curtailing the external walkway and 
amenity spaces. These apertures appear as window penetrations to the zinc cladding and are 
the same opening widths as the windows to follow the language of fenestration rather than 
punctuations in the overall form. The proposed north and south mansard elevations do not 
incorporate apertures with the southern prominent façade to maintain visual simplicity, and 
prominence of the existing façade.

(38) It is considered that the scale, mass and bulk of the proposed roof extension is not 
significantly increased on that of the existing double hipped roof set behind the decorative 
parapet, especially when viewed from the front of the building where the existing roof section is 
at its highest. The mansard would be set in by 2 metres from the existing decorative front 
parapet which would obscure most of the roof extension when viewed from street level and 
from the most prominent view northwards along Priory Road. The resulting height and 
incorporation of a third floor would not be out of scale with buildings in the surrounding area 
which range from 2 storey houses with pitched roofs up to modern 4 storey blocks of flats to 
the east and south east. One of the main issues with the previously refused roof extension of 
application 16/01905/FUL was that it was much higher and not set back from the parapet which 
would have resulted in a dominating impact on the existing building and on Priory Road due to 
the west elevation of Mill House set to the edge of the pavement.   

(39) The Appeal Inspectors report for application 16/01905/FUL states that the roof 
extension subject to this application was unacceptable due to its substantial height, bulk, siting 
and incongruous form and would be unacceptably dominant and intrusive, detrimental to the 
Priory Road streetscene. Due to the reduction of the height, scale and massing of the current 
proposal in comparison to that dismissed at appeal in 2017 and being inset from the parapet, I 
consider that the proposed roof extension is much more sympathetic in size and scale and 
largely addresses the main reason for refusal in these respects. 

(40) The use of a standing seam zinc cladding material to the external face would be an 
appropriate material, sympathetic to the buildings previous industrial and commercial use and 
which contrasts visually with the London stock brick below and decorative stucco parapet to the 
roof.



(41) The main roof would not be accessible to residents and a condition is considered 
necessary to prevent the roof areas between the parapet and the mansard extension used as 
an amenity area but only used for purposes of maintenance of the building only. 

(42) Consequently, I consider that the sympathetic design of the proposed roof extension 
would not significantly harm the historical significance of this non-designated heritage asset, 
would address the previous reasons for refusal and thus would accord with Policies DP2 and 
DP12 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017.

Living conditions of the future occupiers

(43) In accordance with Policy DP8, all new dwellings should meet the Nationally Described 
Space Standards unless the site circumstances can justify an exception. The proposed layout 
of the flats would be acceptable and the internal area of the 2 bedroom flats would be above 
60 and 70 sqms and would meet the requirements of the National Space Standards and Policy 
DP8. 

(44) I am satisfied that good levels of sunlight and daylight would be achieved within the 
proposed flats and a satisfactory outlook would be achieved over the existing parapet wall. 

(45) A small amount of private covered external amenity space would be provided centrally 
between both flats as well as a 130sqm communal amenity space to the south east corner of 
the car park. An enlarged refuse store would be provided to north east corner. An objection 
from a local resident considers that the proposed provision would be insufficient for the 14 flats. 
Environmental Health have been consulted and raise no objection subject to confirmation of 
the size and number of the bins to serve the flats. A condition is, therefore, recommended 
requiring full details of refuse storage, bin sizes and numbers prior to occupation of the 
development.

(46) Therefore, it is considered that the quality of accommodation that would be provided 
would be satisfactory and would accord with Policy DP8 of the Development Policies Local Plan 
2017.

Impact on surrounding residential amenity

(47) Policy DP5 of the Development Policies Local Plan 2017 states that development will 
only be permitted where it does not result in unacceptable material impacts, individually or 
cumulatively, on neighbouring uses, the Borough's environment or public health.

(48) The nearest residential properties most affected by the proposed development are 
nos.18-21 Priory Road across the opposite side of Priory Road. The distance between these 
properties and the windows of the proposed roof extension would be 29 metres which would 
constitute a sufficient separating distance to avoid any undue overlooking and loss of privacy.   

(49) Due to the siting of the proposed structure significantly away from the neighbouring 
buildings on all sides, the proposed extension would not result in any overshadowing, loss of 
sunlight or daylight to these buildings and thus the impact on surrounding residential amenity 
would be minimal.

(50) As such, I consider that the proposed development of an additional 2 apartments would 
accord with Policy DP5 Development Policies Local Plan 2017.

(51) With regard to impact on existing occupiers of flats in the block I have recommended 
that a condition be imposed limiting hours of use to normal working hours in order to ensure 
that there is no impact from construction working during evenings, Saturday afternoons and 
Sundays.



Parking and highway considerations

(52) Policy DP3 of the Development Policies Local Plan 2017 states that development will 
not be permitted where the localised residual impacts from the development would result in 
severe impacts on road traffic congestion and air quality, highway safety or on-street parking 
pressure.  Policy DP4 states that where appropriate, proposals should ensure that the extent 
and nature of proposed car parking provision, taking into account any existing provision, must 
be in full accordance with the adopted Parking Standards SPD. 

(53) The site is located in a relatively accessible urban location close to public transport 
links and within walking distance of the town centre and local shops and services. The existing 
car park serving the 12 flats at Mill House incorporates 15 car parking spaces. The car park 
would be reconfigured to the east side to provide an additional 3 spaces which would also 
include an area of external amenity space within the south east corner.

(54) The Council's parking standards require the provision of 1.2 spaces per each 2 
bedroom in the urban area resulting in provision of 2.4 spaces. The proposal would provide an 
additional 3 parking spaces, 2 of which would serve the flats and the other would be utilised as 
an additional visitor space. Cycle storage facilities for the 2 additional flats would be provided 
to the east side of the main entrance to provide 2 covered and secured cycle spaces for the 2 
flats and a condition is recommended requiring full details of the facilities and to ensure that 
they are provided prior to occupation.

(55) As such, the proposal for the 2 flats would fully accord with the parking standards in 
this respect and thus is not likely to result in overspill of parking within the surrounding streets 
adding to on-street parking pressure and would accord with Policies DP3 and DP4 of the 
Development Policies Local Plan 2017.

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(56) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(57) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of:

(58) Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development and in this case a chargeable area of 181 square metres results in a 
CIL liability of £36,200.00, plus indexation which will be paid on implementation. As Members 
are aware the CIL money achieved from developments goes into a pot and must be used to 
fund infrastructure to support development in the area, this includes new schools and strategic 
junction improvements where the money will be paid to the authorities responsible for providing 
these services. I consider that this is a material consideration with regard to this proposal, as if 
the development were to commence, CIL monies received will assist in the delivery of  
infrastructure projects that supports local development.

(59) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(60) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.



PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(61) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(62) Having considered the relevant planning policies, comments from consultees and local 
residents and the previous reasons for refusal and dismissed appeal, I consider that the 
proposed roof extension addresses the previous reasons for refusal. 

(63) The application site is a brownfield site located in a built up residential area, close to a 
number of community facilities and the town centre. The site is within walking distance of the 
town centre and railway station, where there are regular bus services and, thus would meet the 
windfall policy tests.

(64) The reduction in height, scale and massing of the proposed roof extension in 
comparison to that dismissed at appeal in 2017 together with being inset from the decorative 
roof parapet would not over dominate the existing building or Priory Road adjacent. Its 
sympathetic design would not significantly harm the historical significance or architectural merit 
of this non-designated heritage asset.

(65) Due to the siting of the proposed roof structure significantly away from the neighbouring 
buildings on all sides, the proposed extension would not result in any overlooking, 
overshadowing or loss of sunlight or daylight to neighbouring residential properties and thus 
the impact on surrounding residential amenity would be minimal.

(66) The proposal would fully accord with the parking standards in this respect and thus is 
not likely to result in overspill of parking within the surrounding streets.

(67) Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would, on balance, be 
acceptable and that planning permission should be granted subject to conditions. 

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval subject to conditions

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents:

MLH-A-00-1001 - Site location plan
MLH-A-00-1010 - Existing site plan
MLH-A-00-1011 - Existing ground floor plan
MLH-A-00-1012 - Exiting first floor plan
MLH-A-00-1013 - Existing roof plan
MLH-A-00-1014 - Existing elevations A & B
MLH-A-00-1015 - Existing elevations C & D
MLH-A-00-1020 - Proposed site plan
MLH-A-00-1021 - Proposed ground floor plan
MLH-A-00-1022 - Proposed first floor plan 
MLH-A-00-1023 - Proposed second floor plan 
MLH-A-00-1025 - Proposed site section N
MLH-A-00-1030 - Proposed elevations A & B
MLH-A-00-1031 - Proposed elevations C & D



MLH-A-00-1032 - Proposed elevations E, F & G
MLH-A-00-1033 - Proposed elevations I, J & K
MLH-A-00-1034 - Proposed elevations - L, M & N
MLH-A-00-1041 - Sketch 1
MLH-A-00-1042 - Sketch 2 

Design & Access Statement dated September 2018

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 External materials used on the roof shall be implemented in accordance with details 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

03 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing building or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 No construction work shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

04 To protect the amenities of the residents of nearby dwellings in accordance with Policies 
DP5 and DP20 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

05 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, the approved parking spaces 
shall be demarcated by means of white lining or a similar method and thereafter 
maintained and kept available for such use at all times and no development, whether 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access 
thereto.

05 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP4 and DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

06 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a landscaping scheme 
including both hard and soft landscaping, shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to first occupation (unless this 
falls outside of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first 
opportunity during the following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  
Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  Any trees, 
shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased within this period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants 
of similar species and size to that approved.

06 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

07 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved details of facilities for the 
storage and collection of waste and refuse within the curtilage of the site shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried 
out and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details.

07 To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the enjoyment by 
neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the appearance of the locality, and that 
adequate access can be gained by collection vehicles in accordance with Policies DP2 
and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.



08 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, on site facilities shall be 
provided within the curtilage of the site for the secure and weatherproof storage of 
bicycles in accordance with details to have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority beforehand. Such facilities shall be maintained thereafter.

08 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

09 The areas of roof between the roof parapet and the roof extension hereby permitted shall 
not be used as a terrace or an amenity area, an area for external storage or drying clothes 
but shall be used for purposes of maintenance of the building only.

09 In order not to prejudice the visual appearance of the building in accordance with Policy 
DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 The applicant is advised to seek advice from Environmental Health on 01322 343434 as 
to how to minimise the impact of noise from demolition/construction work on local 
residents and how to mitigate/suppress dust during demolition and construction works.



Mill

Abbey P
lace

3.0m

3.7m

4.6m

Burnham
 Terrace

HUMBER

CAIRNS CLOSE
G

A
R

D
EN

S

BURNHAM
 ROAD

ROAD

PR
IO

R
Y R

O
AD

Priory W
harf

Works

1

9
8

10

89

63

1211

18

21

14

91

90

Posts

22

20

46

34

76

43 42

52

58

68

82

6

74

4

Chy

5

Tanks

Tank

Tank

6

Tanks

22

10

1

1

14

1

1

4

Tank

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01288/FUL

Address : Mill House Priory Road Dartford Kent 

Date: 29 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/00927/FUL Officer: Abigail Lavery

Location: The Willows 
1B Faesten Way
Bexley
DA5 2JB

Proposal: Demolition of existing detached double garage and construction of proposed 
two storey 3 bedroom detached dwelling with detached garage

Applicant: Mr Martin Hall

Agent: Mr Richard Clark

Parish / Ward: Wilmington Parish Council / Joydens Wood

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The site is part of the curtilage of The Willows, 1B Faesten Way and is located on the 
eastern side of the road. It is accessed via a shared private driveway to the north of the property 
which is also used by 1A Faesten Way.

(2) The Willows has a site area in the region of 660 square metres and the land levels 
across the site are relatively even. The access from the main road slopes from the highway into 
the site which sits at a slightly lower level than the road. The boundary treatment consists largely 
of close boarded fencing and a hedge on the south eastern boundary with 1A Faesten Way. 

(3) The site contains a detached house and detached double garage, a small number of 
sheds and a summerhouse which sits on an area of decking to the south eastern corner of the 
garden. The section of garden to the rear of The Willows is decked with a patio area. The 
existing dwelling is a chalet style property with dormer windows in either side of the roof slope, 
one of these faces Faesten Way to the west and the other faces the neighbouring property 1A 
Faesten Way to the east.

(4) The site contains a number of trees which are protected by Tree Preservation Orders. 

(5) The site is bordered to the north by the shared access and further to the north, the rear 
gardens of Nos. 35 and 33 Tile Kiln Lane. Their gardens have depths of 12 and 14 metres 
respectively. To the west Nos. 4, 6, 8, 10 and 12 Faesten Way sit on the other side of the road 
and face the side (western) boundary of the site. The front elevations of these properties are a 
minimum of 13 metres from the site. 

(6) The eastern boundary of the site is shared with 1A Faesten Way. This neighbour is a 
detached two storey dwelling which was extended almost up to the boundary in the 1980s in 
the form of a two storey side and single storey side extension, a canopy to the front and a 
detached garage. The neighbour's property sits close to the shared boundary and has a window 
at ground floor level in its side elevation facing the site. This window serves a small room in an 
existing extension which is used as a TV room/office. 



THE PROPOSAL

(7) The proposal is for a two storey, 3 bedroom detached dwelling to be located on land to 
the side of 1B Faesten Way. 

(8) A garden with a depth of approximately 10 metres will be provided to the rear/south of 
the dwelling and 2 parking spaces, to the front curtilage.

(9) The existing double garage and some small outbuildings are to be demolished to 
accommodate the dwelling and sufficient parking space. 2 replacement parking spaces and a 
forecourt area will be provided to the front of the existing property, The Willows. 

(10) It is proposed to remove/infill some existing ground and first floor windows in the east 
facing side elevation of the existing dwelling on site. Internal changes to the first floor bedrooms 
serve by the windows to be infilled are also proposed.  This would involve the repositioning of 
the bedroom walls so that they can be served by front and rear facing existing windows.  These 
works seek to ensure that the existing residents at 1B Faesten Way are not unduly affected by 
the proposal.  

RELEVANT HISTORY

(11) 11/00930/TPO: Application to crown reduce by 30% 1 No. Ash tree adjacent to 
boundary with 1C Faesten Way subject to Tree Preservation Order No.12 1983 - Consent 

- 11/00921/TPO: Application to fell 1 No. Ash tree adjacent to boundary with 1C 
Faesten Way subject to Tree Preservation Order No.12 1983 - refused as it was determined 
that inadequate evidence had been provided to justify the felling of the tree on arboricultural 
grounds
(It is proposed to retain this tree as part of the application)

- 05/00070/OUT: Outline application for the demolition of existing double garage 
& erection of a detached 2 bedroom chalet bungalow with detached garage; detached garage 
for existing dwelling & creation of a new vehicular access - refused and appeal dismissed. The 
application was refused as it was considered that the size of the site and relationship to 
adjoining properties was inadequate and would therefore appear cramped and out of character 
in the Area of Special Residential Character (ASRC)

(12) 92/00208/TPO Application to reduce height from 60' to 30' of 5 no. Ash trees and 
prune one Ash subject of Tree Preservation Order No.12 1983 - Consent

(13) 83/00270/OUTO1 5No 4 bed detached houses with associated parking provided 
& garage & provision of garages/parking spaces for 2 existing houses to be retained - approved

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(14) Tree consultant - the Council's Tree Consultant has advised, based on the BS5837 
survey that there may be some impact to the protected Oak Tree however he has indicated 
agreement with the conclusion of the survey provided by the applicants that "impacts can be 
suitably mitigated and minimised through minimal-dig designs, root pruning and arboricultural 
supervision." He has advised that whilst the development would result in more pressure on the 
trees, the risk of harm is low.  

(15) Thames Water - No objection to the planning application based on the information 
provided. An informative suggesting that any discharge to a public sewer requires a permit. 

(16) Environmental Health - recommend conditions in relation to hours of working during 
construction and external lighting. 

(17) Kent Fire Brigade - No comments received



(18) Wilmington Parish Council - Object to the proposal on the following grounds 

- Cramped appearance of development 
- Back-garden windfall development inappropriate within the rural area of 

Joydens Wood
- Concern about whether existing utilities can accommodate the development

(19) Kent Highways - Based on the description of the development the Highway Authority 
advised that the development proposal does not meet the criteria to warrant involvement from 
the Highway Authority.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(20) Neighbours were notified of the application on the 9th of August 2018. Five letters of 
objection were received in response, 2 of these were received from the same neighbour. 

(21) The neighbour to the east which shares a boundary with the site objects on the 
following grounds:

- Concern in relation to the protected Oak tree 
- Overlooking of their property 
- Reduction in natural light 
- Parking and access concerns 
- Makes reference to previous refusal on site

Some matters which are not material planning considerations were also raised including in 
relation to building works 

(22) Nos.31, 33 and 35 Tile Kiln Lane which border the private access to the site to the north 
and north-east object on for the following reasons:

- Overcrowding 
- Overlooking and impact on privacy
- Loss of light
- Noise pollution and disturbance from additional vehicles
- Drainage capacity 
- Concern about access
- Disturbance from security lighting 

Some concerns were also raised in relation to construction works which is not a material 
planning consideration

RELEVANT POLICIES

(23) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(24) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS10: Housing Provision



(25) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design in Dartford
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection 
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations 
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity
DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development 
DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement 

(26) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(27) Housing Windfall Supplementary Planning Document 2014

(28) The NPPF is also a material consideration.  

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(29) I consider that the key issues relate to whether the principle of development on site is 
acceptable, the impact on the character and appearance of the area, the impact on existing 
surrounding residents, the quality of accommodation proposed for future occupants, parking 
provision, impact on the nearby protected trees.

Principle of residential development 

(30) In terms of the principle of development, the two main matters for consideration are the 
acceptability of the site for development in relation to windfall and greenfield garden land.

(31) The provision of new dwellings on land that has not been identified for such 
development within the adopted Local Plan should be carefully considered against policies 
CS10, DP6 and DP7.  In addition, the Housing Windfall SPD is a material consideration.
 
(32) As the most up-to-date planning policy, Policy DP6 is the starting point now for 
considering windfall sites. Policy DP6 advises that unplanned windfall residential development 
may be permitted following assessment in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS10:4&5, as 
well as other development plan policies and material considerations.  CS10 4 directs 
assessments of windfall site to consider the sustainability of the site for housing development, 
whether the benefits outweigh the disbenefits of the scheme and the capacity of the 
infrastructure to serve the development.  CS10 5 identifies the need to monitor infrastructure 
and put measures in place to address concerns. Policy DP6 responds to this latter criterion to 
some extent.  It is not the intention of Policy CS10 to prevent the development of windfall sites 
but the aim of the windfall assessment is to ensure that these unidentified sites do not 
undermine the strategy for planned development through cumulatively overloading future 
infrastructure provision. 

(33) It should also be noted that Policy DP6 directs new housing developments of 5 or more 
units to previously developed/brownfield land.  This is to ensure that the Core Strategy target 
of 80% of development on brownfield sites.  Although this proposal is only for 1 additional 
dwelling, directing development towards brownfield land is still preferable noting the wording at 
paragraph 9.21 in the supporting text to Policy DP6 - residential development of unplanned 
greenfield sites must only be exceptional.  Coupled with this is Policy DP7 which seeks to 
maintain garden land (classed as greenfield in built-up areas such as this).  Maintaining garden 
land helps to retain choice and diversity in housing stock the local character.  Clearly this site 
is garden land/a greenfield site and so on the face of it this is a disbenefit of the proposal.   
However, I will discuss below that no harm would arise in terms of the impact on the character 
of the area.  There would be a reduction in the size of the rear garden for the existing property 



but I do not consider that this would lead to a harmful loss of choice of housing stock.  There is 
a wide variety of house types and garden sizes in the local area.

(34) In assessing the development against policies DP6 and CS10, I note that the 
supporting text to Policy DP6 recognises that the consideration to the needs for social, 
community and green infrastructure as required will relate to the scale of the development 
proposed. Whilst this is a relevant consideration for major sites this is difficult to consider on 
smaller sites such as this. I am of the opinion therefore that the main consideration with regard 
to the sustainability for this small site development is its location and access to services and 
facilities. 

(35) The Council published a windfall sites supplementary planning document (SPD) in 
October 2014 which clarifies how Policy CS10 is to be assessed.  It seeks to ensure that windfall 
sites are considered against the same assessment criteria as the identified sites for the SHLAA. 

(36) I have considered the proposed development against the criteria set out in the SPD.  In 
terms of accessibility/sustainability of the location, the site is within a 5-6 minute walk to the 
local infant/junior schools and a 12 minute walk to a local pre-school, shops, community hall 
and library.  The closest bus stops are approximately a 4 minute walk away and the services 
are fairly regular.  The site is clearly in a sustainable and accessible location in an established 
residential neighbourhood. The site is in walking distance of various facilities and has good 
access to public transport. Core Strategy Policy CS1 seeks to promote sustainable patterns of 
development and to protect less appropriate areas by focussing development within locations 
in the urban area which are accessible and well supported by public transport. I consider that 
this site complies with the objective of Policy CS1.

(37) I am of the view that, on balance, the development of this site although garden land is 
within a sustainable and accessible location which is not harmful to the character of the area. 
An overall assessment of the dis-benefits and benefits of the proposal will be considered in the 
conclusion of this report.  However, in principle, I consider that the development would be 
acceptable. 

Impact on character and visual amenities

(38) Policy DP7 considers infill development and seeks to ensure that the historical pattern 
and form of development is preserved, that access to the development is safe and would not 
create undue disruption to the character and appearance of the area or existing properties.  The 
proposal should not result in material harm to residential amenities.  

(39) The site contains 1 dwelling with a garden to the side, which is notably larger than 
others in the surrounding area, and has a modest garden to the rear. I am satisfied that the 
division of the plot to form an additional dwelling and garden will be able to provide good quality 
amenity space and parking areas for both units.  I do not consider that the proposed 
development will be out of character. The proposed dwelling would sit on approximately the 
same building line as the existing house providing a comparable rear garden. Nos. 1A and 1B 
Faesten Way are existing infill dwellings and they do not face the street.  The proposed dwelling 
would continue this pattern and would sit logically between them. 

(40) I have also observed that the area surrounding Faesten Way has been subject to a 
number of infill developments in the last 30 years including on Tile Kiln Lane and Faesten Way 
and as such I am of the view that the principle of infill developments has been established.

(41) Access to the development is not likely to create undue disruption as it will utilise an 
existing shared access and will not result in noticeable additional hard standing in the street 
scene. I do not consider that the increased use of the access by one additional dwelling will 
create significantly more disruption to existing residents. The impact on existing properties will 
be considered below but in general, I consider that the proposal is in conformity with Policy 
DP7.  



(42) In terms of visual amenity, the surrounding pattern of development consists largely of 
two storey detached and semi-detached dwellings. The proposed house, as a two storey 
property with a hipped roof will integrate well with this. The ridge height would be similar to the 
adjacent property number 1a Faesten Way but slightly higher than The Willows.  There is 
already a variation in roof heights and style in the surrounding area and in this respect, the 
development would be acceptable in my view. 

(43) The materials proposed are shown to be white render with grey bricks and tiling. There 
is a mix of materials in the immediate surroundings including white render and red and grey 
tiling. Both 1B and 1A Faesten Way feature some white render. I consider that these will 
integrate sufficiently with the surrounding mix of materials. 

(44) The existing dwelling - The Willows is atypical of surrounding dwellings in terms of its 
side facing windows and their removal to accommodate the new house, whilst leaving a larger 
section of uninterrupted flank wall, will not be visible in the street scene due to the proximity of 
the new house to the existing flank elevation.

(45) I will discuss the impact on the protected trees below but overall, the development 
would not result in a notable loss of 'greenery' within the site.  If members are minded to approve 
the application then a landscaping condition would be applied to ensure that, in addition to the 
retained protected trees, the landscaping of the site is of a high quality for future residents.

Impact on existing residents 

(46) In terms of the impact on the existing dwelling on site, 1B The Willows, the proposal 
includes of the removal of windows in the side of the house and internal alterations.   This is to 
address the fact that the new dwelling would have overshadowed these windows and severely 
limited any outlook from them. The submitted drawings show that each room of the existing 
dwelling will be provided with a window to the front, rear or west elevations which will provide 
sufficient light and outlook and will not result in harm to their amenities.  As the application site 
encompasses the existing property - 1B The Willows and the applicant is also the owner of this 
property, these alterations are enforceable if required by condition.  

(47) 1B The Willows will retain a rear garden in the region of 130 square metres and a depth 
of 11 metres. Whilst there is no adopted standard in relation to minimum amenity space I 
consider that, based on aerial mapping, this garden will be comparable to a number of 
surrounding garden sizes. It is also south facing and so will continue to receive a good amount 
of sunlight and daylight.  

(48) The dwelling will sit on the same building line as the neighbouring dwellings with no 
significant projection past the front or rear of them. A landing window is proposed however this 
will not cause overlooking as it can be obscure glazed. The front windows will be around 15 
metres from the rear boundaries of properties on Tile Kiln Lane and there is a fair degree of 
screening between these and the proposed front elevation. The windows in the rear elevation 
will be over 11 metres from the boundary with 1C Faesten Way to the south which should not 
cause any overshadowing or overlooking of this property. 

(49) The neighbouring property to the east, 1A Faesten Way, is a detached dwelling which 
is extended almost to the boundary (set away 1 metre). This property has a window in its 
western (side) elevation at ground floor level. This window serves a room in the property's 
existing extension. I have been advised by this neighbour that this is used as a TV room and 
office, it is not in a primary living area. Having visited the neighbouring property I would note 
that there is a relatively high hedge in front of this window and as such its light and outlook is 
quite limited. The proposed flank wall would be 2 metres from this window. In terms of the siting 
of the proposed two storey flank wall close to this window this would result in some loss of light 
and outlook however as it is not a primary living area and a relatively small room in an extension 
I do not consider that this will be detrimental to the amenities of the occupiers.

(50) Overall, I consider that the plot can accommodate the additional dwelling without 
causing significant harm to existing residents. 



Quality of accommodation:

(51) The dwelling will have a gross internal floor area of 106 square metres. This exceeds 
the requirement of the Nationally Described Space Standards for a 3 bed, 5 person house and 
each bedroom meets required internal floor area. To the rear a garden of around 87 square 
metres and a depth of 10 metres will be provided. The garden will be to the south of the property 
and as such will have a good aspect in terms of daylight and sunlight. Having seen the trees in 
situ on site I do not consider that these will result in excessive overshadowing of the garden as 
their spread is limited. I consider that their positioning around the boundaries of the site will 
provide a good green setting for the proposed dwelling.

(52) There is a high level window in the side of the property to the rear that faces the site, it 
is likely that this serves a bathroom or a hallway due to its limited size and high level and 
therefore I am not concerned that this will overlook the proposed dwelling to an unacceptable 
degree.

(53) Overall I consider that the quality of the proposed accommodation would be 
acceptable. 

Parking provision 

(54) Two spaces will be provided for the proposed dwelling and at least 2 will be retained 
for the existing house. This accords with the requirements of the Council's adopted Parking 
Standards SPD. Based on the site plans it does seem that 3 spaces could be accommodated 
at the existing dwelling to allow for additional visitor parking and that there is some on street 
capacity in Faesten Way. 

Impact on protected trees

(55) The site is surrounded by a number of protected and unprotected trees and contains 2 
existing protected trees. These trees are protected under TPO no. 12 1983.  Any development 
in proximity to trees is likely to have some level of impact on them. It is necessary to determine 
what the level of impact there will be balanced against amenity value of the protected tree/s. 

(56) The submitted tree survey concludes that "there is a risk of the development proposal 
having an adverse impact on the existing trees both above and below ground. These impacts 
can be suitably mitigated and minimised through minimal-dig designs, root pruning and 
arboricultural supervision." The Council's tree consultant has indicated agreement with the 
above conclusion.

(57)  The tree which the consultant advises is most likely to be affected is a protected Oak 
Tree which is within the neighbouring garden, 1A Faesten Way. The Oak Tree is over 20 metres 
from the highway boundary which does reduce its prominence in the street scene somewhat. 
According to the Tree Survey provided this has been classified as a Category B (Moderate 
Quality) tree. The Tree survey provides specific recommendations as to how any impact on the 
tree can be best minimised. If Members are minded to approve the application then the specific 
details of the proposed digging methods and type of hard surfacing proposed will be required 
by condition.

(58) The garage which currently sits within the aforementioned Oak's root protection area 
is to be removed. It was the intention to erect a new smaller garage however following 
discussion with the applicants it has been decided that the garage will be removed and no 
replacement is now proposed. Provided a permeable surface is used for the parking area this 
should relieve some pressure on the roots of the Oak tree and allow water to penetrate as well 
as reduce any need to prune the canopy above the garage.

(59) The Oak Tree is quite close to the existing dwelling at 1A Faesten Way but is in good 
health nonetheless. The proposed dwelling will sit at a similar distance, if not slightly further 
from the Oak tree. As such, given the health of the tree within this built up context, I have no 



reason to suggest that with appropriate mitigation measures, the Oak's health cannot continue 
to be preserved.    

(60) The most prominent specimen, which I consider makes the highest contribution to the 
street scene, is the protected Ash Tree located to the southern side of the private driveway just 
outside of the application site and close to the entrance to the site. No works are proposed in 
close proximity to this tree. I consider that the use of the driveway by additional cars to the 
single dwelling proposed should not cause a significant impact bearing in mind that the access 
is already utilised by 2 dwellings.

(61) An unprotected Eucalyptus tree is proposed to be removed and is described by the 
Council's Tree Consultant as a category U tree and he agrees that this can be lost without any 
harm to character of the area. 

(62) I would note that what is on site appears to correlate with the tree survey however the 
Council's Tree Preservation Order records appear to differ from this.  Essentially, there are less 
trees on site than the TPO identifies.  I am not aware of any consent having been given for the 
felling of any of the protected trees on site however based on aerial photography there has 
been little change in the tree situation on site since 2003.  As such this is an historic issue which 
should not affect the determination of the current planning application.

(63) Based on the advice of the Council's tree consultant and the arboricultural report 
provided by the applicants I consider that there is adequate evidence to show that the proposal 
should not give rise to the loss of, or harm to, any protected trees or high quality specimens. 
Measures are to be taken to mitigate any impact including the complete removal of the garage 
with no replacement proposed. 

(64) If members are minded to approve the application then I recommend a condition for 
the submission of a detailed methodology in relation to the works in proximity to the trees. It is 
not considered that any replacement is needed for the unprotected category U tree which is to 
be removed.

Other issues 

(65) Given the small scale and residential nature of this development, despite the request 
from Environmental Health in respect of controlling external lighting, I do not consider that this 
is necessary or justified.  However, as the site is access off a shared private drive I consider 
that a condition controlling hours of construction is appropriate in this case

(66) In terms of concerns raised in relation to the capacity of existing utilities, Thames Water 
have indicated that they do not object to the proposal and I consider that a single dwelling 
should not overload existing infrastructure capacity.

(67) In terms of the previously refused application for a dwelling on this site, there are 
differences between the two proposals.  The area is no longer an Area of Special Residential 
Character and the proposed layout is materially different to the previous proposal. The previous 
application also proposed a new vehicular access and additional hard standing, the current 
proposal will utilise an existing access.  I therefore consider that the current proposal has been 
altered to the extent that the previous reasons for refusal have fallen away. 

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(68) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(69) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of:



(70) Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development and in this case a chargeable area of 55.50 square metres results in a 
CIL liability of £15047.70, which subject to indexation will be paid on implementation. As 
Members are aware the CIL money achieved from developments goes into a pot and must be 
used to fund infrastructure to support development in the area, this includes new schools and 
strategic junction improvements where the money will be paid to the authorities responsible for 
providing these services.  In addition 15 % of the CIL payment will be passed to Wilmington 
Parish Council in accordance with CIL Regulations. I consider that this is a material 
consideration with regard to this proposal, as if the development were to commence, CIL 
monies received will assist in the delivery of  infrastructure projects that supports local 
development.

(71) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 
of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(72) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(73) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(74) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not 
considered to require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(75) Based on the above assessment of the key issues I consider that this application is an 
acceptable form of small site windfall development. The assessment has demonstrated that the 
site is sustainably located in an established residential neighbourhood, it does not impose an 
excessive burden on local infrastructure, it will not have an adverse impact on adjoining 
properties, the design and appearance of the development is high-quality and the proposal has 
adequate access with sufficient parking facilities. On balance therefore I consider that the 
benefits of developing in this sustainable location mean that the proposal is in compliance with 
the objectives of Policy CS10 and Policy DP7 in that the perceived benefits outweigh the limited 
disbenefits . I consider this to be an acceptable development of a small site.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval subject to the following conditions:

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: RDC/1B/003, RDC/1B/006 rev A, RDC/1B/002 rev B, RDC/1B/001 rev A

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.



03 No development shall take place on site until the internal and external alterations to The 
Willows 1b Faesten Way as shown on drawing nos. RDC/1B006 rev. A have been 
completed.

03 In the interests of safeguarding the residential amenities of the existing dwelling on site 
in accordance with Policy DP7 of the adopted Local Plan.

04 Before commencement of any building operations on site (including demolition and 
delivery of associated machinery or materials) a full methodology in relation to tree 
protection measures for all protected trees and trees to be retained on site shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority including digging methods, final ground levels 
and protective fencing and programme for its phasing and removal. Such measures shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and there shall be no storage of 
materials or plant within the tree protection areas. 

04 To prevent damage to the trees in the interest of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

05 Before commencement of the development hereby approved, details of existing and 
proposed levels of the land and building(s), including a contoured site plan, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

05 In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the sloping nature 
of the site and the amenities of neighbouring occupants in accordance with Policies DP2 
and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

06 Before commencement of the development beyond slab level hereby approved details 
and samples of all materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

06 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing building or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

07 No construction work shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no working on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

07 To protect the amenities of the residents of nearby dwellings in accordance with Policies 
DP5 and DP20 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

08 Prior to development beyond slab level of the new dwelling hereby approved, a 
landscaping scheme including both hard and soft landscaping which shall include the 
retention of existing trees on site (with the exception of the identified category U trees), 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved landscaping shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the dwelling 
hereby approved (unless this falls outside of the planting season in which case the soft 
landscaping shall be implemented at the first opportunity during the following planting 
season, between October and March inclusive). The landscaping shall thereafter be 
maintained for a period of five years. Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced 
within the next planting season with plants of similar species and size to that approved.

08 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.



09 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved details of all boundary 
treatments and enclosures shall be erected in accordance with the approved details to 
have been submitted and approved by the local planning authority. Such boundary 
treatement shall be maintained thereafter.

09 To ensure that the boundary treatment is acceptable in terms of visual impact in 
accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

10 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the first floor window(s) in the 
western side elevation(s) of the building serving the landing shall be obscure glazed with 
a minimum obscurity level of 3 as referred to in the Pilkington Texture Glass Range 
leaflet, or nearest equivalent as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Such glazing shall be incapable of being opened with the exception of any top hung fan 
lights, and shall subsequently be maintained as such at all times.

10 To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents in accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 
of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

11 The car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the approved 
plans for both the existing and proposed dwelling shall be provided prior to occupation 
of the relevant dwelling hereby approved and kept available for such use at all times and 
no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of land or 
to preclude vehicular access thereto.

11 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is 
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries 
should be directed to Thames Water's Risk Management Team by telephoning 
02035779483 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application 
forms should be completed on line via 
https://mail1.dartford.gov.uk/enduser/classify_url.html?url=5p5ZO6jFgY067P9bzN//xiBk
wrsI1S0aWyO5z5+p80dt4S7nkUS8uXVxO5TwQ8q0

02 If planning permission is granted for the development which is the subject of this notice, 
liability for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment is likely to arise.  Persons with 
an interest in the land are advised to consult the CIL guide on Dartford Council's Website 
(http://tinyurl.com/DartfordCIL) for information on the charge and any exemptions or 
relief, and to submit the relevant forms (available from www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil)  to 
the Council before commencement to avoid additional interest or surcharges.  If liable, a 
CIL Liability Notice will be sent detailing the charges, which will be registered as a local 
land charge against the relevant land.



House

Darmell

Cambaling

Brignoles

Ca
sit

o

Drain

Dene

Und

Kinloch

Tamar

Junior School

Jarruh

El

Chevening

Tree Tops

The Everglades

Def

CL
O

SE

HAMMERTON

FAESTEN WAY

PA
RK

 W
AY

Denewood
Lads Love

Lynton

Trevden

Woodhaven

Darston

29

55

49

11
4

35a

30

47

1

18

63

35b

2

27

1a

15

1b

11

13

37

16

25

23

35

6

Espero

Fossli

Querida

Rockley

Kirn

Fernlea

Dinard

Le Endan

Petanna
Cap D'or

40.0m

Cornell

Teign

Tintagel

BM 39.76m

FB

TILE KILN LANE

CR

55

Fossli

PA
R

K 
W

AY

1

FA
ES

TE
N 

W
AY

PARK WAY

47

PARK WAY

15

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/00927/FUL

Address : The Willows  1B Faesten Way Bexley DA5 2JB 

Date: 30 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01548/COU Officer: Jas Bansil

Location: Holy Trinity Church
High Street
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DE

Proposal: Change of use of 43m2 of land as play space to rear of church and erection of 
timber fence (retrospective application)

Applicant: West Hill Life Ltd/Mrs Copley

Agent: MRW Design/Mr Matthew Woodhams

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Town

RECOMMENDATION:

Refusal

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application site comprises of the northern most part of the side and rear external 
curtilage of the Holy Trinity Church on the High Street.

(2) The Holy Trinity Church is Grade I Listed. The rear of the church is linked to the modern 
church hall building. 

(3) To the north and west, the Church is enclosed by an 'L' shaped Grade II Listed building 
which contains a shop on the ground floor fronting the High Street (number 82), with the 
remainder of the building having been recently converted to a high standard into individual 
apartments and dwellings, which are accessed from Bullace Lane. The adjacent neighbouring 
building has several existing windows, openings, vents which immediately abut the Church 
curtilage and face onto the area which is the subject of the application. The area to the north 
and west of the church and church hall has recently been tidied by the developer of these new 
residential units and the area which is now the subject of this application was recently cleared 
of rubbish by the developer and the surface of the area improved. The land to the west of the 
church is visible from the High Street and contributes to the amenity of the town centre and the 
setting of the Listed Buildings.

(4) The site is in the Dartford Town Centre Conservation Area and both the Grade I Listed 
Church and the adjacent Grade II Listed building are significant parts of the historic 
environment.  

THE PROPOSAL

(5) The application seeks retrospective permission for the creation of a dedicated external 
play area to serve the nursery operating from the church hall. The nursery operates between 
the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 Monday to Friday. Given the length of time this use occupies the 
church hall in my opinion the use cannot be considered ancillary to the church hall. This use is 
a separate business, not an ancillary community use and therefore forms a separate planning 
unit from the church and its hall.  Since the use class for a nursery is D1, and the church and 
church hall are also D1 use, planning permission is not required for the use of the church hall 
as the nursery as planning law allows the subdivision of a use (not residential) into 2 planning 



units which are in the same use. However, the external space which is the subject to this 
application is in my opinion part of the curtilage to the church itself and is not part of the nursery 
planning unit. Planning permission is therefore required for the use of this external circulation 
area as a defined play area which is part of the nursery use. 

(6) The play space is enclosed with a timber fence which runs from the corner of the rear 
wall of the church hall westwards to the side of the adjacent Listed Building at 1 Bullace Lane 
(this is a timber frame building with a stone plinth and a jettied timber overhang). The external 
play space mainly occupies a narrow access way between the church hall/café and the adjacent 
Listed Building property to the north, however, it also occupies part of the open space which 
separates the curtilage of the church and the adjacent Listed Building, which is visible publicly 
from the High Street. At its narrowest the newly formed external play space is 80cm and at its 
widest it is 2.3m The applicant advises that the external space is currently used between 10 -
11.30 and 13.00- 14.30.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(7) Various applications have been considered at the Church over the years, but none are 
considered to be directly relevant to this application. 

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(8) The Council's Heritage advisor objects to the application and considers that it should 
be refused on aesthetic grounds due to the impact on the setting of the Listed Buildings and 
the character of the Conservation Area. 

(9) Historic England do not wish to offer any comments and suggest that the views of the 
Council's specialist conservation adviser are sought. 

(10) The Council's Environmental Health department raise objections to the application 
because of the negative impact to neighbouring amenity. Complaints have been received from 
the public in relation to the noise from the nursery use adversely impacting adjacent residential 
property. Environmental Health consider that the applicant has not addressed potential noise 
problems and not provided an acoustic assessment. Environmental Health consider that the 
applicant should provide an acoustic assessment prior to determination considering the 
potential noise from playing children, including any psychoacoustic potential that may arise from 
children's vocalisation that may make the noise more intrusive than the simple measured value. 
However, given the location and nature of the noise it is not considered that measures could 
be used to adequately attenuate noise from nursery age children to the extent that would render 
this location usable without a significant loss of amenity to the adjacent dwellings.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(11) Three letters of objection have been received. The objections raise strong objections 
about the negative impact to adjacent neighbouring amenity from the use of the external play 
space.  The objections comment on the number of windows and vents which abut the play area 
and through which the noise transfers. "When the children are screaming, which can be a 
normal part of play, the noise in the properties of Bullace Mews is very loud. Due to the enclosed 
space and shape of the alleyway the noise seems to project up and straight in the bedroom 
and bathroom windows." 

(12) An occupier of one of the adjacent units states that he was 'mortified' to discover that 
the alley way that backs onto this property has been turned into a children's play area. He goes 
on to state that no planning permission had been obtained by the nursery operator and therefore 
his solicitors did not pick up the development and if they had he would have pulled out of the 
purchase straight away. He states that as he has recently retired, the prospect of hearing this 
very loud noise throughout the day is very troubling.  

(13) The developer of the adjacent Bullace Mews development states that the acoustic 
treatment of the property has been designed around an environmental report which required 



additional measures to protect future occupiers on the elevations facing Bullace Lane and the 
High Street, but did not require such measures facing the Church. The applicant states that 
retro-fitting additional acoustic measures will now be very costly for the residential units. 

(14) The objections also raise concerns about the safety of the children playing in an 
enclosed space next to a flint wall. It is also asserted that the low windows cills are dangerous 
for the children. 

(15) The objections note that there is an existing play space in between the Church and the 
Church hall. 

RELEVANT POLICIES

(16) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(17) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS2: Dartford Town Centre - Revitalisation aims.  

(18) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design 
DP5: Environmental & Amenity Protection 
DP12: Historic Environment Strategy 
DP13: Designated Heritage Assets

(19) The Dartford Town Centre Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was 
adopted in July 2018 and amplifies the aims of Policy CS2 and outlines key projects which are 
being undertaken and sets out principles and objectives for development. 

(20) Dartford Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan - outlines 
the significance of the buildings. 

(21) The NPPF is also a material consideration and requires development to be determined 
in accordance with the adopted Local Plan. The NPPF seeks sustainable development. It states 
that decisions should ensure the vitality of town centres and notes that residential development 
often plays an important part in ensuring this. Chapter 12 places great importance on achieving 
well designed places and states that 'Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps makes development acceptable to 
communities.' It states that decisions should ensure that developments will function well and 
add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but for the lifetime of the 
development, is visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and history, built environment, 
creating places that are safe with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
Chapter 16 requires development to conserve and enhance the historic environment. It states 
that development should take into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 
require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to a Grade II Listed Building should 
be exceptional and wholly exceptional to a Grade I Listed. It states that where development 
leads to substantial harm Local Planning Authorities should refuse consent unless it can be 
demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh 
the harm.  Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within 



Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets, to 
enhance or better reveal their significance.

COMMENTS

Key Issues 

(22) I consider the main issues to be the impact to neighbouring amenity; the impact on the 
historic environment (specifically to designated heritage assets); safety issues; and the impact 
on the Core Strategy objectives of revitalising the town centre.  

Impact to neighbouring amenity 

(23) The development has created an enclosure, from part of the external curtilage and 
access way for the church and its hall, which is being used as an external play area by children 
attending the nursery operated in the Church hall. The play area immediately abuts a converted 
building which is in residential use. The adjacent residential building has several windows, 
openings and vents in its southern and eastern wall which immediately abut the play area. It is 
considered that the location of a play area, immediately adjacent to residential accommodation 
is unacceptable as it results in significant noise and disturbance and therefore has a detrimental 
impact to neighbouring residential amenity. An external children's play area, by its very nature, 
results in noise and disturbance from play activities, running, games, talking, toys etc.

(24) The play area not only immediately abuts the residential units at the adjacent property 
but it is also very narrow, originally serving as nothing more than an access way. The restricted 
area exacerbates the negative impact to amenity as the use and activity would always be 
contained immediately adjacent to the neighbouring units.

(25) A recording was provided to planning enforcement of the noise and disturbance 
experienced from within the neighbouring building and letters of objection have also been 
received on this matter following consultation of this application. The Council's environmental 
health and enforcement team have also received similar complaints.

(26) The Council's Environmental Health department raise objections to the play area 
because of noise and disturbance impacts to the adjacent residential uses. The comments note 
that because of the siting and the nature of the use it is unlikely that any mitigation measures, 
including restriction of hours, could be incorporated which could provide mitigation. I consider 
that this demonstrates the unacceptability of the external use.

(27) The development has also created a new means of independent access into the church 
hall, as previously the rear alleyway was inaccessible and prior to that was likely to be used as 
nothing more than an infrequently used emergency or maintenance access way. The rear ‘fire 
escape’ door is now being used as the main entrance for the nursery use, via the newly created 
enclosure and erected fence and gate. The agent has confirmed that parents and children enter 
and leave via the newly created boundary and enclosure. The sign on the gate also directs 
customers to use this entrance before 9.00a.m and after 3.00p.m. In addition to the impact from 
the external play area, I also have significant concerns about the creation of an additional 
entrance into the church hall, because of the detrimental impact this has on adjacent 
neighbouring amenity, resulting in significantly greater activity near residential units. The use 
of this independent access results in noise and disturbance caused by users opening and 
closing the gate and fire exit door, passing through the access way as well as gathering in and 
around the area. The constant use of this newly created independent access results in 
unacceptable harm due to the close proximity of residential units. This use and associated 
development has resulted in a significant change in circumstances to the detriment of the 
neighbouring residents. The church hall can already be accessed via the café and the lobby 
area on the eastern side, opposite the park and river. As the church hall already benefits from 
these alternative entrances, I consider it unreasonable, unneighbourly and harmful to use fire 
exits and the creation of enclosures as additional, main accesses to facilitate the nursery use.  



(28) I consider therefore that the proposed play area, due to its siting and nature is 
unacceptable as it has a detrimental impact to neighbouring amenity, by way of noise and 
disturbance, making it contrary to Policy DP5. Policy DP5 seeks to protect the amenity of 
existing lawful uses from noise and disturbance. The development is considered to be contrary 
to the NPPF as it does not comply with the Local Plan and also because it is of poor design as 
it does not create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.                                   

Impact to designated heritage assets and the historic environment 

(29) The fence that has been erected is sited in the curtilage of the Grade I Listed Church 
and immediately adjacent to the neighbouring Grade II Listed Building. The Listing description 
for the grade II listed building describes it as “an early C15 timber-framed building with a long 
frontage facing Bullace Lane. The ground floor has modern shop windows. The 1st floor is 
plastered and oversails on brackets. Hipped tiled roof. Sash windows, some retaining their 
glazing bars. 2 storeys, 2 windows facing High Street. 4 windows facing Bullace Lane. At the 
back is a small additional contemporary portion of 2 storeys and 1 window with a lower 
elevation, in part of which the timber-framing is exposed with painted brick infilling, the 
remainder weather-boarded and plastered. On the east side facing the churchyard is a red brick 
chimneybreast of which there is a record that it was added in 1465. To the north is an early C19 
extension of 2 storeys with painted brick ground floor and weatherboarded 1st floor. Tiled roof. 
6 sashes.   Nos 78-82(even) & the Church of the Holy Trinity form a group."  

(30) These two Listed Buildings are of significant historical and architectural importance 
individually but as the listing description advises they also form an important group of historic 
buildings The Listed Buildings also therefore make a significant contribution to the Borough's 
largest Conservation Area and the space between the buildings is in my opinion a very high 
quality space contributing to the quality of the Conservation Area and the setting of the 
buildings. Both the Holy Trinity Church and the adjacent Listed Building (previously referred to 
as 82 High Street but now part of Bullace Mews) are noted as key buildings part of important 
building clusters in the Dartford Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan. Therefore both Listed Buildings and the Conservation Area are of great significance. 

(31) The external curtilage to the west of the Church provides an important open setting 
between it and the adjacent Listed Building and contributes to the setting and importance of 
these heritage assets. The openness between the two Listed Buildings and the relationship 
between them is considered to be part of the significance. The appearance of the Listed 
Buildings is a crucial part of the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

(32) The fence and gate that has been erected reduces the openness between the two 
Listed Buildings and creates an awkward enclosure and disrupts open views of the rear part of 
the Grade II Listed Building. It also provides an incongruous feature in what is a medieval space 
between buildings that maintained that quality until the erection of the fence. The space has 
been markedly improved as a result of the renovation and conversion of Bullace Mews and the 
area was in my opinion an asset to the town centre. The fence and gate now negatively affect 
the setting of the Listed Buildings. It diminishes and detracts from the significance and 
contribution of the Listed Buildings and negatively affects their character and appearance. A 
further negative impact to the Conservation Area is that the fence impedes views from the High 
Street towards the Grade II Listed Building.

(33) I consider that the proposed play area and associated boundary enclosures negatively 
affects all of the above-mentioned heritage assets by (a) affecting the setting and (b) because 
of its incongruous nature which results in harm and loss of significance and (c) because it 
negatively affects the character and appearance of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Area.  

(34) The enclosure of such a constrained, narrow space as a play space is not considered 
to provide a necessary substantial public benefit and therefore it is not considered that there is 
a valid justification for the development and this is line with Policy DP13 and the NPPF. 



(35) The development is considered to be contrary to Policy DP12 as it does not conserve 
or enhance the heritage assets. It is considered to be contrary to Policy DP13 because of the 
harm identified to the Listed Buildings and because of the negative impact to their significance 
and setting and because of the negative impact to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. The development is also contrary to Policy DP2 which requires good design 
which responds to, reinforces and enhances the positive aspects of the locality and the creation 
of high quality places. Policy DP2 also requires development to have appropriate regard to 
heritage assets and that the character of historic settlements is respected. 

(36) The development is considered to be contrary to the NPPF as it is contrary to the Local 
Plan and because it does not conserve or enhance the historic environment and results in harm. 

(37) It is therefore concluded that the development is contrary to Policy DP12, DP13 and 
DP2 as it results in a detrimental impact to the setting of important Listed Buildings and because 
it negatively affects the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

Safety

(38) The applicant's supporting statement states that: "The area behind the hall was 
previously unused space and for a long period has been used by the local homeless as a 
sleeping area. As a result the alley was frequently littered with rubbish including boxes used for 
temporary bedding, broken glass and used needles. Also they used the space as a public 
convenience meaning human excrement was spread about close to the playschool entrance 
creating a serious health hazard. The owners have also spoken to the local police officer who 
confirmed the alley was used by local criminals as a cut through to escape capture. A letter of 
support has been sent to the local authority from PC Wright who knows the site well." The 
applicant's supporting statement includes a letter from the vicar which also echoes the above.  

(39) I consider that issues of safety and anti-social behaviour are a material consideration 
with regard to this application. However, I note that the area was tidied and cleared by the 
developer of the adjoining site and before that the space had not been maintained.  Whilst I 
have duly considered them, it is considered that there are other measures that could be 
considered to deal with such issues which would have less of an impact to designated heritage 
assets. The safety issues therefore do not in my opinion outweigh the harm identified to the 
heritage assets and the neighbouring residents. 

(40) I also consider that one of the key ways to improve safety in the town centre is to 
encourage natural surveillance from town centre residents. However, if buildings remain vacant 
because of noise and disturbance, as result of adjacent uses, then it will make it more difficult 
to create long-term solutions to these issues 

Revitalisation of the town centre 

(41) One of the key aims of the Council's Core Strategy is the revitalisation of Dartford Town 
Centre (Policy CS1). Policy CS2 requires development in the town centre to contribute to and 
be compliant with the objectives of revitalising the town centre. The aims seek to strengthen 
the role of the town centre, improve its accessibility, safety and overall user experience, 
broadening the attraction of the leisure and recreation offer, developing a unique identity, 
creating a high quality environment, improving pedestrian links and connections and ultimately 
making it a better place to live and work. The Dartford Town Centre Framework Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) was adopted in July 2018 and amplifies the aims of Policy CS2 and 
outlines key projects which are being undertaken and sets out principles and objectives for 
development. The Council has been working closely with various stakeholders to programme 
significant and tangible improvements to the town centre in compliance with Policy CS2 and 
the SPD and several projects are currently being progressed.   

(42) There are significant concerns about the lack of compatibility of the proposed 
development with Policy CS2 and the Town Centre Framework SPD.



(43) The development does not comply with the aims of improving and enhancing the 
environment or promoting a unique identity and giving the historic environment a higher profile. 
The SPD on page 7 notes that alleyways contribute to the historic character of the area, and it 
is considered that enclosing such areas is harmful and against good design aims, which are 
also echoed in DP2, necessary for the improvement of the town centre. The development also 
goes against the SPD aim of enhancing the setting of the Holy Trinity Church 

(44) The revitalisation of the town centre also requires appropriate and sustainable re-use 
of existing buildings, and the conversion of the neighbouring Listed Building on Bullace Lane is 
a recent successful example of this aim. The development, by negatively impacting on lawful 
residential uses, undermines the objectives of providing good quality residential units in the 
town centre and providing long-term uses to important buildings. Prior to the conversion of the 
adjacent building, it was in a neglected and vacant state. The successful conversion of the 
adjacent building is a significant improvement to this part of the town centre resulting in 
renovation of a Listed Building, improvement of the spaces around the building, and generating 
activity and natural surveillance in the town centre. I consider that the external play space in 
this location undermines these improvements and is therefore detrimental to the revitalisation 
aims for the town centre. I consider that the newly erected fence and place space undermines 
the previous benefits which had been secured for this space between the buildings.   

(45) The other detrimental impact of the development is, in my opinion, the poor quality play 
area that has been created for the nursery children. The play area is narrow and dark and there 
are concerns about how safe it is, sandwiched between two walls, one of which is an historic 
flint wall at the lower level. The Local Plan revitalisation aims seek to create high quality places 
for all users and the plan requires all developments to incrementally make positive contributions 
and it is not considered that the play space fulfils these aims.  

(46) It is concluded that the development is contrary to Policy CS2 and the appended SPD 
as it negatively affects the visual amenity of the town centre, has a detrimental impact to the 
historic environment, negatively affects the aim of ensuring good quality residential 
accommodation and undermines recent improvements and does not create a good quality play 
space. The development is contrary to the revitalisation aims for the town centre. The 
development is considered to be contrary to the NPPF as it conflicts with the Local Plan, 
negatively affects the vitality of the town centre, the historic environment, is poorly designed 
and does not create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

Other issues 

(47) It is understood that the nursery does have an alternative play space in between the 
Church and the hall. Furthermore the church hall is immediately adjacent to a small area of 
publicly available park land to the east. Taking account of these other options further convinces 
me that the works are not only inappropriate, but unnecessary.  

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 

(48) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

(49) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(50) It is therefore concluded that the development is unacceptable as it has a detrimental 
impact to adjacent neighbouring amenity by way of noise and disturbance (contrary to Policy 
DP5), has a detrimental impact to designated heritage assets (contrary to Policy DP2, DP12 



and DP13) and does not comply with the Core Strategy aims of revitalising the town centre 
(contrary to Policy CS2 and associated SPD).  

RECOMMENDATION:

Refusal

01 The external play area and associated boundary enclosures is considered unacceptable 
as it results in a detrimental impact to adjacent residential amenity, is of poor design and 
does not contribute to the Local Plan aims of revitalising the town centre, contrary to 
Policy CS2 of the adopted Core Strategy 2011 and Policies DP2 and DP5, of the adopted 
Development Policies Plan 2017 and the objectives of the Dartford Town Centre 
Framework Supplementary Planning Document 2018.

02 The external play area and associated boundary enclosures is considered unacceptable 
and results in significant harm to the setting of the adjacent Grade I Listed Holy Trinity 
Church and Grade II listed 82 High Street and the character and appearance of the 
Dartford Town Centre Conservation Area by virtue of the incongruous appearance of the 
boundary enclosures and the subdivision of the historic space. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policy CS2 of the adopted Core Strategy 2011 and Policies DP2, DP12, and 
DP13 of the adopted Development Policies Plan 2017 and the objectives of the Dartford 
Town Centre Framework Supplementary Planning Document 2018

POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE INFORMATIVE:

01 To assist applicants the Local Planning Authority has produced adopted policies and 
guidance, which are publicly available. On receipt, the scheme did not comply with 
policy or guidance. It is not considered that amendments would overcome the harm 
identified and would have gone beyond the scope of the application. The Local 
Planning Authority therefore delivered an adverse decision in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF.



(Shopping Centre)
Orchards

Trinity Church

R
iver D

arent

Club

HIGH STREET

Library

Holy

Acacia

Pumping Station

County Court

Bridge

House

Hanau Bridge

Hall

Roundhouse

4.
6m

5.2m

5.3m

4.9m
Council

6.48m

Museum

C
R

Sluice

Car

Pond

Ba
nk

s 
Pl

ac
e

PH

Playground

Car Park

Pa
rk

The Vicarage

BM 6.64m

ED & Ward Bdy

HOM
E G

ARDENS

MARKET STREET

M
AR

K
ET

 P
LA

C
E

OVERY LIBERTY

Subway

Church View

3

47
49

13

58

20

1
2

80

68

56

72

Posts

10

74

18

78
76

1 
to

 5

46 to 52

53

60

15

69

66

17

45

65

51

54

43

62

32

11

16

82

to

7
9

Shelter

55

Bu
lla

ce
 L

an
e

Holy Trinity Church

Chy

Sub Sta

Tanks

TCBs

5.5m

PCs

Shelter

C
ar

PH

House

C
lub

C
ar

 P
ar

k
Hall

2

Car Park

C
ar

 P
ar

k
C

lu
b

Hall

2

Shelter

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01548/COU

Address : Holy Trinity Church High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DE

Date: 29 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01549/LBC Officer: Jas Bansil

Location: Holy Trinity Church
High Street
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DE

Proposal: Application for Listed Building Consent for change of use of 43m2 of land as 
play space to rear of church and erection of timber fence (retrospective 
application)

Applicant: West Hill Life Ltd/Mrs Copley

Agent: MRW Design/Mr Matthew Woodhams

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Town

RECOMMENDATION:

Refusal of Listed Building Consent

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application relates to an area on the northern most part of the side and rear 
external curtilage of the Holy Trinity Church on the High Street.

(2) The Holy Trinity Church is Grade I Listed. The rear of the church is linked to the modern 
church hall building. 

(3) To the north and west, the Church is enclosed by an 'L' shaped Grade II Listed building 
which contains a shop on the ground floor fronting the High Street (number 82), with the 
remainder of the building having been recently converted to a high standard into individual 
apartments and dwellings, which are accessed from Bullace Lane. The area to the north and 
west of the church and church hall has recently been tidied by the developer of these new 
residential units and the area which is now the subject of these applications was recently 
cleared of rubbish by the developer and the surface of the area improved. The land to the west 
of the church is visible from the High Street and contributes to the amenity of the town centre 
and the setting of the Listed Buildings.

(4) The site is in the Dartford Town Centre Conservation Area and both the Grade I Listed 
Church and the adjacent Grade II Listed building are significant parts of the historic 
environment.  

THE PROPOSAL

(5) The application seeks retrospective Listed Building Consent for the enclosure of a 
dedicated external play area for nursery children. The use of the area requires planning 
permission and is also reported on the agenda, reference 18/01548/COU. The Listed Building 
Consent relates to the works required to create this play area which is the fencing and gate 
which have been erected to the west and east of the alleyway. The play space is enclosed at 
its western end with a timber fence, gate and trellis which form a continuous run across from 
the corner of the rear wall of the church hall westwards to the side of the adjacent Listed Building 
at 1 Bullace Lane (this is a timber frame building with a stone plinth and a jettied timber 
overhang).  The external play space occupies the northern part of the space between the listed 



buildings and a narrow access way between the church hall/café and the adjacent Listed 
Building property to the north. A further fence has been erected between the church hall and 
the listed building to the north at the eastern end. Listed Building Consent is required because 
the church hall although a modern addition is attached to the Church and is therefore classed 
as listed and the fence at the eastern end is also attached to the boundary wall which I consider 
is also part of the historic curtilage of the church. Hard surfacings adjacent to the Listed 
Buildings also require Listed Building Consent where they affect the character of the Listed 
Building, although no details have been given there is also new hard surfacing within the 
external area directly adjacent to the Listed 82 High Street/Bullace Mews.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(6) Various applications have been considered over the years, but none are considered to 
be directly relevant to this application.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(7) The Council's Heritage advisor objects to the application and considers that it should 
be refused on aesthetic grounds due to the impact on the setting of the Listed Buildings.

(8) Historic England do not wish to offer any comments and suggest that the views of the 
Council's specialist conservation adviser are sought.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(9) 8 letters of support have been received, some which appear to be from customers of 
the nursery. Two of the letters are from addresses outside of the borough. 

(10) The letters have stated that the fence and gate gives peace of mind that the children 
will be safe and that there is an area for them to play. 

(11) It is stated that the gate ensures that access is safe. 

(12) The letters state that in the past there have been problems with homeless people and 
anti-social behaviour around the back of the building as well as used needles, urine and rubbish. 
One letter states that the fence has made a huge difference to the whole side of the church.   

RELEVANT POLICIES

(13) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(14) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS2: Town centre development should protect and enhance the town centre's historic     
environment. 

(15) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP12: Historic Environment Strategy
DP13: Designated Heritage Assets

(16) The NPPF is also a material consideration and requires development to be determined 
in accordance with the adopted Local Plan. Chapter 16 requires development to conserve and 
enhance the historic environment. It states that development should take into account the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to 
viable uses consistent with their conservation and the desirability of new development making 
a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 



should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total 
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of 
a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to a Grade II Listed 
Building should be exceptional and wholly exceptional to a Grade I Listed. It states that where 
development leads to substantial harm Local Planning Authorities should refuse consent unless 
it can be demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh the harm.  Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new 
development within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of 
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance.

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(17) When considering an application for Listed Building Consent the Council are required 
to give particular attention to the desirability of preserving the Listed building, its setting and 
those features which make it special. In this case two Listed Buildings are impacted by the 
fencing and enclosure and I consider that the spaces between the buildings contribute to their 
special character requiring specific consideration as well as the impact of introducing clutter 
and subdivision on the setting of the Listed Buildings; but also the potential impact of the works 
carried out to erect the fence on the buildings themselves.

Setting and special character of the buildings 

(18) The fence that has been erected is sited in the curtilage of the Grade I Listed Church 
and is attached to it and is immediately adjacent to the neighbouring Grade II Listed Building. 
The Listing description for the grade II listed building describes it as "an early C15 timber-framed 
building with a long frontage facing Bullace Lane. The ground floor has modern shop windows. 
The 1st floor is plastered and oversails on brackets. Hipped tiled roof. Sash windows, some 
retaining their glazing bars. 2 storeys, 2 windows facing High Street. 4 windows facing Bullace 
Lane. At the back is a small additional contemporary portion of 2 storeys and 1 window with a 
lower elevation, in part of which the timber-framing is exposed with painted brick infilling, the 
remainder weather-boarded and plastered. On the east side facing the churchyard is a red brick 
chimneybreast of which there is a record that it was added in 1465. To the north is an early C19 
extension of 2 storeys with painted brick ground floor and weatherboarded 1st floor. Tiled roof. 
6 sashes.   Nos 78-82(even) & the Church of the Holy Trinity form a group."  These two Listed 
Buildings are of significant historical and architectural importance individually but as the listing 
description advises they also form an important group of historic buildings. The space between 
the buildings is in my opinion a very high quality space contributing to the setting of the buildings 
and forming part of the special character of both Listed Buildings. The relationship of the Church 
to 82 High Street and the space in between these buildings establishes the Church as an urban 
church well-related to the town that it serves and has a special character of significant historic 
quality. The external curtilage to the west of the Church therefore provides an important open 
setting between it and the adjacent Listed Building and contributes to the setting and importance 
of these heritage assets. The openness between the two Listed Buildings and the relationship 
between them is considered to be part of the significance. 

(19) The fence and gate that has been erected reduces the openness between the two 
Listed Buildings and creates an awkward enclosure and disrupts open views of the rear part of 
the Grade II Listed Building. The fence is made up of different styles and colours and creates 
an incongruous feature in what is a medieval space between buildings which maintained that 
quality until the erection of the fence. The space has been markedly improved as a result of the 
renovation and conversion of Bullace Mews and the area was in my opinion an asset to the 
town centre. The fencing and gate to the west now negatively affect the setting of the Listed 
Buildings and their special character. It diminishes and detracts from the significance and 
setting of the Listed Buildings and negatively affects their character and appearance.  

(20) The fencing to the east is better hidden and although it appears as a modern addition, 
it does not have a substantial impact.



(21) The fencing at the western end is therefore considered to result in substantial harm to 
the special character and setting of Holy Trinity Church and 82 High Street and Bullace Mews.  
The enclosure of such a constrained, narrow space as a play space is not considered to provide 
a necessary substantial public benefit which would outweigh this substantial harm. The 
proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy DP13.  The development is considered 
to be contrary to Policy DP12 as it does not conserve or enhance the heritage assets. 

(22) The development is considered to be contrary to the NPPF as it is contrary to the Local 
Plan and because it does not conserve or enhance designated heritage assets and results in 
harm. 

Impact of the works

(23) Although the fence post is not attached to the adjacent listed building it is buried in 
concrete immediately adjacent to the base of this buildings footings. Given the age of the 
building and the likely nature of the footings I have significant concerns about the impact of 
excavation and a concrete filled hole so close to 82 High Street. Concrete being of a solid nature 
can prevent movement and damp evaporation and may have significant impact on older timber 
framed buildings. A new concrete surface also runs along the Listed Building and appears to 
have been installed recently. I have concerns that the hard nature of this concrete will prevent 
the footings of this 600 year old building and its later extension from breathing. The northern 
boundary appears to be the original flint wall to the church yard and the concrete also extends 
along this wall. 

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 

(24) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

(25) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

(26) I consider that the development results in substantial harm to the character and setting 
of the Listed Buildings, both Holy Trinity Church and 82 High Street and is therefore contrary to 
Policies DP12 and DP13. 

RECOMMENDATION:

Refuse listed building consent for the following reason:

01 The external play area and associated boundary enclosures is considered to result 
in substantial harm to the character and setting of the adjacent Grade I Listed Holy 
Trinity Church and Grade II listed 82 High Street by virtue of the incongruous 
appearance of the boundary enclosures, the subdivision of the historic space and 
inappropriate use of modern materials adjacent to these historic buildings. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS2 of the adopted Core Strategy 2011 and 
Policies DP12, and DP13 of the adopted Development Policies Plan 2017.



POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE INFORMATIVE

To assist applicants the Local Planning Authority has produced adopted policies and 
guidance, which are publicly available. On receipt, the scheme did not comply with policy or 
guidance. It is not considered that amendments would overcome the harm identified and 
would have gone beyond the scope of the application. The Local Planning Authority therefore 
delivered an adverse decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF.



(Shopping Centre)
Orchards

Trinity Church

R
iver D

arent

Club

HIGH STREET

Library

Holy

Acacia

Pumping Station

County Court

Bridge

House

Hanau Bridge

Hall

Roundhouse

4.
6m

5.2m

5.3m

4.9m
Council

6.48m

Museum

C
R

Sluice

Car

Pond

Ba
nk

s 
Pl

ac
e

PH

Playground

Car Park

Pa
rk

The Vicarage

BM 6.64m

ED & Ward Bdy

HOM
E G

ARDENS

MARKET STREET

M
AR

K
ET

 P
LA

C
E

OVERY LIBERTY

Subway

Church View

3

47
49

13

58

20

1
2

80

68

56

72

Posts

10

74

18

78
76

1 
to

 5

46 to 52

53

60

15

69

66

17

45

65

51

54

43

62

32

11

16

82

to

7
9

Shelter

55

Bu
lla

ce
 L

an
e

Holy Trinity Church

Chy

Sub Sta

Tanks

TCBs

5.5m

PCs

Shelter

C
ar

PH

House

C
lub

C
ar

 P
ar

k
Hall

2

Car Park

C
ar

 P
ar

k
C

lu
b

Hall

2

Shelter

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01549/LBC

Address : Holy Trinity Church High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DE

Date: 29 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

14 February 2019

Reference: 18/01404/FUL Officer: Mrs B Lidster

Location: 172 Birchwood Road
Wilmington
Kent
DA2 7HA

Proposal: Erection of 3 No. boundary walls comprising brick piers and infill metal railings 
and close boarded fence panels (part retrospective application)

Applicant: Mr Grenville Clay

Agent: Mr Terry Cassley

Parish / Ward: Wilmington Parish Council / Joydens Wood

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) No. 172 Birchwood Road is a new detached house located at the junction with 
Clarenden Place. There is a detached building to the end of the garden which is a garage with 
additional living space at the lower level.

(2) Planning permission was granted in 2013 (13/01159/FUL) to demolish the then existing 
house and rebuild a larger property (currently on site).  The development showed the ground 
levels to be lowered by 0.225m.

(3) Condition 03 of the 2013 permission for the new house removed permitted 
development rights for, amongst other things, any new fences, walls or other means of 
enclosure triggering the need for planning permission to be sought from the local planning 
authority.  

(4) Work has already started on the boundary fences and this application is therefore partly 
retrospective.

THE PROPOSAL

(5) The original proposal was for the erection of 3 No. boundary walls comprising brick 
piers and infill metal railings and close boarded fence panels and metal access gates and re-
positioning of an existing vehicle crossover (retrospective application).  However as a result of 
officer concerns the proposal has been revised and the description now removes reference to 
the provision of metal access gates.  The boundary treatment will now consist of a 1.8m high 
boundary fence to the boundary with No.170 Birchwood Road, 1.8m high boundary fence and 
1m high railings to the boundary with Clarenden Place and 1m high railings with1.2m high brick 
piers to the front of the property facing onto Birchwood Road.

(6) The only element of the current proposal that is retrospective is the 1.8m high boundary 
fences either side of the rear garden.  The existing side metal railings (which do not have 
permission) would be removed and replaced with 1 metre high railings.  The applicant's agent 
has also confirmed that there would be no alteration to the existing dropped kerb/vehicular 
crossing to the front of the site, although the opening in the front boundary to allow access for 
vehicles would be moved slightly to the north.  



RELEVANT HISTORY

In respect of the replacement dwelling and detached garage to the rear:

(7) 18/01447/NONMAT - Application for a non-material amendment following grant of 
planning permission DA/13/01159/FUL in respect of forming circular window on the front 
elevation at 2nd floor level. Forming of half height fixed glazed panel along the north elevation 
of the single storey living/dining area, changes to the dormer windows to the rear roof slope, 
removal of corner stones to rear elevations, changes to window designs and sizes and change 
to the roof profile - Refused. 

(8) 16/01226/FUL Demolition of existing garage and erection of a detached garage with 
additional lower ground level and patio area in connection with replacement dwelling 
(retrospective application) - Approved

(9) 16/00692/CDNA Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant 
to condition 2 of planning permission DA/13/01159/FUL for demolition of existing property and 
erection of a 5 bedroom detached house incorporating dormer windows in front and rear 
elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space - Approved

(10) 13/01159/FUL Demolition of existing property and erection of a 5 bedroom detached 
house incorporating dormer windows in front and rear elevation in connection with providing 
additional rooms in the roof space - Approved

(11) 13/00106/FUL Demolition of existing property and erection of a 6 bedroom detached 
house incorporating dormer windows in front and rear elevation in connection with providing 
additional rooms in the roof space - Refused

(12) 12/00362/FUL Application to raise height of roof and erection of two storey front and 
rear extensions incorporating dormer windows in front and rear elevations in connection with 
providing additional rooms in the roof space and provision of balconies on rear elevation at first 
floor level and roof space level - Refused

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(13) Kent Highways - No objection

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(14) Four letters of representation have been received commenting that: 
- they support the change to the vehicle crossover being moved to the centre of 

the property; 
- if all on applicant's property no objection to the positioning of the boundary 

wall/fencing; 
- more detailed drawings needed; 
- no details of the height of the ball adornments on the piers (referring to the 

original proposal prior to amendments); 
- the development is not in keeping with the fencing to the property to the other 

side of Clarenden Place; 
- railings and fencing has been erected without permission; 
- will remove privacy as railings are open and you can see who is entering and 

leaving Clarenden Place; 
- will reduce the value of properties in Clarenden Place; 
- would prefer to see 1.8m close lap fencing along boundary with Clarenden 

Place; 
- would like clarification that the existing brick pier with ball on top at the front of 

Clarenden Place is kept as it mirrors the one on the other side at 174; 
- there have been many applications on this site and the development is not in 

accordance with the approved plans. If this application is allowed the 
development may well be different to the approved plans; 



- there are erroneous errors on the plans including reference to Clarendon Place 
rather than Clarenden Place.

(15) Local residents also raise other non-planning concerns referring to covenants and 
encroachment over boundaries.  These do not have any bearing on the consideration of this 
planning application.  

(16) Following amendments to the scheme and reconsultation of neighbours one further 
letter of representation received from a neighbour who re-iterates their previous comments.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(17) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(18) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP2: Good Design;
DP4: Transport access and design;
DP5: Environmental and amenity protection;
DP7: Borough housing stock and residential amenity 

(19) The NPPF is also a material consideration.

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(20) The development would be visible within the street scene and alter an existing access 
onto Birchwood Road.  The key issues are therefore the impact of the development on 
neighbours and the wider street scene as well as highway safety.

Impact on neighbours

(21) The proposed development provides new boundary treatments to both side boundaries 
and to the front in Birchwood Road.  Since the original application was submitted the proposal 
has been revised and now proposes a 1.8m high boundary fence between Nos. 170 and 172.  
To the boundary with Clarenden Place it is proposed that a 1.8m high fence will be erected 
from the rear of the dwelling to the rear detached garage and 1m high black painted railings 
extending from the proposed fence to the front boundary with Birchwood Road.

(22) Looking first at the impact on No. 170 Birchwood Road, the 1.8m fence would be 
located on the boundary between the properties and attain a height of 1.8m from the ground 
level of No. 170.  The ground level has been reduced at No. 172 with a retaining wall.   A 1.8m 
high fence is the usual height for boundary fence between properties and indeed a 2m high 
fence would normally fall as permitted development between properties.  As such I am satisfied 
that a 1.8m fence (the height on the neighbours side) between the two properties would be 
acceptable, achieving privacy between the properties as well as having no significant 
detrimental impacts on the occupiers of No. 170 Birchwood Road in terms of overshadowing or 
an overbearing effect.

(23) To the boundary with Clarenden Place the fence and railings would be set away from 
private amenity space and would therefore have no undue impact on residential amenities.  

(24) Concern has been raised as to a loss of privacy to the occupiers in Clarenden Place 
by the provision of railings as opposed to a solid fence/wall. There are two ground floor windows 
within the side elevation of the new dwelling.  These would have a view of Clarenden Place 
through the proposed railings.  Although this is a small road leading to the houses further to the 
northwest, the road is already clearly visible from Birchwood Road and it holds a different status 



to a private garden for example.  Overlooking of a road or access, be it private or adopted (in 
this case it is adopted by KCC Highways), is generally considered to be good in terms of 
providing natural surveillance and thereby improving security.  There is also a need for railings 
along the side of the property as opposed to wooden fencing in order to preserve the level of 
light to the two windows to this side elevation and this is something we would normally 
encourage on a corner plot to maintain a sense of openness.

(25) Local residents have raised concerns about this application being partly retrospective.  
The purpose of this application is to try and obtain the necessary planning approval to change 
the boundary treatment and regularise the elements that are already in place.  Whilst it is 
regrettable that the application is retrospective, works have stopped on installing the fencing 
until the outcome of the application.  This should not prejudice the outcome of this planning 
application.  

Impact on the street scene

(26) The revision to the front of the property now provides for metal railings of 1m height 
with 1.2m brick piers.  This offers a much more open and softer appearance than the original 
proposal of a high brick wall and gates.  There are a number of other examples of such railings 
and piers along Birchwood Road.  The impact of the proposed front boundary enclosure on the 
street scene would therefore by acceptable in my view. 

(27) Whilst I accept that the proposed 1m high black railings along the side boundary does 
not reflect the fencing to the side boundary of No. 174 Birchwood Road with Clarenden Place, 
I do not consider that they would look out of place or that they would be harmful to visual 
amenities.  Residential areas are usually made up of a mix of house types and boundary 
treatments as in this case.  

(28) The proposed close boarded fencings is a typical feature of this area and would not 
therefore have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the area.  

(29) In my opinion the proposed boundary treatments are acceptable having no significant 
detrimental visual impact on the appearance of the property or the wider street scene.

Highway safety

(30) Kent Highways have commented on the proposal and are satisfied that the 
development is acceptable from a highway point of view. They raise no objection to the slight 
re-location of the opening onto the highway.  I have no reason to question this and note that 
the front boundary railings and piers are set back from the back edge of both the footway and 
carriageway.  I have no concerns in respect of visibility splays therefore.  

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(31) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(32) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(33) In my opinion the development would not have any significant detrimental impacts on 
residential or visual amenities neighbours, nor highway safety and as such I recommend that 
the application is approved subject to the conditions set out below.



RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

01 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents:  PL-100 Rev. B; PL-101 Rev. B; PL-102 Rev. C

01 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

02 Before the commencement of the construction of the approved brick piers beyond slab 
level, details and of the bricks shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

02 To ensure that the development does not harm the visual amenity of the locality in 
accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 It appears that this development involves work close to a boundary, which may come 
under the terms of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.  If it does, you will need to serve notice 
on your neighbour before undertaking any work.  It would therefore be advisable for you 
to ensure that you meet any requirements of the Act before starting any work.



Joyden's Wood

50.5m

50.8m

50.9m

50.6m

59.6m

Pond

BM 57.47m

BM
 5

0.
77

m

CLARENDON PLACE

BI
RC

HW
OO

D 
RO

AD

SUMMERHOUSE DRIVE

252

18
0

16
2

1

240

209

254

18
8

19
0

10

17
4

262

16
8

258

15
0

15
8

14
2

15
6

11

211

217

20
0

19
2

17

2

8
4

ROAD

PLACE

ALFAN LANE

PW

1
1

1

2

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2019

Application No:: 18/01404/FUL

Address : 172 Birchwood Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7HA 

Date: 29 January 2019 Scale: Not to Scale



Development Management Section 
Quarterly data – October 2018 to December 2018

The graphs on the following pages set out key performance indicators for the 
section:

Planning applications

 No. of applications received and decided
 % of major applications decided in 13 weeks (or with agreed target dates)
 % of minor and other applications decided in 8 weeks (or with agreed target 

dates)

Appeals

 % of all appeals dismissed

Enforcement

 No of complaints received – Categories 1, 2 and 3
 No of cases closed and on hand
 % cases resolved in 8 weeks



QUARTERLY DATA
17

0

19
4

22
1

17
4

17
5

22
6

22
4 23

6

20
2

23
1

22
1 23

1

19
0

15
4

18
3 19

6

24
5

17
1

18
5

21
5

19
3

16
8

18
2

23
6

22
2

19
4

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18

Figure 1 - Planning Applications Processed

Received

Decided

38

75

100 100 100 100 100 100

50

100 100

55

100

8
12

4
9

4 4
9

6
2 1

4 6 7
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 2 - Major Applications Decided in 13 weeks/EoT (%)
Target - 70%

National Average 88% 

DBC
Performance

DBC Target

Top Quartile

No. Decided



85
82

91 92
88

92

84
88

53

77

67

80

87

27

34

22
24 25 26

21 21

10

20
16

24
27

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 3 - Minor Applications Decided in 8 weeks/EoT (%)
Target - 79%

National Average 85% 

DBC Performance

DBC Target

Top Quart ile

No. Decided

94 93
100 96 95 97 98 93

71

87 91 88 91

119

137

170

212

142
155

177

151

103

135

189

161

142

0

50

100

150

200

250

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 4 - Other Applications Decided in 8 weeks (%)
Target - 89%

National Average 91% 

DBC Performance

DBC Target

Top Quart ile

No.Decided



150
161

235

121
113

178 179

222

256

183

224
231

197

325

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18

Figure 5 - Outstanding Planning Applications and
Total Outstanding Applications

29

57

83

42

78

50

78

91

50

80
85

100

63

7 7 5 5 7 6
9 11

4 5

13

4
8

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 6 - Percentage of Appeals Dismissed
Percentage dismissed

No. of decisions

Jul- 
sept
2016

Oct – 
Dec 
2016

Jan-
Mar 
2017

Apr-
June 
2017

Jul- 
Sept 
2017

Oct-
Dec17

Jan-
Mar
2017

Apr-Jun 
18

Jul-sept 
18

Oct-dec 
18

No. of 
applications for 
costs

0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 0

Successful 
applications

0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0



ENFORCEMENT

89

78

151

105

82

62

75
69

55 58 57
50

42

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 7 Enforcement Complaints Received

Category 1

Category 2

Category 3

Total

70 66

140
153 148

132

111
100

126

91
102

115
101

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 8 Enforcement Cases Outstanding 
Categores 1-3

No. of Outstanding Cases



65

47

63

48 48

39

30

18

26 25

47

25 27

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

S
ep

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

S
ep

-1
7

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

S
ep

-1
8

D
ec

-1
8

Figure 9  % Enforcement cases closed in 8 weeks or less
Categories 1-3

% closed in 8 weeks

Definitions

Category 1 – high priority, any unauthorised development that causes immediate and 
irreparable harm in the locality, e.g., damage to a listed building, felling of protected 
trees.

Category 2 – medium priority, unauthorised development that causes some harm to 
the locality, but not to the extent that Category 1 applies, e.g., complaints relating to 
use of land for the storage of vehicles, erection of a domestic outbuilding, extension of 
a residential curtilage.

Category 3 - low priority, inconsequential breaches of planning control that cause little 
or no harm to the locality or local residents, e.g., the erection of fences or outbuildings 
within lawful domestic curtilages, minor variations from approved plans.



Performance monitoring: Key issues

 The number of applications received between October and December 
2018 dropped but this is a normal trend for this period and although 
numbers dropped several major applications were submitted.  
However the team determined a similar number of applications over 
this period and the backlog of applications is being dealt with. Decision 
periods for minor and other applications are above the Council’s 
targets again. The major applications % in 13 weeks/with an extension 
of time is back to 100%.  

 The number of outstanding applications monitored for government 
statistics and reported here is reducing again to 197 as is the total 
number of applications dealt with, which stood at 325 at the end of the 
quarter. This total number of applications outstanding, includes 
submissions for conditions, TPOs, non-material amendments, and 
consultations by other authorities and bodies. All of which can take a 
significant amount of officer time. This number therefore gives a better 
indication of workload and applications outstanding. The team is 
gradually reducing the backlog of applications.

 There were 8 appeal decisions in the quarter, 63% of which were 
dismissed. 

 The number of new enforcement complaints received continues to fall 
and the number of outstanding cases has been reduced. Many of 
these outstanding cases involve formal action and so cannot be closed 
quickly.  Enforcement officers are also continuing to monitor many of 
the other cases.

 The enforcement cases reported here as being outstanding relate to 
those categorised as 1, 2 and 3. However, some cases cannot be 
closed completely and require on-going monitoring. So as well as the 
101 outstanding Category 1-3 cases there are also currently cases 
which are subject to on-going monitoring. For instance this may apply 
to a use which may be intermittent or where a planning application has 
been submitted, following a decision the case will either be closed 
because there is no longer a breach or they will be re-categorised as 
Categories 2-3 and enforcement action will be progressed. This has 
the consequence of reducing the number of cases closed in 8 weeks 
but ensures that cases are followed up.





DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DELEGATED LIST
OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Excluding Ebbsfleet UDC Applications

Date Report Compiled: 30-Jan-2019
Period for Report:  04/01/2019 to 30/01/2019

Plan Ref 18/01419/TPO Date Issued 07/01/2019
Location 15 & 17 Sedley Southfleet Kent DA13 9PE 
Proposal Application to reduce height by 2m and reduce width of branches to give clearance of 2m from No. 15 

& 3m towards No. 17 Sedley and remove deadwood of 1 No. Oak tree subject to tree Preservation 
Orders No.1 1964 and No.5 1977

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Split decision – Excessive and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01566/TRCON Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 3 Church Field Wilmington Kent DA2 7EJ 
Proposal Notification of reduction in height and lateral spread by 3 metres of 1 No. Ash tree within Church Hill 

Conservation Area

Ward Wilmington
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00002/OBB Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location Land South Of Coldharbour Road Northfleet Gravesend Kent  
Proposal Consultation on erection of a Food store (Use Class A1 - Retail) and business units providing 

employment floor space (to be used flexibly within Use Classes B1(c), B2 and B8 - light industrial, 
general industrial and storage and distribution including the provision for ancillary retail sales to facilitate 
specialist, trade counter operations); creation of new infrastructure including a pedestrian footway / 
cycleway and 'toucan' crossing on Coldharbour Road, access, car parking and servicing; hard and soft 
landscaping and associated retaining structures and ground works within Gravesham Borough Council

Ward Outside Borough Boundary
Decision No Objection
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01609/TRCON Date Issued 22/01/2019
Location Outside Sycamore And Oakdene Church Hill Wilmington DA2 7EH
Proposal Notification to reduce canopy by cutting back to boundaries of Sycamore and Oakdene (as indicated by 

hatched area on drawing) of T1 - London Plane Tree, T2 - Evergreen Oak tree and T3 - Chestnut tree 
within Church Hill Conservation Area

Ward Wilmington
Decision Objection; Harmful to the health of the trees; detrimental impact on the visual amenities
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 1 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01657/CPO Date Issued 17/01/2019
Location Longreach Sewage Treatment Works Marsh Street Dartford Kent DA1 5PP 
Proposal Consultation on an application for provision of a welfare building
Ward Joyce Green
Decision No Objection
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 19/00033/LDC Date Issued 29/01/2019
Location 79 Bowmans Road Dartford Kent DA1 3QP 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a two storey side extension
Ward Heath
Decision Permission Required; Exceeds 4m in height; two storey side extension; no details regarding first floor 

side elevation window
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01469/LDC Date Issued 15/01/2019
Location 25 Chave Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7ED 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a detached building 

comprising garage/garden store/gym

Ward Wilmington
Decision Permission Required; Requires planning permission
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01508/LDC Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location 37 Leyton Cross Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7AW 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a single storey rear extension 

and front porch

Ward Wilmington
Decision Permission Required; Height of porch exceeds 3m
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01529/TPO Date Issued 18/01/2019
Location 28 Pincroft Wood Longfield Kent DA3 7HB 
Proposal Application to crown thin by 33%, remove all dead wood, raise canopy and remove all branches below 6

 metres of various Hornbeam, Ash, Field Maple and Cherry (T1-T8), remove upper canopy reducing the
 overall height of the tree in keeping with the height of trees in the neighbouring garden and remove all 
dead wood in lower canopy of 1 No. Cherry tree (T9), remove all deadwood, crown thin by 33% 1 No. 
Oak tree (T10), fell tree to leave a stump of 1 metre 1 No. Oak tree (T11), crown thin by 20%, remove 
branches overhanging parking area, crown lift to 4m, remove all dead wood of 1 No. Hornbeam tree 
(T12), crown thin by 20%, remove completely the lowest 2 branches, remove all dead wood of 1 No. 
Oak tree (T13) subject to Tree Preservation Orders No.2 1957 and No.12 1982

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01515/TPO Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 36 Maryfield Close Bexley Kent DA5 2HY 
Proposal Application to fell twin stem Ash tree (T1) subject to Tree Preservation Order No.12 1990
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 2 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01504/TPO Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 3 Sackville Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7EB 
Proposal Application to reduce crown all over, removing up to 2m in height and total spread of 1 No. Silver Birch 

tee (T1) subject to Tree Preservation Order No.7 1990

Ward Wilmington
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01510/TPO Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 16A Swaisland Road Dartford Kent DA1 3DA 
Proposal Application to fell 1 No. Horse Chestnut tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.3 1994
Ward West Hill
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01577/TPO Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location Greenacres Bow Arrow Lane Stone Kent  
Proposal Application to fell and grind stump of 1 No. Triple stem Cherry tree (T2) subject to Tree Preservation 

Order No.1 1998

Ward Newtown
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01507/TPO Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location 28 Studley Crescent Longfield Kent DA3 7JL 
Proposal Application to remove deadwood and crown thin by 25% 1 No. Hornbeam tree and to remove 

deadwood and crown thin by 10% 1 No. Ash Tree (Three stem) subject to Tree Preservation Order 6 
1977

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00476/RCON Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Old Mill Equestrian Centre Clement Street Swanley Kent BR8 7PQ 
Proposal Application for removal of condition 7 of DA/90/00471 and condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/02/00543/FUL to enable the house to be occupied independently from use of the equestrian centre

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Removal of Condition - Approval
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01478/RCON Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location No Frills Brewery 50 Wakefield Road (Rear Of 20 To 20A Knockhall Road) Greenhithe Kent
Proposal Application for removal of condition 1 (allowing temporary permission for 1 year) of planning 

permission DA/17/01402/COU (change of use to a micro brewery) to allow the permission to be 
permanent

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Removal of Condition - Approval
Officer Richard Elder

Page 3 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01188/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location 28 Childs Crescent Swanscombe Kent DA10 0EA 
Proposal Provision of a pitched roof over existing flat roof of detached garage
Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01399/FUL Date Issued 07/01/2019
Location 36 Roseberry Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 2NX 
Proposal Demolition of existing concrete shed and erection of a two storey side extension and part two/ part 

single storey rear extension

Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01481/FUL Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location 22 Perkins Close Stone Kent DA9 9QF 
Proposal Erection of single storey rear extension with a replacement pitched roof over existing rear single storey 

projection and conversion of integral garage into habitable rooms with associated alterations to front 
elevation

Ward Castle
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01587/FUL Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location 43 Castle Street Swanscombe Kent DA10 0HN 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01521/FUL Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 8 The Oaks Stone Kent DA2 6PF 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00930/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location 42 Broomhill Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HT 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension with raised deck area and glass balustrades to sides and steps 

including demolition of existing garage

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 4 of 16



Plan Ref 18/00894/FUL Date Issued 22/01/2019
Location The Nursery Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 8DP 
Proposal Erection of a 1.9m-2m high front boundary wall (western section between points A and B on the 

submitted plans) (retrospective application)

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Refused - Inappropriate development in the Green Belt, harmful visual impact
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01482/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location 47 Vale Road Dartford Kent DA1 2TU 
Proposal Erection of a rear conservatory incorporating demolition of existing rear conservatory
Ward Heath
Decision Application Refused - Excessive depth on boundary
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01175/FUL Date Issued 22/01/2019
Location 25 Denver Road Dartford Kent DA1 3LA 
Proposal Erection of a single rear extension and erection of a 3rd storey over existing two storey flat roof
Ward Heath
Decision Application Refused - Contrary to policies DP2, DP5 and DP7 of the Dartford Development Policies 

Plan
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01477/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location 15 Fawkham Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HS 
Proposal Demolition of existing bungalow, outbuilding/shed and garage and erection of a 6 bedroom house, with 

basement and loft conversion and integral garage plus parking and amenity space provision

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Refused - Intrusive and incongruous impact on character and appearance of the area; 

unacceptable loss of a valuable protected tree; and detrimental impact on amenities of adjoining occupiers

Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01457/FUL Date Issued 11/01/2019
Location 63 Red Lodge Road Bexley Kent DA5 2JP 
Proposal Alterations to roof from hip end to gable end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation and 

roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space and erection
 of a single storey rear extension

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01035/FUL Date Issued 18/01/2019
Location Land Adjacent 116 Priory Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Erection of a building to provide 6 self-contained flats with undercroft parking, refuse/cycle store & 

lobby/stairwell areas on the ground floor with 3 floors of residential accommodation above plus 
associated car parking areas and landscaping

Ward Town
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Steven Bell

Page 5 of 16



Plan Ref 18/00969/COU Date Issued 17/01/2019
Location Land At Drudgeon Farm School Lane Bean Kent DA2 8AP 
Proposal Change of use of land to form 12 permanent plots for travelling show people with associated access and

 landscaping.

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01570/LDC Date Issued 16/01/2019
Location Knoll Hill House 1 Common Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7DE 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed change of Use from Use Class C3 (a) 

(single household) to Use Class C3(b) (not more than six residents living together as a single household 
where care is provided for the residents) and the replacement of existing garage door and roof with a 
new window and roof for conversion to habitable room with associated alterations to elevations

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01506/ADV Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location The Orange Tree 6 Hawley Road Dartford Kent DA1 1NR 
Proposal Display of 1 No externally illuminated swing-sign and re-position of post
Ward Princes
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01317/LDC Date Issued 22/01/2019
Location Barn A North End Farm Park Corner Road Southfleet Kent DA13 9LJ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for existing use of the building for storage and 

distribution

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Certificate Granted
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01561/LBC Date Issued 23/01/2019
Location Dartford Grammar School For Boys West Hill Dartford Kent DA1 2HW 
Proposal Application for Listed Building Consent for replacement windows & roof lights to male & female toilets 

in Hardy building

Ward West Hill
Decision Consent for LB
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 19/00056/NONMAT Date Issued 18/01/2019
Location 42 Broomhill Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HT 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/00930/FUL in 

respect of reducing size of bi-fold doors and addition of a window on rear elevation

Ward Heath
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 6 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01671/NONMAT Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 7 Pilgrims Way Dartford Kent DA1 1QZ 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/01411/FUL in 

respect of reduction in depth of rear extension

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00036/CDNA Date Issued 16/01/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to land safeguarded for Crossrail use pursuant to condition 4 of planning 

permission DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection 
of a multi-use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as 
outdoor camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and 
youth related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON 
to allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01319/CDNA Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location First Floor 48-56 Lowfield Street Dartford Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to internal noise levels (condition 3), mitigation for air quality (condition 4)

 and parking spaces (condition 5) pursuant to planning permission DA/17/01251/COU for change of use 
of first floor of premises to provide 11 bed sitting rooms as a House of Multiple Occupation with 
communal kitchen, dining facilities and garden and associated alterations

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/00804/CDNA Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location Former 119 Main Road Sutton At Hone Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to internal noise levels (condition 6), external materials (condition 7), tree 

protection measures (condition 8), landscaping scheme (condition 9) and Category M4(2) or Category 
M4(3) of building regulations of planning permission DA/17/01287/FUL for demolition of existing 
bungalow and erection of 4 No. two storey semi-detached 3 bed dwellings with rooms in the roof and 
rear dormer additions. Associated Parking

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00805/CDNA Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location Former 119 Main Road Sutton At Hone Kent  
Proposal `Submission of details relating to refuse stores (condition 12), internal water usage (condition 15), 

boundary enclosures (condition 16), visibility splays (condition 17) and vehicle charging points 
(condition 26) of planning permission DA/17/01287/FUL for demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of 4 No. two storey semi-detached 3 bed dwellings with rooms in the roof and rear dormer 
additions. Associated Parking

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 7 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01410/CDNA Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location Hazelwood  Rowhill Road Wilmington DA2 7QQ
Proposal Submission of details relating to contaminated land pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/15/01324/FUL for demolition of Hazelwood and ancillary building within the boundary of the 
property and the erection of a detached 5 bedroom house

Ward Wilmington
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/00986/CDNA Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Dartford Primary Academy (Juniors) York Road Dartford Kent DA1 1SQ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological programme pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/17/00610/FUL for redevelopment involving internal alterations, the addition of roof 
vents/cowls, the demolition of the existing Star Centre and central block, and the erection of a part 
one/part two storey high extension for SEN facilities, new main hall/dining hall and new car park. 
Provision of onsite temporary accommodation to accommodate pupils during construction period

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01666/CDNA Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 12 of planning permission 

DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection of a multi-
use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as outdoor 
camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and youth 
related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON to 
allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01667/CDNA Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location Land Adj The Lodges (now Gantry Place) Cotton Lane Stone Kent
Proposal Submission of details relating to tracked path pursuant to condition 17 of planning permission 

DA/16/01553/VCON for erection of 16 No. 4 bedroom houses in four terraces and erection of a multi-
use community building with access roads and ancillary works and use of land to the west as outdoor 
camping ground and recreational space for Scout Groups, Duke of Edinburgh activities and youth 
related activities (incorporating variation of condition 2 of application reference 15/01688/VCON to 
allow the addition of an electricity substation and revised parking layout for the multi-use hall).

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01591/CDNA Date Issued 17/01/2019
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to noise assessment pursuant to condition 6 of planning permission 

DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial)
and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including ancillary offices 
and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Page 8 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01604/CDNA Date Issued 21/01/2019
Location Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection measures pursuant to condition 6 of planning permission

 DA/17/00798/FUL for erection of a detached 4 bedroom dwelling and detached double car port and 
parking spaces for new and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01605/CDNA Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location Eusemere Princes View Dartford Kent DA1 1RJ 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 7 of planning permission 

DA/17/00798/FUL for erection of a detached 4 bedroom dwelling and detached double car port and 
parking spaces for new and existing property

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01542/CDNA Date Issued 22/01/2019
Location 26 The Laurels Longfield Kent DA3 7HH 
Proposal Submission of details relating to replacement tree pursuant to condition 3 of application reference 

DA/18/01070/TPO to remove 1 No. Ash tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.3 1966

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01610/P3O Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location 1st, 2nd & 3rd Floors Banks Place Market Place Dartford Kent  
Proposal Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class O of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for change of use of building from 
office (Class B1A) to residential (Class C3) to provide 12 No. self-contained flats

Ward Town
Decision Prior Approval Required and Refused; Development would not consist of a change of use falling within 

Class B1(a) (offices)
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01458/EDCCON Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Site 3 Manor Way Business Park Land Between Galley Hill Road And Manor Way Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for operation of an aggregate recycling facility to accept 75,000 tpa of 

construction and demolition waste within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Swanscombe
Decision EDC - Raises Concerns; Not a use which creates a vibrant mixed use development
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01670/PDE Date Issued 24/01/2019
Location 22 Bedford Road Dartford Kent DA1 1SR 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Brent
Decision Prior Approval Required and Refused; Side extension exceeding half the width of the original property
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 9 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01592/TPO Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location 4 Chalet Close Bexley Kent DA5 2EY 
Proposal Application to fell tree in sections, to near ground level 1 No. Sweet Chestnut on rear property boundary

subject to Tree Preservation Order No.5 1960

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Refusal TPO; Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01471/TPO Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location Adjacent 29 Hardy Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 2FE 
Proposal Application to reduce by a third to half plus pollard back to main stem 1 No. Poplar tree subject to Tree 

Preservation Order No.2 2008

Ward West Hill
Decision Refusal TPO; Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01505/TPO Date Issued 11/01/2019
Location 2 The Green Darenth Kent DA2 6JR 
Proposal Application to remove to ground level 1 No. Horse Chestnut tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 

No.1 1995

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Refusal TPO; Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01511/TPO Date Issued 15/01/2019
Location 14 Garrow Longfield Kent DA3 7JN 
Proposal Application to reduce canopy by 4m and remove deadwood and generally tidy 4 No. Oak/Ash trees in 

front garden subject to Tree Preservation Orders No.1 1988 and No.2 1963

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Refusal TPO; Excessive, unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01617/LDC Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location 22 Bedford Road Dartford Kent DA1 1SR 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed dormer window with Juliette balcony in 

rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation

Ward Brent
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01273/LDC Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location Tudor Lodge  New Barn Road Southfleet DA3 7LT
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of two buildings to the rear of 

the existing house comprising 1. A new pool building containing a swimming pool and gym for use by 
the family, 2. A summer house for storing garden equipment and for use by the family

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 10 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01468/LDC Date Issued 22/01/2019
Location 55 Eden Road Bexley Kent DA5 2EQ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01583/LDC Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 70 Hallford Way Dartford Kent DA1 3AE 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of a dormer window in rear 

elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space together with alterations to flue

Ward West Hill
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01518/LDC Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location 46 Gore Road Darenth Kent DA2 6LT 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a single storey rear extension 

and alterations to roof from hip end to gable end for provision of a dormer window in rear elevation and 
roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Brent
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01608/LDC Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 7 The Oaks Stone Kent DA2 6PF 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed roof lights in front and rear elevation in 

connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Newtown
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01531/LDC Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 73 Henderson Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5LF 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of a dormer window in rear 

elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01534/LDC Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 4 Mannock Road Dartford Kent DA1 5QT 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed provision of a dormer window in rear 

elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 11 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01438/FUL Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Old Mill Equestrian Centre Clement Street Swanley Kent BR8 7PQ 
Proposal Change of use of land to residential garden land to be used in connection with an existing dwelling and 

the use of existing outbuildings for purposes ancillary to the use of the dwelling (part retrospective)

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01538/FUL Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location 2 Durrell Dene Dartford Kent DA1 5RU 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01355/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location 6 Paper Mill Lane Dartford Kent DA1 5BF 
Proposal Provision of a dormer window in rear elevation, roof lights in front elevation and 2nd floor obscure 

glazed window in flank elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space and 
erection of a single storey side extension and single storey rear extension

Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01433/FUL Date Issued 17/01/2019
Location 2 Hazel Road Dartford Kent DA1 2SE 
Proposal Erection of part two/part single storey side/rear extension
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01620/COU Date Issued 21/01/2019
Location Unit SVU04 Plaza - Upper Bluewater Greenhithe Kent DA9 9SG 
Proposal Change of use of ancillary corridor area to A3 restaurant use and amalgamation with Unit SVU04
Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01550/FUL Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location 11 Ross Road Dartford Kent DA1 3NH 
Proposal Demolition of existing conservatory for erection of a single storey rear extension (part retrospective)
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 12 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01197/FUL Date Issued 28/01/2019
Location 15 Pentstemon Drive Swanscombe Kent DA10 0ND 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension and single storey rear extension incorporating demolition of 

existing garage

Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01005/FUL Date Issued 24/01/2019
Location The Cottage Hawley Road Hawley Kent DA2 7RW 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side and rear extension, single storey rear extension and provision of a vehicle 

access onto A225

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01470/COU Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Stone Chapel Birch Place Horns Cross Greenhithe Kent DA9 9DP 
Proposal Change of use from Class B1 (offices) to Class D2 (dance studio)
Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01475/FUL Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location Stone Church Of England Primary School Hayes Road Horns Cross Greenhithe Kent DA9 9EF 
Proposal Erection of a single storey front extension to entrance, extension of ramp and associated alterations
Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01624/FUL Date Issued 23/01/2019
Location Land West Of  Central Road North Dartford
Proposal Creation of a bund off Central Road North to prevent illegal occupation of grass verge
Ward Joyce Green
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steve Fraser-Lim

Plan Ref 18/01369/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location 53 Teesdale Road Dartford Kent DA2 6LB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension alterations to roof from hip end to gable end for provision of a 

dormer window in rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional
rooms in the roof space and erection of a front porch

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 13 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01524/FUL Date Issued 18/01/2019
Location 10 Marlborough Road Dartford Kent DA1 3EL 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01525/FUL Date Issued 24/01/2019
Location 8 Bean Hill Cottages Southfleet Road Bean Kent DA2 8AR 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension and demolition of existing detached garage
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01578/FUL Date Issued 18/01/2019
Location 9 Turnstone Longfield Kent DA3 7NR 
Proposal Erection of a single storey front extension
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01530/FUL Date Issued 21/01/2019
Location 8 Dale Walk Dartford Kent DA2 6JA 
Proposal Part demolition of existing rear extension and erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01173/FUL Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location 74 Summerhouse Drive Bexley Kent DA5 2EE
Proposal Excavation beneath property to create basement to provide additional rooms with light wells to front and

rear elevations

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00477/FUL Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location Old Mill Equestrian Centre  Clement Street Swanley BR8 7PQ
Proposal Change of use and conversion of detached stable building to form a self-contained residential 3 bedroom

dwelling, with associated alterations to elevations, parking and amenity space; construction of access 
ramp, including demolition of smaller stable; construction of boundary fences to enclose garden area

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 14 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01398/FUL Date Issued 11/01/2019
Location 49 Pentstemon Drive Swanscombe Kent DA10 0NL 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension with balcony over and ground floor flank window
Ward Swanscombe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01567/FUL Date Issued 10/01/2019
Location 12 Carsington Gardens Wilmington Kent DA1 2SS 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01260/FUL Date Issued 28/01/2019
Location 2 Woodview Cottages Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 8DR 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 19/00040/CDNA Date Issued 23/01/2019
Location Phase 1 Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to Phase 1 for external materials (conditions 21) and details of windows 

and doors (condition 22) pursuant to planning permission DA/16/01919/FUL for development 
comprising (a) detailed permission for the demolition of existing buildings, refurbishment of No. 26 
Lowfield Street and the construction of  188 dwellings, retail units, office, cafe?/micro-brewery, detailed
landscape strategy, car parking, new internal access roads, sustainable urban drainage  systems; and 
associated infrastructure and earthworks (b) outline permission, with all matters reserved except access,
for the demolition of existing  buildings and the erection of up to 360 dwellings, flexibility for the 
following Use Classes:- A1 (retail), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes) 
and D1 (non-residential institutions) fronting Lowfield Street, new internal access roads, car parking, 
sustainable urban drainage systems; and associated landscaping, infrastructure and earthworks.

Ward Town
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01430/FUL Date Issued 09/01/2019
Location Colt Lodge  9 New Barn Road Southfleet DA3 7LQ
Proposal Demolition of existing bungalow and erection of a detached 5 bedroom house and detached car barn 

(revisions to previous approved planning permission DA/17/01805/FUL in respect of revised location of 
dwelling and increase in residential curtilage).

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Page 15 of 16



Plan Ref 18/01568/FUL Date Issued 25/01/2019
Location 185 Summerhouse Drive Bexley Kent DA2 7PH 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01462/FUL Date Issued 23/01/2019
Location 5 Littledale Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 7HU 
Proposal Erection of a first floor rear extension
Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01509/FUL Date Issued 14/01/2019
Location 25 Darenth Park Avenue Darenth Kent DA2 6JN 
Proposal Alterations to existing conservatory to convert to rear extension including new flat roof with lanterns 

and part retention of existing structure

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 17/00044/FUL Date Issued 08/01/2019
Location Essential Convenience Store 56 Spital Street Dartford Kent DA1 2DT 
Proposal Provision of an ATM (retrospective application)
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Page 16 of 16


	Agenda
	 Update
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2019
	6 18/01176/FUL <br/> North Kent College, Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent.
	7 18/01351/FUL <br/> North Kent College, Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent.
	8 18/01584/FUL<br/> UCC Coffee, Riverside Way, Dartford.  DA1 5BS
	9 18/01367/OUT <br/> Prospect Place, Shellbank Lane, Bean.  DA2 8AX
	10 18/01288/FUL <br/> Mill House, Priory Road , Dartford, Kent.
	11 18/00927/FUL <br/> The Willows, 1B Faesten Way, Bexley, Kent.  DA5 2JB
	12 18/01548/COU  <br/> Holy Trinity Church, High Street Dartford, Kent.  DA1 1DE
	13 18/01549/LBC  <br/> Holy Trinity Church, High Street Dartford, Kent.  DA1 1DE
	14 18/01404/FUL <br/> 172 Birchwood Road, Wilmington, Kent.
	15 Development Control Quarterly Performance
	16 Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers

